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McDonald’s Corporation
(Incorporated in the State of Delaware, United States of America)
as Issuer
U.S.$20,000,000,000
PROGRAM FOR THE ISSUANCE OF GLOBAL MEDIUM-TERMNOTES

Application has been made by McDonald’s Corporation (the “Issuer”) to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (the “Luxembourg Stock Exchange”)
in its capacity as market operator of the Euro MTF Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (the “Euro MTF Market”) under Part IV of the Luxembourg
Act dated July 16, 2019 on prospectuses for securities (the “Luxembourg Act”), to have debt securities (the “Notes”) issued under the Program for the
Issuance of Global Medium-Term Notes (the “Program”) described in this Offering Circular admitted to trading on the Euro MTF Market and listed on the
official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (the “Official List”) for a period of 12 months from the date of this Offering Circular. This Offering Circular
may be used only for the purposes for which it has been published.

The Euro MTF Market is not aregulated market pursuant to the provisions of Directive 2014/65/EU, as amended (“MiFID II”) but is subject to the
supervision ofthe financial sector and exchange regulator, the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier.

Notice of the aggregate nominal amount of Notes, interest (if any) payable in respect of Notes, the issue price of Notes and certain other information,
including any other terms and conditions not contained herein, which is applicable to each Tranche (as defined under “Terms and Conditions of the Notes”) of
Notes will be set forth in a pricing supplement (the “Pricing Supplement”) which, with respect to Notes to be admitted to trading on the Euro MTF Market,
will be delivered to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange on or before the date of issue of the Notes of such Tranche and published in accordance with the rules and
regulations of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, as amended from time to time.

This Offering Circular and any supplement thereto will be available on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu).
References in this Offering Circular to Notes being “listed” (and all related references) shall mean that such Notes are intended to be admitted to listing on the
Official List and admitted to trading on the Euro MTF Market. Notes issued under the Program may be listed on such other or further stock exchange(s) as may
be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s). In addition, unlisted Notes may be issued pursuant to the Program. The relevant Pricing Supplement in
respect of theissue of any Notes will specify whether Notes will be listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and/or on any other stock exchange.

Notes issued from time to time under the Program have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securities Act”). Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States of America (the “United States” or the “U.S.”) or to, or for the account
or benefit of, U.S. persons (as such terms are defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act), unless the Notes are registered under the Securities Act or an
exemption therefrom is available. The Issuer is authorized to issue up to U.S.$20,000,000,000 (or such other amount as may be subsequently authorized, from
time to time), or the equivalent thereof in foreign currencies, under the Program.

An investment in Notes issued under the Program involves certain risks. For a discussion ofthese risks, see the “Risk Factors” section contained in
this Offering Circular.

Arranger for the Program
MORGAN STANLEY
Dealers

ANZ BARCLAYS
BMO CAPITAL MARKETS BNP PARIBAS
BorA SECURITIES CITIGROUP
COMMERZBANK CREDIT AGRICOLE CIB
CREDIT SUISSE GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL
HSBC ING
J.P.MORGAN MIZUHOSECURITIES
MORGAN STANLEY MUFG
RABOBANK RBC CAPITAL MARKETS
SMBC NIKKO SOCIETE GENERALE

CORPORATE & INVESTMENT BANKING
STANDARD CHARTERED BANK TD SECURITIES
UNICREDIT WELLS FARGO SECURITIES

WESTPAC BANKING CORPORATION

9 September, 2021

ACTIVE 271092691 v.11


http://www.oblible.com

http://www.oblible.com

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Offering Circular and in any Pricing
Supplement. To the best of the knowledge and belief of the Issuer (having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the
case), the information contained in this Offering Circular is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to
affect the importof such information.

The Issuermay agree with any Dealer that Notes may be issued in a form not contemplated by the Fomm of Pricing
Supplement contained herein, in which event, a supplement to this Offering Circular, further offering circular or other
documentation, if appropriate, will be made available that will describe the effect of the agreement reached in relation to such
Notes.

This Offering Circular should be read and construed with any supplement hereto and with any other documents
incorporated by reference and, in relation to any Series (as defined herein) of Notes, should be read and construed together
with the relevantPricing Supplement.

No person has been authorized by the Issuer to give any information or to make any representation that is not
contained i, or is otherwise inconsistent with, this Offering Circular or any other document entered into in relation to the
Program orany infommation supplied by the Issuer or such other information as is in the public doman and, if given ormade,
such information or representation should notbe relied uponashavingbeen authorized by the Issuer orany Dealer. Neither the
Issuernorany Dealertakes any responsibility for any other information thatmay be provided by any other person.

Neither this Offering Circular nor any related supplement is a prospectus for the purposes of Reguhation (EU)
2017/1129 (the “Prospectus Regulation”). This Offering Circular and any related supplement have been prepared on the basis
that any offer of Notes in any Member State of the Furopean Economic Area (the “EEA”) will only be made to a legalentity
which isa qualified investor under the Prospectus Regulation (‘EEA Qualified Investors”). Accordingly any person making or
intending to make an offer in that Member State of Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated in this Offering
Circular, as completed by the Pricing Supplment in relation to the offer of those Notes, may only do so with respect to EEA
Qualified Investors. Neither the Issuer nor the Dealers have authorized, nor do they authorize, the making of any offer of Notes
other than to EEA Qualified Investors. This Offering Circular constitutes a prospectus for the purposes of Part IV of the
Luxembourg Act.

PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS — The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or
otherwisemade available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the EEA. For
these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (ormore) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article
4(1)of MiFIDII; (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97, as amended (the “Insurance Distribution
Directive”), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID
II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Regulation. Consequently no key information document
required by Regulation (EU) No. 1286/2014, as amended (the “PRIIPs Regulation”) for offering or selling the Notes or
otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes
or otherwise making them available to anyretail investorin the EEA may be unlawfulunderthe PRITPs Regulation.

MIFID II PRODUCT GOVERNANCE / TARGET MARKET - The Pricing Supplement in respect of any
Notes may include a legend entitled “MiFID II Product Governance” which will outline the target market assessment made
by the relevant manufacturer(s) in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any
person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (an “EU distributor”) should take into consideration the
target marketassessment; however,an EU distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market
assessment in respect of the Notes (by eitheradoptingor refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate
distribution channels. A determmation will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the MiFID
Product Governance rulesunder EU Delegated Directive 2017/593,asamended (the “MiFID Product Governance Rules”),
any Dealer subscribing forany Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise neither the Arranger nor the
Dealers norany of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the MiFID Product Govemance Rules.
The Issuer makes no representation or warranty as to any manufacturer’s or EU distributor’s compliance with the MiFID
Product Governance Rules.

Neither this Offering Circular nor any related supplement is a prospectus for the purposes of Regulation (EU)
2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law in the United Kingdom by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018,
as amended by the Furopean Union (Withdrawal Agreement) Act 2020 (the “EUWA”) (the “UK Prospectus Regulation”).
This Offering Circular and any related supplement have been prepared on the basis that any offer of Notes in the United
Kingdom will only be made to a legal entity which is a qualified investor under the UK Prospectus Regulation (“UK
Qualified Investors™). Accordingly any person making or intending to makean offer in the United Kingdom of Notes which
are the subject of the offering contemphated in this Offering Circular, as completed by the Pricing Supplement in relation to
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the offer of those Notes, may only do so with respect to UK Qualified Investors. Neither the Issuer nor the Dealers have
authorized, nordothey authorize, themaking of any offer of Notes other than to UK Qualified Investors.

PROHIBITION OF SALES TO UNITED KINGDOM RETAIL INVESTORS — The Notes are not intended to
be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail
investor in the United Kingdom. For these purposes, a retail investormeansa person who is one (ormore) of: (i) a retail client
as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms patt of domestic law in the United Kingdom
by virtue of the EUWA; (ii) a customer within themeaning of the provisions of the United Kingdom’s Financial Services and
Markets Act2000,asamended (the “FSMA”)and any rules orregulations made under the FSM A to implement the Insurance
Distribution Directive, where that customer would not qualify asa professionalclientas defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of
Reguhtion (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms pa1t of domestic hw in the United Kingdom by virtue of the EUWA,; or (iii) nota
qualified investor as defined in the UK Prospectus Reguhtion. Consequently no key information document required by
Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 as it forms patt of domestic law in the United Kingdom by virtue of the EUWA (the “UK
PRIIPs Regulation”) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the United
Kingdom has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail
investor in the United Kingdom may be unlawfulunder the UK PRIIPs Regulation.

UK MIFIR PRODUCT GOVERNANCE / TARGET MARKET - The Pricing Supplement in respect of any
Notes may include a legend entitled “UK MiFIR Product Govemance” which will outline the target marketassessment made
by the relevant manufacturer(s) in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any
person subsequently offering, selling or rrcommending the Notes (a “UK distributor”) should take into consideration the
target market assessment; however, a UK distributor subject to the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product
Govemance Sourcebook (the “UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules”) is responsible for undertaking its own target
market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining
appropriate distribution channels. A determation will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the
UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules, any Dealer subscribing forany Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but
otherwise neither the Arrangernor the Dealers norany of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of
the UK MiFIR Product Govemance Rules. The Issuer makes no representation or warranty as to any manufacturer’s or UK
distributor’s compliance with the UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules.

The communication of this Offering Circular, any related supplement and any other document or materials relating
to the issue of the Notes offered hereby is not beingmade, and such documents and/or materials have not been approved, by
an authorized person for the purposes of section 21 of the FSMA. Accordingly, such documents and/or materials are not
being distributed to, and must not be passed on to, the general public in the United Kingdom. The communication of such
documents and/or materials as a financial promotion is only beingmade to those persons in the United Kingdom who have
professional experience in matters relating to investments and who fall within the definition of investment professionals (as
defined in Article 19(5) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005, as amended (the
“Financial Promotion Order’)), or who fall within Article 49(2)(@)to (d) of the Financial Promotion Order, or who are any
other persons to whom it may otherwise lawfully be made under the Financial Promotion Order (all such persons together
being referred to as “relevant persons”). In the United Kingdom, the Notes offered hereby are only available to, and any
investment or investment activity to which this Offering Circularand any relted supplement relate will be engaged in only
with, relevant persons. Any person in the United Kingdom that is not a relevant person should not act or rely on this Offering
Circularorany related supplement or any of their contents.

The distribution of this Offering Circular and any relevant Pricing Supplement,and the offering, sale and delivery of
the Notes in certain jurisdictions, including in the United States and the United Kingdom, may be restricted by law. Persons
into whose possession this Offering Circular or any relevant Pricing Supplement come are required by the Issuer and the
Dealers to inform themselves about and to observe any such restrictions. For a description of certain restrictions on offers,
sales and deliveries of Notes and on the distribution of this Offering Circular orany relevant Pricing Supplement and other
offering material relating to the Notes, see the section “Subscription and Sale” of this Offering Circular. In patticular, the
Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act. The Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered
within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as such terms are defined in Regulation S under
the Securities Act), unless the Notes are registered under the Securities Act oran exemption therefrom is available. Neither
this Offering Circular nor any Pricing Supplement may be used for the purpose of an offer or solicitation by anyone
in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is not authorized or to any person to whom it is unlawful to
make such an offer or solicitation.
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Series of Notes may be rated or unrated. Where a Series is rated, such rating will not necessarily be the same as the
rating(s) assigned to the Issuer. The rating of certain Series may be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement. The relevant
Pricing Supplement will also include certain information regardingany such rating for the purposes of Regulation (EC) No.
1060/2009 (as amended, the “CRA Regulation”) and Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 as it forms patt of domestic law in the
United Kingdom by virtueof the EUWA andas amended (the “UK CRA Regulation™).

NOTIFICATION UNDER SECTION 309B(1)(C) OF THE SFA — With respect to each issuance of Notes, the
Issuer may make a determination about the chssification of such Notes for the purposes of Section 309B(1)(@) of the
Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore,as modified or amended from time to time (the “SFA”). The Pricing
Supplement in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled “Notification under Section 309B(1)(c) of the Securities
and Futures Act (Chapter 289) of Singapore” that will state the product chssification of the applicable Notes pursuant to
Section 309B(1) of the SFA; however, unless otherwise stated in the applicable Pricing Supplement and for the purposes of
Section 309B(1)(c) of the SFA, the Issuernotifiesall relevant persons (as defined in Section 309 A of the SFA), that the Notes
are “prescribed capital markets products” (as defined in the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations
2018) and “Excluded Investment Products” (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sal of Investment
Productsand MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).

Neither this Offering Circular nor any Pricing Supplement constitutes an offer or an invitation to subscribe for or
purchase any Notes and should not be considered asa recommendation by the Issuer orany Dealer that any recipient of this
Offering Circular or any Pricing Supplement should subscribe for or purchase any Notes. Each recipient of this Offering
Circular or any Pricing Supplement shall be deemed to have made its own investigation and appraisal of the condition
(financial or otherwise) of the Issuer.

The Dealers have not separately verified the information contaned i this Offering Circular. No representation or
warranty is made or implied by the Dealers or any of their respective affiliates, and neither the Dealers nor any of their
respective affiliates make any representation or warranty, or accept any responsibility, as to the accuracy or completeness of
the information relating to the Issuer contained in this Offering Circular.

Neither the delivery of this Offering Circular or any Pricing Supplement nor the offering, sale or delivery of any
Note shall, in any circumstances, create any implication that the information contained in this Offering Circular is true
subsequent to the date thereof or the date upon which this Offering Circular has been most recently amended or supplemented
or that there has been no material adverse change in the financial situation of the Issuer since the date thereof or, as the case
may be, the date upon which this Offering Circular has been most recently amended or supplemented or the balance sheet
date of the most recent financial statements which are deemed to be incorporated in this Offering Circular by reference, or
thatany other information supplied in connection with the Program is correct at any time subsequent to the date on which it is
supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing the same.

All references i this Offering Circular to “U.S. dollars,” “U.S$” or “$” are to the lawful currency of the United
States; allreferences to “pounds sterling” or “€”are to the lawful currency of the United Kingdom; allreferences to “A$”are
to the lawful currency of the Commonwealth of Australia; and all references to “euro” and “€” are to the currency introduced
at the start of the third stage of European economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of the
European Union, as amended.

In connection with the issue of any Tranche of Notes, the Dealer or Dealers (if any) named as the Stabilizing
Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilizing Manager(s)) in the relevant Pricing Supplement may
over-allot Notes or effect transactions (outside Australia and on a market operated outside Australia) with a view to
supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However,
stabilization may not necessarily occur. Any stabilization action may begin on or after the date on which adequate
public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the relevant Tranche is made and, if begun, may cease at any time, but it
must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche and 60 days after the date of
the allotment of the relevant Tranche. Any stabilization action or over-allotment must be conducted by the relevant
Stabilizing Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilizing Manager(s)) in accordance with all applicable
laws and rules.

An investor intending to acquire oracquiringany Notes from anofferor will do so, and offers and sales of the Notes
toan investor by an offeror will be made, in accordance with any tetmsand otherarrangements in place between such offeror
and such investor includingas to price, allocations and settlement arrangements. The Issuer will not be a patty to any such
arrangements with investors (other than the Arrangerand the Dealers) in connection with the offer or sale of the Notes and,
accordingly, this Offering Circularand any Pricing Supplement will not contain such information. The investor must look to
the offerorat the time of such offer for the provision of such information. The Issuer has no responsibility to an investor in
respect of such information.
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RISK FACTORS

Set out below are factors the Issuer believes may be material for the purpose of assessing the risks associated with
the Notes. Prospective investors should read this Offering Circular, as supplemented, and the relevant Pricing Supplement in
their entirety and form their own conclusions regarding investing in any Notes, in addition to consulting their respective

financial and legal advisors about the risks entailed by an investment in any Notes and the suitability of any investment in
Notes in light of their respective particular circumstances. Prospective investors should also consider carefully, among other
factors, thematters described below.

The following risk factors have been separated into two groups: Risks Related to the Notes, and Risks Related to the
Issuer. The occurrence of the events described below under “—Risks Related to the Issuer” could have a material adverse
effect on the Issuer’s businesses, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and/or cash flows. Furthermore, other
unknown or unpredictable economic, business, competitive, regulatory, geopolitical or other factors could also have material
adverse effects on the Issuer’s future results.

Risks Related to the Notes
Notes denominatedin currencies other than U.S. dollars are subject to exchange rateand exchange controlrisks.

An investment in a Note denominated in a specified currency other than the currency of the jurisdiction in which a
patticular mvestor resides, does business or reports its operating results entails significant risks. These risks include the
possibility of significant changes in rates of exchange between the specified currency and the investor’s currency resulting
from the official redenomination or revaluation of the specified currency and the possibility of the imposition or modification
of foreign exchange controls by either the investor’s jurisdiction or foreign govemments. These risks generally depend on
factors over which the Issuer has no control, such as economic and political events and the supply of and demand for the
relevantcurrencies.

Moreover, if payments on Notes denominated in currencies other than U.S. dollars are detemined by reference to a
formuh containing a multiplier or leverage factor, the effect of any change in the exchange rates between the applicable
currencies will be magnified. In recent years, rates of exchange between some currencies have been highly volatile, and
investors in the Notes should beaware that volatility may occur in the future. Fluctuations in any particular exchange rate that
have occurred in the past, however, are not necessarily indicative of fluctuations in the rate that may occur during the term of
any Note. Depreciation of a specified currency for a Note against the investor’s currency would result in a decrease in the
effective yield of such Note (in temms of the investor’s currency) below its coupon rate and, in certain circumstances, could
resultin a loss to a particular investor (in terms ofthatinvestor’s currency).

Exceptas set forth below, if payment in respect ofa Note is required to bemade ina currency other than U.S. dollars,
and such currency is unavailable to the Issuer due to the imposition of exchange controls or other circumstances beyond the
Issuer’s control or isno longer used by the govemment of the relevant country (unless otherwise replaced by the euro) or for
the settlement of transactions by public institutions of or within the intemational banking community, then all payments in
respect of such Note will be made in U.S. dollars until such currency isagain available to the Issuer or so used. The amounts
payable on any date in such currency will be converted into U.S. dollars on the basis of the most recently available market
exchange rate for such currency oras otherwise indicated i the relevant Pricing Supplement. Any payment in respect of such
Note so made in U.S. dollars will not constitute an event of default under the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

The payingagent will makeall deteminations referred to above at its sole discretion. All determinations will, in the
absence of clear error, be binding on holders ofthe Notes.

Early redemption may adversely affect the return on the Notes.

If the Notes are redeemable at the Issuer’s option, the Issuer may choose to redeem the Notes at times when
prevailing interest rates are relatively low. In addition, if the Notes are subject to mandatory redemption, the Issuer may be
required to redeem the Notes at times when prevailing interest rates are relatively low. As a result, a holder of the Notes
generally will not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a comparable security at an effective interest rate as high as
the Notes being redeemed. An optional redemption feature is likely to limit the matket value of the Notes as themarket value
of such Notes generally will not rise substantially above the priceat which they can be redeemed. The Issuer may be expected
to redeem the Notes when its cost of borrowing is lower than the interest rate on the Notes. At those times,an investor may not
be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being
redeemed. Potential investors should consider reinvestmentrisk in light of other investments available at thattime.
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The discontinuance of the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) may adversely affect the return on certain Notes
and the price at which investors can sell Notes in the secondary market, if one exists.

LIBOR is being discontinued as a floating rate benchmark. On 5 March, 2021, ICE Benchmark Admnistration
Limited (“IBA”), the administrator of LIBOR, published a statement confirming its intention to cease publication of all
LIBOR settings, together with the dates on which this will occur, subject to the United Kingdom’s Financial Conduct
Authority (the “FCA”) exercising its powers to require IBA to continue publishing such LIBOR settings (the “IBA
Announcement”). Concurrently, the FCA published a statement on the future cessation and loss of representativeness of all
LIBOR currencies and tenors, following the dates on which IBA has indicated it will cease publication (the “FCA
Announcement”). Pemmanent cessation will occur immediately after 31 December, 2021 for all euro and Swiss francs
LIBOR tenors and certain sterling, Japanese yen and U.S. dollar LIBOR settings and immediately after 30 June, 2023 for
certain other U.S. dollar LIBOR settings. In relation to the remamning LIBOR settings (I-month, 3-month and 6-month
sterling, U.S. dollar and Japanese yen LIBOR settings), the FCA is consulting on or, in the case of U.S. dollar settings,
considering the case for using its powers to require IBA to continue publication undera changed methodology for a further
period after 31 December, 2021 (30 June, 2023 in the case of U.S. dollar LIBOR). The FCA Announcement states that
consequently, any continuing LIBOR settings will no longer be representative of the underlying market that such settings are
intended to measure inmediately after 31 December, 2021, in the case of the sterling and Japanese yen LIBOR settings, and
immediately after 30 June, 2023, in the caseof the U.S. dollar LIBOR settings. Any continued publication of the Japanese yen
LIBOR settings will also cease permanently at the endof2022.

Financial markets, particularly the trading market for LIBOR-based obligations, may be adversely affected by the
discontinuation of LIBOR and the remaining uncertainties related thereto, the altemative reference rates that will be used
when LIBOR is discontnued and other reforms related to LIBOR. There is no assurance that any altemative reference rate

will be the economic equivalent ofany LIBOR setting it replaces.

The Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) (including a compounded SOFR (“Compounded SOFR”)) is a
relatively new reference rateand its composition and characteristics are not the sameas LIBOR.

Notes issued under the Program may havean interest rate based on SOFR or Compounded SOFR,as specified in the
applicable Pricing Supplement. On 22 June, 2017, the Alternative Reference Rates Committee (the “ARRC”) convened by
the Board of Govemors of the Federal Reserve System and the Federal Reserve Bank of New Yotk identified SOFR as the
rate that, in the consensus viewof the ARRC, represented best practice foruse in cetainnew U.S. dollar derivativesand other
financial contracts. SOFR is a broad measure of the cost of borrowing cash ovemight collateralized by U.S. Treasury
securities, and has been published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York since April 2018. The Federal Reserve Bank of
New York has also begun publishing historical indicative Secured Ovemight Financing Rates from 2014. Investors should
notrely on any historical changes ortrends in SOFR as anindicator of futurechanges in SOFR.

The composition and characteristics of SOFR are not the same as those of LIBOR, and SOFR is fundamentally
different from LIBOR fortwo key reasons. First, SOFR is a secured rate, while LIBOR is an unsecured rate. Second, SOFR is
an ovemight rate, while LIBOR is a forward-looking rate that represents interbank funding over different maturities (e.g.,
threemonths). As a result, there can be no assurance that SOFR (including Compounded SOFR) will perform in the same way
as LIBOR would haveatany time, including, without limitation,asa result of changes in interest and yield rates in the maket,
market volatility or globalor regionaleconomic, financial, political, regulatory, judicial or other events. Changes in the levels
of SOFR will affect the interest rate basis and, therefore, the return on any Notes linked to SOFR (including Compounded
SOFR) and the trading price of such Notes, but it is inpossible to predict whether such levels will rise or fall. There can be no
assurance that the interest rate basis or SOFR will be positive.

SOFR may be more volatilethan other benchmark or marketrates.

Since the initial publication of SOFR, daily changes in SOFR have, on occasion, been more voltile than daily
changes in other benchmartk ormarket rates, such as U.S. dollar LIBOR. Although changes in Compounded SOFR generally
are not expected to be as volatile as changes in daily levels of SOFR, the retum on and value of any floating rate Notes for
which the interest rate is based on SOFR may fluctuate more than floating rate debt securities that are linked to less volatile
rates. In addition, the volatility of SOFR has reflected the underlying volatility of the ovemight U.S. Treasury repo market.
The Federal Reserve Bank of New Yotk has at times conducted operations in the ovemight U.S. Treasury repo market in
order to help maintain the federal funds rate within a target range. There can be no assurance that the Federal Reserve Bank of
New York will continue to conduct such operations in the future, and the duration and extent of any such operations is
inherently uncertain. The effect of any such operations, or of the cessation of such operations to the extent they are
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commenced, is uncertain and could be materially adverse to mvestors in any floating rate Notes for which the interest rate is
based on SOFR.

Any failure of SOFR to gain market acceptance could adversely affect floating rate Notes for which the interest rate is
based on SOFR.

Accordingto the ARRC, SOFR was developed foruse in certain U.S. dollar derivativesand other financial contracts
asan alternative to U.S. dollar LIBOR mn part because it is considered a good representation of general funding conditions in
the ovemight U.S. Treasury repurchaseagreement market. However, asa rate based on transactions secured by U.S. Treasury
securities, it does not measure bank-specific credit riskand,asa result, is less likely to correlate with the unsecured short-term
funding costs of banks. This may mean that market patticipants would not consider SOFR (including Compounded SOFR) a
suitable replcement or successor forall of the purposes for which U.S. dollar LIBOR historically has been used (including,
without limitation, as a representation of the unsecured short-temm funding costs of banks), which may, in turn, lessen market
acceptance of SOFR. Any failure of SOFR to gain market acceptance could adversely affect the return on and value of any
floating rate Notes for which the interest rate is based on SOFR and the price at which investors can sell such floating rate
Notes in the secondary market.

In addition, if SOFR does not prove to be widely used asa benchmark in securities that are similaror comparable to
any SOFR-based floating rate Notes the Issuer issues, the trading price of any SOFR -based floating rate Notes that the Issuer
issues may be lower than those of securities that are linked to rates that are more widely used. Similarly, market tems for
floating rate debt securities linked to SOFR, such as the spread over the base rate reflected in interest rate provisions or the
manner of compounding the base rate, may evolve over time, and trading prices of any SOFR-based floating rate Notes the
Issuerissues may be lower than those of later-issued SOFR -based debtsecurities as a result.

The Issuer may issue floating rate Notes for which the interest rate is based on a Compounded SOFR and a SOFR index,
bothofwhich are relatively new in the marketplace.

The Issuer may issue floating rate Notes for which the interest rate is based on Compounded SOFR, which is
calculated usinga SOFR index published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York according to a specific formula, not the
SOFR published on or in respect of a particular date during the applicable interest period or an arithmetic average of the
SOFRs during such period. For this and other reasons, the interest rate on any such floating rate Notes duringany applicable
interest period will not necessarily be the same as the interest rate on other SOFR-linked investments that use an alternative
basis to determmine the applicable interest rate. Further, if the SOFR in respect of a particular date duringan interest period is
negative, its contribution to the SOFR index will be less than one, resulting in a reduction to Compounded SOFR used to
calculate the interest payable onsuch floating rate Notes onthe applicable interest paymentdate for suchinterest period.

Very limited market precedent exists for securities that use SOFR as the interest rate and the method for cakulating
an interest rate based upon SOFR in those precedents varies. In addition, the Federal Reserve Bank of New York only began
publishing the SOFR index on 2 March, 2020. Accordingly, the use of the SOFR index or a specific formula for the
Compounded SOFR may not be widely adopted by other market patticipants, if at all. If the market adopts a different
calculation method, that would likely adversely affect the liquidity and market value of any floating rate Notes the Issuer
issues for which the interest rate is based on Compounded SOFR andthe SOFR index.

Compounded SOFR with respect to a particular interest period will only be capable of being determined near the end of
the relevant interestperiod.

If the Issuer issues floating rate Notes for which the interest rate is based on Compounded SOFR, the level of
Compounded SOFR applicable to a patticular interest period and, therefore, the amount of interest payable with respect to
such interest period, will be detemined on the applicable interest determination date for such interest period. Because each
such date is near the end of such interest period, holders of such Notes will not know the amount of interest payable with
respect to a particular interest period until shortly priorto the related interest payment date, and it may be difficult forholders
of such Notes to reliably estimate the amount of interest that will be payable on each such mterest payment date. In addition,
some investors may be unwilling or unable to trade any such floating rate Notes that the Issuer issues without changes to their
information technology systems, both of which could adversely impact the liquidity and trading price of any floating rate
Notesthatthe Issuerissues for which theinterestrate is based on Compounded SOFR.
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The SOFR index may be modified or discontinued, which may adversely affect the return on SOFR-based Notes and the
price at which holders of such Notes can sell such SOFR-based Notes in the secondary market, if one exists.

The SOFR index is published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York based on data received by it from sources
other than the Issuer, and the Issuer has no contwol over its methods of calculation, publication schedule, rate revision
practices or availability of the SOFR index at any time. There can be no guarantee, particularly given its relatively recent
introduction, that the SOFR index will not be discontinued or fundamentally altered in a manner that is materially adverse to
the interests of nvestors in any SOFR-based floating rate Notes that the Issuerissues. If the manner in which the SOFR index
is calculted, including the manner in which SOFR is calculated, is changed, that change may result in a reduction in the
amount of interest payable on any SOFR-based floating rate Notes that the Issuer has issued and the trading prices of such
floating rate Notes. In addition, the Federal Reserve Bank of New York may withdraw, modify oramend the published SOFR
index or SOFR data in its sole discretion and without notice. Unless the terms of a particular issue of floating rate Notes
specify otherwise, the interest rate forany interest period with respect to SOFR-based floating rate Notes that the Issuerissues
will not be adjusted for any modifications oramendments to the SOFR index or SOFR data that the Federal Reserve Bank of
New York maypublish after the interestrate forthat interest period has been determined.

Developments regarding the regulation of benchmarks may adversely affect the value of Notes linked to or referencing
suchbenchmarks.

Interest ratesand indices (including LIBOR and the Euro Intetbank Offered Rate (“EURIBOR”)) whicharedeemed
to be benchmarks (such asa Reference Rate (as defined below)) have been, and may continue to be, the subject of national
and international refomms.

For example, in the European Union and the United Kingdom, certain measures are in effect with regard to the
provision of benchmarks, the contribution of input data to benchmatks and the use of benchmarks, pursuant to (in the
European Union) Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 (as amended, the “Benchmarks Regulation”)and (in the United Kingdom)
Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 as it forms pa1t of domestic law in the United Kingdom by virtue of the EUWA (as amended, the
“UK Benchmarks Regulation”). The Benchmatks Regulation and the UK Benchmartks Regulation could have a material
impact on any Notes linked to or referencing a relevant benchmaik, including if the methodology or other temms of such

benchmark are changed in order to comply with therequirements ofeither such Regulation.

More broadly, the Benchmarks Regulation and the UK Benchmarks Regulation, other national or intemational
reforms or the general increased regulatory scrutiny of benchmarks could increase the costs and risks of admmistering or
otherwise participating in the setting of benchmarks and complying with any such regulations or requirements, discoura ge
market participants from continuing to administer or contribute to benchmarks, trigger changes in the mules ormethodologies
used in benchmartks, have the effect of reducing, increasing or otherwise affecting the vohtility of the published rate or level
of benchmarks, cause benchmarks to perform differently thanin the past orlead to the discontinuation of benchmarks.

Any of theabove matters could, among other things, have a materialadverse effect on the value ofand retum on any
Notes linked to, referencing or otherwise dependent (in whole or in part) upon an affected benchmark or have other
consequences which cannot be predicted.

Investors should consult their own independent advisers and make their own assessment about the potential risks
imposed by the Benchmarks Regulation, the UK Benchmarks Regulation or any other national or intemational reforms in
making any investment decision with respectto any Notes referencinga benchmark.

Interest rate conversion, if applicable, may affectthe marketvalueofthe Notes.

Certain fixed/floating rate Notesmay bear interest at a rate that the Issuer may elect to convert from a fixed rate toa
floating rate, or from a floating rate to a fixed rate. The Issuer’s ability to convert the interest rate will affect the secondary
market and the market value of the Notes since the Issuermay be expected to convert the rate when it is likely to produce a
lower overall cost of borrowing. If the Issuer converts from a fixed rate to a floating rate, the spread on the fixed/floating rate
Notes may be less favorable than the then-prevailing spreads on comparable floating rate Notes tied to the same reference
rate. In addition, the new floating rate at any time may be lower than the rates on other Notes. If the Issuer converts from a
floatingrate to a fixedrate, the fixedratemay be lower than thethen-prevailing rates onits Notes.

In certain circumstances holders may be subject to U.S. withholding tax.

Under the U.S. tax rules known as the Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (“FATCA”), a holder who is a
U.S. Alien (as defined in Condition 8.01 in the section “Temmsand Conditions of the Notes” of this Offering Circular) will
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generally be subject to 30% U.S. withholding tax on certain payments made on the Notes if such holder (i) is, or holds its
Notes through, a foreign financial institution that has not entered into anagreement with the U.S. government to report, on an
annual basis, certain information regarding accounts with or interests in the nstitution held by certain U.S. persons and by
certain non-U.S. entities thatare wholly or partially owned by U.S. persons, or that hasbeen designatedasa “nonpatticipating
foreign financial institution” if it is subject to an intergovernmental agreement (“IGA”) between the United States and a
foreign country, or (ii) fails to provide certain documentation containing information about its identity, its FATCA status, and
if required, its direct and indirect U.S. owners. A number of countries have entered into IGAs with the United States. The
adoption of, or implementation of, an IGA between the United States and an applicable foreign country, or future U.S.
Treasury regulations, may modify these requirements. Such payments include U.S.-source interest but do not include gross
proceeds from the sale or other disposition of notes that can produce U.S.-source interest, pursuant to proposed Treasury
regulations that may be relied upon pending their finalization. Prospective holders should refer to the section “United States
Taxation” of this Offering Circular.

There may not be any trading market for the Notes; many factors affectthe trading and market value ofthe Notes.

Upon issuance, the Notes will not have an established trading market. The Issuer cannot assure holders of the Notes
that a trading market for the Notes will ever develop, orthat any such market will be maintained if developed. In addition to
the Issuer’s creditworthiness, many factorsaffect thetrading market for,and trading value of, the Notes. If such a market were
to develop, the Notes could trade at prices that may be lower than the initial offering prices depending on many factors,
including:

the method of calculating the principal, premium, if any, and interest, if any, in respect ofthe Notes;
e thetimeremainingto the maturity of the Notes;

¢ theoutstandingamountof the Notes;

e anyredemption features ofthe Notes;

e thelevel, direction and volatility of marketinterestrates generlly; and

o fluctuations in exchange rates between an investor’s currency and the specified currency in which a Note is
denominated.

There may be a limited number of buyers when a holder decides to sell its Notes. This may affect the price such
holder receives for such Notes or such holder’s ability to sell its Notes at all. In addition, Notes that are designed for specific
investment objectives or strategies often experiencea more limited trading maket and more price volatility than those not so
designed. Investors should not purchase Notes unless they understand and know they can bear all of the investment risks
involving the Notes.

The risks relating to a lack of an established trading martket and/or a limited secondary market are heightened for
Notes that use any new matket rate or method for detetmining an interest rate (such asan interest rate based on SOFR or
Compounded SOFR) because market terms for such Notes, such as the applicable “spread” or “spread multiplier,” may
evolve over time and, as a result, trading prices of such Notes may be lower than those of later-issued Notes that are linked to
such market rate. Similarly, if such newmarket rate ormethod for detemining an interest rate does not prove to be widely
used in similardebt securities, the trading price of such Notes may be lower than that of debt securities that are linked to rates
that are more widely used. Investors in Notes that use any new market rate ormethod for detetmiing an interest rate maynot
be able to sell their Notes at all orat prices that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a
developed secondary market. Further, investors wishing to sell such Notes in the secondary market will have to make
assumptionsas to the future performance of such market rate during the applicable period in which they intend the sale to take
place. As a result, investors may suffer from increased pricing volatility and market risk.

The Issuer’s credit ratings may not reflect all risks of an investment in the Notes, and related regulatory requirements may
affect certain investors and the value of the Notes.

The credit ratings of the Issuer or the Notesmay not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to the structure of
and market for the Notes and do not address the price, if any, at which the Notes may be resold prior to maturity. However,
real or anticipated changes in the Issuer’s or the Program’s credit ratings will generally affect themarket value of the Notes. A
credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the ratingagency at
any time. There is no assurance that a credit rating will remain forany given period of time or that a credit rating will not be
lowered or withdrawn by the rlevant rating agency if, in its judgment, circumstances so warrant. The impact of other
activities that the Issuer undertakes, including its stock repurchase program, changes in its dividend rate and, particularly,
increases in its debt levels could also result in future declines in its credit ratings. See “—Risks Related to the [ssuer—Trading
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volatility and the price of the Issuer’s common stock may be adversely affected by many factors.” In the event that a credit
rating assigned to the Notes or the Issuer is subsequently lowered for any reason, no person or entity is obliged to provide any
additional suppott or credit enhancement with respect to the Notes, and the market value of the Notes is likely to be adversely
affected.

In general (and subject to certain conditions and, where applicable, certain transitional arrangements), European
Union regulated investors are restricted under the CRA Regulation from using credit ratings for regulatory purposes unless
such ratings are issued by: (a) a credit rating agency established in the European Union and registered under the CRA
Regultion (and such registration has not been withdrawn or suspended); or (b)a credit ratinga gency established in a country
outside the European Union, in circumstances in which either (i) the relevant credit rating is endorsed by a credit rating
agency established in the European Union and registered under the CRA Regulation (and such endorsement has not been
withdrawn) or (ii) the relevant country is the subject of an equivalence decision by the European Commission and the credit
ratinga gency is certified in accordance with the CRA Regulation (and such certification hasnot been suspended). In addition,
in general (and subject to certain conditions and, where applicable, certain transitional arrangements), United
Kingdom regulated investors are restricted under the UK CRA Regulation from using credit ratings for regulatory purposes
unless such ratings are issued by: (a)a credit rating agency established in the United Kingdom and registered under the UK
CRARegulation (and such registration has not been withdrawn or suspended); or (b) a credit ratingagency established in a
country other than the United Kingdom, in circumstances in which either (i) the relevant credit rating is endorsed by a credit
ratingagency established in the United Kingdom and registered under the UK CRA Regulation (and such endorsement has
not been withdrawn) or (ii) the relevant country is the subject of an equivalence decision by the United Kingdom and the
credit ratingagency is certified in accordance with the UK CRA Regulation (and such certification has not been suspended).

If any applicable requirements of the CRA Regulation or the UK CRA Regulation are not, or cease to be, satisfied
with regard to any rating of the Notes, European Union or United Kingdom regulated investors, asapplicable, may not beable
to use such rating for regulatory purposes and the Notes may have a different regulatory treatment for such investors. This
may result in European Union or United Kingdom regulated investors,asapplicable, beingunable to acquire, or being obliged
to sell, the Notes, which may impact the value of the Notes and any secondary market. The list of registered and certified
ratingagencies published by the European Securities and Markets Authority (‘ESMA”) on its website in accordance with the
CRA Regulation, and the list of registered and certified ratingagencies published by the FCA on its website in accordance
with the UK CRA Regulation, are not conclusive evidence of the status of any such ratingagency, as there may be a delay
between certain supervisory measures beingtaken against a relevant ratingagency and the relevant list beingupdated.

Certain information with respect to the credit ratingagencies and ratings is set out in the section “Credit Ratings” of
this Offering Circularand will be disclosed in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Because the Notes areunsecured, the rightto receivepayments may be adversely affected by certain events.

The payment obligations of the Issuerunder the Notes are unsecured and rank equally in right of payment with all
existing and future unsecured obligations of the Issuer. If the Issuer defaults on the Notes, or in the event of a bankruptcy,
liquidation or reorganization, then, to the extent that the Issuer has granted security over itsassets, theassets that secure those
obligations will be used to satisfy the obligations thereunder before the Issuer could sell or otherwise dispose of thoseassets to
make payment on the Notes. As a result of the granting of such security, there may only be limited assets available to make
payments on the Notes in the event of an acceleration of the Notes. The Issuer may also incur substantial additional
indebtedness in the future, includingunder the Program. Such additional indebtednessmay be secured indebtedness to which
the Notes would be structurally subordinated.

Notes may be issued at a substantial discount or premium.

Notes may be issued at a substantial discount or premium from their principal amount. The market value of such
Notes may fluctuate to a greater extent in relation to general changes in interest rates than do market values for conventional
interest-bearing securities. Generally, the longer the remaining temm of such Notes, the greater the price volatility as compared
to conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable maturities.

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments.

The investment activities of certain investors in the Notes are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or
review or regulation by certain authorities. Each investor of the Notes should consult his, her or its, as the case may be, legal
advisors to determine whether and to what extent (1) the Notes constitute legal investments; (2) the Notes can be used as
collateral for various types of borrowing; and (3) other restrictions might apply to the purchase or pledge of any Notes.
Financial institutions should consult their respective legaladvisors orthe appropriate regulators to detemine the appropriate
treatmentof Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similarrules.
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The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors.

Each potential investor in any Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own
circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should (1) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a
meaningful evaluation of the relevant Notes, the merits and risks of investing in the relevant Notes and the information
contained or incorporated by reference in this Offering Circular or any applicable supplement; (2)have access to, and
knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of the investor’s particular financial situation, an
investment in the relevant Notes and the impact the relevant Notes will have on the investor’s overall investment portfolio;
(3) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the relevant Notes;
(4) understand thoroughly the temms of the relevant Notes and be familiar with the behavior of any relevant indices and
financial markets; and (5) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial advisor) possible scenarios for
economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect the investor’s investment and the investor’s ability to bear the
applicable risks.

A prospective investor should not invest in Notes unless it has the expertise (either alone or with a financial advisor)
to evaluate how the Notes will perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of the Notes, and the
impactthis investmentwill have onthe prospectiveinvestor’s overall investment portfolio.

The terms of the Notes, in certain circumstances, may be subjectto modifications and waivers.

The Temms and Conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of holders of the Notes to consider
and vote upon matters affecting their interests generally, or to pass resolutions. Certain changes require each affected holder’s
approval, others require no approval by holders and certain others require the approval of 25% of the holders. Accordingly,
the terms of the Notes may in some cases be subjectto change withoutholders’ consent.

Certain Dealers maybe subject to potential conflicts of interest.

All or some of the Dealers and their affiliates (including their parent companies) have and/or may in the future
engage, in the ordinary course of business, in investment banking, commercial banking and/or other financial advisory and
commercialdealings with the Issuerand its affiliates. They have ormay, in the ordinary course of their business, (i) engage in
investment banking, trading or hedging activities; (ii) act as underwriters in connection with offerings of securities issued by
the Issuerand its affiliates; or (iii) act as financialadvisors to the Issuer or its affiliates. In the context of these transactions,
certain of such Dealers have ormay hold securities issued by the Issuer or its affiliates. Where applicable, they have or will
receive customary fees and commissions for these transactions.

Potential conflicts of interest may arise between the calculation agent, ifany, fora Series of Notesand the holders of
the Notes, including with respect to certain discretionaty deteminations and judgments that such calculation a gent may make
pursuant to the Temms and Conditions of the Notes that may influence the amount receivable upon redemption of the Notes. A
conflict of interest may arise if one of the Dealers, or an affiliate ofa Dealer, is appointed as the calculationa gent.

The Notes may be affected by changes in law.

The Temms and Conditions of the Notes are based on the laws of the State of New York, United States, in effect as at
the date of issue of the relevant Notes. The impact of any possible judicial decision or change to the laws of the State of New

York oradministrative practice after the date of issue ofthe relevant Notes is uncertain.

Risks Related to the Issuer

The Issuer’s business results are subject to a variety of risks, including those that are reflected in the following
considerations and factors, as of the date of this Offering Circular. If any of these considerations or risks materialize, the
Issuer’s expectations may change and its performance may be adversely affected.

The COVID-19 pandemic has adversely affected and is expected to continue to adversely affect the Issuer’s financial
results, condition and outlook.

Health epidemics or pandemics can adversely affect consumer spending and confidence levels and supply
availbility and costs,as wellas the local operations in impacted markets, all of which canaffect thelssuer’s financial results,
conditionand outlook.Importantly, the global pandemic resulting from COVID-19 has disrupted globalhealth, economic and
market conditions, consumer behavior and the Issuer’s global restaurant operations since early 2020. Local and national
governmental mandates or recommendations and public perceptions of the risks associated with the COVID-19 pandemic
have caused, and the Issuer expects will continue to cause, consumer behavior to change and worsening or volatile economic
conditions in certain markets, each of which could continue to adversely affect the Issuer’s business. In addition, the Issuer’s
global operations have been distupted to varying degrees in different markets and may continue to be disrupted to varying
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degrees given the unpredictability of the virus, its resurgences and variants and govemment responses thereto, as well as
potentially pemrmanent changes to the industry in which the Issuer operates. While the Issuer cannot predict the duration or
scope of the COVID-19 pandemic, the resurgence of infections or the emergence of new variants in one or more maikets, the
availability oracceptance of vaccinesor vaccination rates across the globe, the COVID-19 pandemichas negatively impacted
the Issuer’s business and is expected to continue to impact the Issuer’s financial results, condition and outlook in a way that
may be material.

The COVID-19 pandemic may also heighten otherrisks disclosed in this section “Risk Factors,” such as, butnot
limited to, those related to consumer behavior, consumer perceptions of the Issuer’s brand, competition, supply chain
interruptions, commodity costs and labor a vailability and cost.

If the Issuer does not successfully evolve and execute against its business strategies, including the ‘Accelerating the
Arches’ strategy, it may notbe able to drive business growth.

To drive Systemwide sales, operating income and free cash flow growth, the Issuer’s business strategies must be
effective in mamntainingand strengthening customer appealand capturing additional market share. Whether these strategies
are successful depends mainly on the ability of the System (defined as the Issuertogether with its subsidiaries, its franchisees
and its suppliers) to:

e capitalize on the Issuer’s global scale, iconic brand and local market presence to build upon itshistoric strengths

and competitiveadvantages, suchas its marketing, core menuitems and digital, delivery and drive thru;

e continue to innovateand differentiate the McDonald’s experience, including by preparing and serving the
Issuer’s foodin a way thatbalances value and convenienceto its customers with profitability;

e accelerate technology investments fora fastand easy customer experience;

e contnue to un great restaurants by driving efficiencies and expanding capacities while continuing to prioritize
health and safety;

e identifyand develop restaurant sites consistent with the Issuer’s plansfornet growth of Systemwide restaurants;

e accelerate thelssuer’s existing strategies, including through growth opportunities and potential acquisitions,
investments and partnerships; and

e evolveand adjust the Issuer’s businessstrategies in response to, among other things, changing consumer
behavior, operational restrictions and impacts to the Issuer’s results of operations and liquidity, includingas a
result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

If the Issuer is delayed orunsuccessful in executing its strategies, or if its strategies do not yield the desired results,
its business, financial condition and results of operations may suffer.

Failure to preserve the value and relevance of the Issuer’s brand could havean adverse impact on its financial results.

To be successful in the future, the Issuer believes it must preserve, enhance and leverage the value of its brand,
including its corporate purpose, mission and values. Brand value is based in pait on consumer perceptions. Those perceptions
are affected by a variety of factors, including the nutritional content and preparation of the Issuer’s food, the ingredients it
uses, the manner in which it sources commodities, and general business practices across the System, including the people
practices at the Issuer’s restaurants. Consumer acceptance of the Issuer’s offerings is subject to change for a variety of
reasons, and some changes can occur rapidly. For example, nutritional, health, environmentaland other scientific studies and
conclusions, which constantly evolve and may have contradictory implications, drive popular opimion, litigation and
regulation (including initiatives intended to drive consumer behavior) in ways that affect the “informal eating out” (“IEOQ”)
segmentor perceptionsof the [ssuer’s brand, generally orrelative toavailablealternatives. Consumer perceptionsmay alsobe
affected by adverse commentary from third parties, including through socialmedia or conventionalmedia outlets, regarding
the quick-service category of the IEO segment or the Issuer’s brand, its culture, its operations, its suppliers or its franchisees.
If the [ssuer is unsuccessfulin addressing adverse commentaty or perceptions, whether or notaccurate, its brand and financial
results may suffer.

Addtionally, the ongoing relevance of the Issuer’s brand may depend on the success of its sustainability mitiatives,
which require Systemwide coordination and alignment. The Issuer is working to manage risks and costs to itself, its
franchisees and its supply chain of any effects of climate change, greenhouse gases, and diminishing energy and water
resources. These risks include any increased public focus, including by govemmentaland nongovernmental organizations, on
these and other environmental sustainability matters, such as packagingand waste,animal health and welfare, deforestation
and land use. These risks also include any increased pressure to make commitments, set targets or establish additional goals
and take actions tomeet them, which could expose the Issuerto market, operational and execution costs orrisks.
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Trust in the Issuer’s brand also depends on how the Issuer addresses social risks, including through its increased
focus on human capitalinitiativesand diversity, equity and inclusion (“DEI”’). The Issuer expects its DEI strategy to represent
a step change in how it views equitable opportunity across its System. Additionally, the Issuer has announced global brand
standards thatwill apply to the Issuer’s operations worldwide, including both Issuer-owned and franchised restaurants.

If the Issuer is not effective in addressing social and environmental responsibility matters or achieving relevant
social or sustainability goals, trust in the Issuer’s brand may suffer. In patticular, business incidents or practices, whether
actual or perceived, that erode consumer trust or confidence, particularly if such incidents or practices receive considerable
publicity or result in litigation, can significantly reduce brand value and have a negative impact on the Issuer’s financial
results.

If the Issuer does not anticipate and address evolving consumer preferences and effectively execute its pricing,
promotional and marketing plans, its business could suffer.

The Issuer’s continued success depends on its System’s ability to build upon its historic strengths and competitive
advantages. In order to do so, the Issuer needs to anticipate and respond effectively to continuously shifting consumer
demographics and trends in food sourcing, food preparation, food offerings and consumer preferences and behaviors in the
IEO segment. If the Issuer is not able to predict, or quickly and effectively respond to, these changes, or its competitors
predict orrespond more effectively, its financial results could be adversely impacted.

The Issuer’s ability to build upon its strengths and advantages also depends on the impact of pricing, promotional
and marketing plans across the System, and the ability to adjust these plans to respond quickly and effectively to evolving
customer preferences, as well as shifting economic and competitive conditions. Existing or future pricing strategies and
marketing plans, as wellas the value proposition they represent, are expected to continue to be important components of the
Issuer’s business strategy; however, they may not be successful, or may not be as successful as the efforts of the Issuer’s
competitors, and could negatively impact sales, guest counts and marketshare.

Addtionally, the Issuer operates in a complex and costly advertising environment. Its marketing and advertising
programs may not be successful in reaching its customers in the way it intends. The Issuer’s success depends in patt on
whether the allocation of its advertising and marketing resources across different channels, including digital marketing,
allows it to reach its customers effectively and efficiently, and in ways that are meaningful to them. If the advertising and
marketing programs are not successful, orare not as successfulas those of the Issuer’s competitors, the Issuer’s sales, guest
counts and market share could decrease.

The Issuer’s investments to enhance the customer experience, including through technology, may not generate the
expected results.

The Issuer’s long-term business objectives depend on the successful Systemwide execution of its strategies. The
Issuer continues to build upon its investments in technology and modemization, digital enga gement and delivery, in order to
transform the customer experience. As part of these investments, the Issuer is placing renewed emphasis on improving its
service model and strengthening relationships with customers, in part through digital channels and loyalty initiatives, mobile
ordering and payment systems, and enhancing its drive thmu technologies, which may not generate expected results. The
Issuer also continues to offer and refine its delivery initiatives, including through growing awareness and trial. Utilizing a
thirdparty delivery service may not have the same level of profitability as a non-delivery transaction, and may introduce
additional food quality and customer satisfaction risks. If these customer experience initiatives are not well executed, or if the
Issuerdoes notfully realize the intended benefits ofthese significant investments, the Issuer’s business results may suffer.

The Issuer faces intense competition in its markets, which could hurt its business.

The Issuer competes primarily in the IEO segment, which is highly competitive. The Issuer also faces sustained,
intense competition from traditional, fast casual and other competitors, which may include many non-traditional market
patticipants such as convenience stores, grocety stores and coffee shops as well as online retailers. The Issuer expects its
environment to continue to be highly competitive, and its results in any patticular reporting period may be impacted by a
contracting IEO segment or by new or continuing actions, product offerings or consolidation of its competitors and
third-party partners, which mayhave a short- or long-term impacton its results.

The Issuer competes on the basis of product choice, quality, affordability, service and location. In patticular, the
Issuer believes its ability to compete successfully in the current maket environmentdepends on its ability to inprove existing
products, successfully develop and introduce new products, price its products appropriately, deliver a relevant customer
experience, manage the complexity of its restaurant operations,manage its investments in technology and modemization, and
respond effectively to its competitors’ actions or offerings or to unforeseen disruptiveactions. There can be no assurance that
these strategies will be effective, and some strategies may be effective at improving some metrics while adversely affecting
othermetrics, which could have the overall effect ofharming the Issuer’s business.
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The Issuer may not be able to adequately protect its intellectual property or adequately ensure that it is not infringing the
intellectual property of others, which could harm the value ofthe Issuer’s brand and its business.

The success of the Issuer’s business depends on its continued ability to use its existing trademarks and servicemarks
in order to increase brand awarenessand further develop its branded products in both domestic and internationalmarkets. The
Issuer relies on a combination of trademarks, copyrights, service maiks, trade secrets, patents and other intellectual property
rights to protectits brand and branded products.

The Issuer has registered certain trademarks and has othertrademark registrations pending in the United States and
certain foreign jurisdictions. The trademarks that the Issuer currently uses have not been registered i all of the countries
outside of the United States in which it does business ormay do business in the future and may never be registered in all of
these countries. It may be costly and time consuming to protect the Issuer’s intellectual property, and the steps it has taken to
protect its intellectual propetty in the United States and foreign countries may not be adequate. In addition, the steps that the
Issuerhas taken may not adequately ensure that it does not infringe the intellectual property of others, and third parties may
claim infringement by it in the future. In patticular, the Issuer may be nmvolved in intellectual property claims, including often
aggressive or opportunistic attempts to enforce patents used in information technology systems, which might affect its
operations and results. Any claim of infringement, whether or not it has merit, could be time-consuming, result in costly
litigation and harm the Issuer’s business.

The Issuer cannot ensure that franchiseesand other third patties who hold licenses to its intellectual property will not
take actions thathurt the value of its intellectual property.

The globalscope of the Issuer’s business subjects it to risks that could negatively affectits business.

The Issuer encounters differing cultural, regulatory, geopolitical and economic environments within and amongthe
more than 100 countries where its restaurants operate, and its ability to achieve its business objectives depends on the
System’s success in these environments. Meeting customer expectations is complicated by the risks inherent in the Issuer’s
global operating environment, and the Issuer’s global success is pattially dependent on its System’s ability to leverage
operating successes across markets and brand perceptions. Phnned initiatives may not have appealacross multiple markets
with the Issuer’s customers and could driveunanticipated changes in customer perceptions and guestcounts.

Disruptions in operations or price volatility in a market can also result from govemmental actions, such as price,
foreign exchange or changes in trade-related tariffs or controls, sanctions and counter sanctions, govemment-mandated
closure of the operations of the Issuer, its franchisees or its suppliers, and asset seizures. Trade policies, tariffs and other
regulations affecting trade between the United States and other countries could adversely affect the Issuer’s business and
operations. These and other government actions may impact the Issuer’s results and could cause reputational or otherham.
The Issuer’s international success depends in part on the effectiveness of its strategies and brand-buildinginitiatives to reduce
its exposure to such governmental actions.

Addtionally, challenges and uncertainties are associated with operating in developing markets, which may entaila
relatively higher risk of political instability, economic voltility, crime, corruption and social and ethnic unrest. Such
challenges may be exacerbated inmany cases by a lack of an independent and experienced judiciary and uncertainties in how
local law is applied and enforced, ncluding in areas most relevant to commercial transactions and foreign investment. An
mability to manage effectively the risks associated with the Issuer’s international operations could have a material adverse
effect onthe Issuer’s business and financial condition.

The Issuer may also face challenges and uncertainties in developed markets. For example, the United Kingdom’s
exit from the European Union has caused increased regulatory complexities and uncertainty in European economic
conditions, and it is possible that it may also cause uncertainty in worldwide economic conditions. The decision created
volatility in certain foreign currency exchange rates that may ormay not continue, and may result in increased supply chain
costs for items that are imported from other countries. Any of these effects, and others the Issuer cannot anticipate, could
adversely affect the [ssuer’s business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Supply chain interruptions may increase costs or reducerevenues.

The Issuerdepends on the effectiveness of its supply chain management to assure reliable and sufficient supply of
quality products on favorable temms. Although many of the products the Issuer sells are sourced from a wide variety of
suppliers in countries around the world, certain products have limited suppliers, which may increase the Issuer’s reliance on
those suppliers. Supply chain interruptions, including as a result of shortages and transportation issues or unexpected
increases in demand, and price increases can adversely affect the Issuer as well as its suppliers and franchisees, whose
performance may havea significant impact on its results. Such shorta ges or disruptions could be caused by factors beyond the
control of the Issuer, its suppliers or its franchisees. If the Issuer experiences intermuptions in its System’s supply chain, or if
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contingency plhnning is not effective, its costs could increase and it could limit the availability of products critical to its
System’s operations.

The Issuer’s franchise business model presents a number of risks.

The Issuer’s successasa heavily franchised business relies toa large degree on the financial successand cooperation
of its franchisees, including its developmental licenseesand affiliates. The Issuer’s restaurant marginsarise from two sources:
fees from franchised restaurants (e.g., rent and royalties based on a percentage of sales) and, to a lesser degree, sales from
Issuer-operated restaurants. The Issuer’s franchisees and developmental licensees manage their businesses independently,
and therefore are responsible for the day-to-day operation of their restaurants. The revenues the Issuer realizes from
franchised restaurants are largely dependent on the ability of the Issuer’s franchisees to grow their sales. Business risks
affecting the Issuer’s operations also affect its franchisees. In particular, the Issuer’s franchisees have also been significantly
impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic and the volatility associated with the pandemic. If franchisee sales trends worsen or
volatility persists, the Issuer’s financial results will continue to be negatively affected, which may bematerial.

The Issuer’s success also relies on the willingness and ability of its independent franchisees and affiliates to
implement major initiatives, which may include financial investment, and to remain aligned with the Issuer on operating,
value/promotionaland capital-intensive reinvestment plans. The ability of franchisees to contribute to the achievement of the
Issuer’s plans is dependent in large patt on the availability to them of funding at reasonable interest rates and may be
negatively impacted by the financial markets in general, by the creditworthiness of the Issueror its franchisees or by banks’
lending practices. If the [ssuer’s franchisees are unwilling or unable to invest in major initiatives or are unable to obtain
financingat commercially reasonable rates, oratall, the Issuer’s future growth and results of operations could be adversely
affected.

The Issuer’s operating performance could also be negatively affected if its franchisees experience food safety or
other operational problems or project an image inconsistent with the Issuer’s brand and values, patticularly if its contractual
and other rights and remedies are limited, costly to exercise or subjected to litigation and potential delays. If franchisees do
not successfully operate restaurants in a manner consistent with the Issuer’s required standards, its brand’s image and
reputation could be harmed, which in turn could hurtits business and operating results.

The Issuer’s ownership mix also affects its results and financial condition. The decision to own restaurants or to
operate under franchise or license a greements is driven by many factors whose interrelationship is complex. The benefits of
the Issuer’s more heavily franchised structure depend on various factors including whether it has effectively selected
franchisees, licenseesand/or affilia tes that meet its rigorous standards, whether it is able to successfully integrate them into its
structure and whether their performance and theresulting ownership mix support its brand and financial objectives.

Challenges with respect to labor, including availability and cost, could impact the Issuer’s business and results of
operations.

The Issuer’s success depends in patt on its System’s ability to proactively recmuit, motivate and retain qualified
individuals to work in its restaurants and to maintain appropriately-staffed restaurants in an intensely competitive labor
market. If the Issuer or its franchisees are unable to adequately staff the Issuer’s restaurants, it could negatively impact the
Issuer’s operations, including speed of service to customers, and customer satisfaction levels. The System’s ability to meet its
laborneeds is generally subject to extemal factors, including the availability of sufficient workforce in the markets in which
the Issuer operates, unemployment levels in those markets and prevailing wa ge rates.

Further, mcreased costs and competition associated with recruiting, motivating and retaining qualified employees to
work in Issuer-operated restaurants, as well as costs to promote awareness of the opportunities of wotking at the Issuer’s
restaurants, could have a negative impact on Issuer-operated margins. Similar concerns apply to the profitability of the
Issuer’s franchisees.

The Issuer is also impacted by the costs and other effects of compliance with U.S. and intemational regulations
affecting its wotkforce, which includes its staff and employees working in Issuer-operated restaurants. These regulations are
increasingly focused on employment issues, including wage and hour, healthcare, immigration, retirement and other
employee benefits and workplce practices. Claims of non-compliance with these regulations could result in liability and
expense to the Issuer. The Issuer’s potential exposure to reputational and other hamm regarding its workplace practices or
conditions or those of its independent franchisees or suppliers, including those giving rise to chims of harassment or
discrimination (or perceptions thereof) or workplace safety, could have a negative impact on consumer perceptions of the
Issuer and its business. Additionally, economic action, such as boycotts, protests, work stoppages or campaigns by labor
organizations, could adversely affect the Issuer (including its ability to recruit and retain talent) or the franchisees and
suppliers thatare also partof the System and whose performance may have a materialimpact on the Issuer’s results.
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Effective succession planning is important to the Issuer’s continued success.

Effective succession planning is important to the Issuer’s long-term success. Failure to effectively identify, develop
and retain key personnel, recruit high-quality candidates and ensure smooth management and personnel transitions could
disrupt the Issuer’s business and adversely affectits results.

Food safety concerns may have an adverseeffect on the Issuer’s business.

The Issuer’s ability to increase sales and profits depends on its System’s ability to meet expectations for safe food
and on its ability to manage the potential impact on the Issuerof food-bome illnesses and food orproduct safety issues that
may arise in the future, including in the supply chain, restaurants or delivery. Food safety is a top priority, and the Issuer
dedicates substantial resources to ensure that its customers enjoy safe food products, including as its menu and service model
evolve. However, food safety events, including instances of food-borne illness, occur within the food industry and the System
from time to time and could occur in the future. Instances of food tampering, food contamination or food-borne illness,
whetheractual orperceived, could adversely affectthe Issuer’s brandandreputationas well as its revenues and profits.

If the Issuer does not effectively manageits real estate portfolio, its operating results may be negatively impacted.

The Issuer has significant real estate operations, primarily in connection with its restaurant business. It generally
owns or secures a long-tenm lease on the land and building for conventional franchised and Issuer-operated restaurant sites.
The Issuer seeks to identify and develop restaurant locations that offer convenience to customers and long-term sales and
profit potential. As the [ssuer generally secures long-term real estate interests for its restaurants, it has limited flexibility to
quickly alter its real estate portfolio. The competitive business landscape continues to evolve in light of changing business
trends, consumer preferences, trade area demographics, consumer use of digital, delivery and drive-thmu, local competitive
positions and other economic factors. If the Issuer’s restaurants are not located in desirable locations, or if the Issuer does not
evolve in response to these factors, this could adversely affect Systemwide sales and profitability.

The Issuer’s real estate valuesand the costsassociated with its real estate operationsarealso impacted by a variety of
otherfactors, including govemmentalregulations, insurance, zoning, tax and eminent domain laws, interest rate levels and the
cost of financing. A significant change in real estate values, oran increase in costsasa result of any of these factors, could
adversely affect its operating results.

Information technology system failures or interruptions, or breaches of network security, may impact the Issuer’s
operations or cause reputational harm.

The Issuer is increasingly reliant upon technology systems, such as point-of-sale, technologies supportting its digital
and delivery solutions, and technologies that facilitate communication and collaboration with affiliated entiies, customers,
employees, franchisees, suppliers, service providers or other independent third parties to conduct its business, whether
developed and maintained by the Issuer or provided by third parties. Any failure or interruption of these systems could
significantly impact the operations of the Issuer and its franchisees and the experience and perceptions of customers.

Security incidents or breaches have from time to time occurred and may i the future occur involving the systems
of the Issuer, the parties with whom the Issuer communicates or collaborates (including franchisees) or third-party
providers. These may include such things as unauthorized access, phishingattacks, account takeovers, denial of service,
computer viruses, introduction of malware or ransomware and other disruptive problems caused by hackers. These
technology systems contain personal, financial and other information that is entrusted to the Issuer by its customers, its
employees, its franchisees, its business customers and other third patties, as well as financial, proprietary and other
confidential information related to its business. Despite response procedures and measures in plce in the event of an
incident, a security breach could result in disruptions, shutdowns, theft or unauthorized disclosure of personal, financial,
proprietary or other confidential information. The actual or alleged occurrence of any of these incidents could result in
mitigation costs, reputational damage, adverse publicity, loss of consumer confidence, reduced sales and profits,
complications in executing the [ssuer’s growth initiativesand regulatory and legalrisk, including crimmal penalties or civil
liabilities.

The Issuer also provides certain technology systems to businesses that are unaffiliated with the System and a
failure, interruption or breach of these systems may cause hamm to thoseunaffiliated parties, which may result in liability to
the Issuerorreputationalham.

Despite the implementation of security measures, any of these technology systems could become vulnerable to
damage, disability or failures due to theft, fire, power loss, telecommunications failure or other catastrophic events. Certain
technology systems may also become vulnerable, unreliable or inefficient in cases where technology vendors limit or
terminate product supportand maintenance. The Issuer’s increasing reliance on third-party systems also subjects it to risks
faced by the thirdparty’s business, including the operational, security and credit risks of those parties. If technology
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systems were to fail or otherwise be unavailable, or if business continuity or disaster recovery plans were not effective, and
the Issuer was unable to recover in a timely manner, the Issuer could experience an interruption in its or its franchisees’
operations.

Increasing regulatory and legal complexity may adversely affect the Issuer’s business and financial results.

The Issuer’s regulatory and legal environment worldwide exposes it to complex compliance, litigation and similar
risks that could affect its operations and results in material ways. Many of the Issuer’s maikets are subject to increasing,
conflicting and highly prescriptive regulations involving, among other matters, restaurant operations, product packaging,
marketing, the nutritional and allergen content and safety of the Issuer’s food and other products, labeling and other
disclosure practices. Compliance efforts with those regulations may be affected by ordinary variations in food preparation
among the [ssuer’s own restaurants and the need to rly on the accuracy and completeness of information from third-party
suppliers. The Issuer also is subjected to increased public focus, mcluding by governmental and nongovemmental
organizations, regarding environmentaland social initiatives. The Issuer’s success depends in patt on itsability to mana ge the
impact of regulations and other initiatives that can affect its business plans and operations, and have increased the Issuer’s
costs of doingbusiness and exposure to litigation, governmental investigations or other proceedings.

The Issuer is also subject to legal proceedings that may adversely affect its business, including class actions,
admmistrative proceedings, government investigations and proceedings, shareholder proceedings, employment and personal
injury chims, landlord/tenant disputes, supplier-related disputes, and claims by current or fommer franchisees. Regardless of
whether claims against the [ssuerare valid or whether the Issuer is found to be liable, claims may be expensive to defend and
may divert management’s attention away from operations.

Litigation and regulatory action conceming the Issuer’s relationship with franchisees and the legal distinction
between the [ssuer’s franchiseesand the Issuer foremployment law or other puiposes, if determined adversely, could increase
costs, negatively impact the Issuer’s business operations and the business prospects of the Issuer’s franchisees and subject the
Issuer to incremental liability for their actions. Similarly, although the Issuer’s commercial relationships with its suppliers
remain independent, there may be attempts to challenge that independence, which, if determined adversely, could also
increase costs, negatively impact the business prospects of the Issuer’s suppliers, and subject the Issuer to incremental
liability fortheiractions.

The Issuer’s results could also be affected by the following:

e therelative level of thelssuer’s defense costs, which vary from periodto period depending on the number,
natureand procedural status of pending proceedings;

o thecostand othereffects of settlements, judgments or consentdecrees, which may require the Issuerto make
disclosures or take other actionsthatmay a ffect perceptions of its brand and products; and

e adverseresults of pending or future litigation, including litigation challenging the composition and preparation
of'the Issuer’s products, orthe appropriateness or accuracy ofits marketing or other communication practices.

A judgmentsignificantly in excess ofany applicable insurance coverage or third-party indemnity could materially
adversely affect the Issuer’s financial condition or results of operations. Further, adverse publicity resulting from claimsmay
hurt the [ssuer’s business. If the Issueris unable to effectively manage the risks associated with its complex regulatory and
legalenvironment, it could have a materialadverse effecton its business and financial condition.

Changes in tax laws and unanticipated tax liabilities could adversely affect the taxes the Issuer pays and the Issuer’s
profitability.

The Issueris subject to income and other taxes in the United Statesand foreign jurisdictions, and its operations, plans
and results are affected by tax and other initiatives around the world. In patticular, the Issuer is affected by the impact of
changes to tax laws or policy or related authoritative interpretations. It is also impacted by settlements of pending or any
future adjustments proposed by taxing and govemmental authorities mside and outside of the United States in connection
with its tax audits, all of which will depend on their timing, nature and scope. Any significant increases in income tax rates,
changes in income tax lhws or unfavorable resolution of tax matters could have a material adverse impact on the Issuer’s
financial results.

Changes in accounting standards or the recognition of impairment or other charges may adversely affect the Issuer’s
future operations and results.

New accounting standards or changes in financial reporting requirements, accounting principles or practices,
including with respect to the Issuer’s critical accounting estimates, could adversely affect the Issuer’s future results. The
Issuer may also be affected by the nature and timing of decisions about underperforming markets or assets, including
decisions that result in impaiment or other charges that reduce its eamings. In assessing the recoverability of the Issuer’s
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long-lived assets, the Issuer considers changes in economic conditions and makes assumptions regarding estimated future
cash flows and other factors. These estimates are highly subjective and can be significantly impacted by many factors such as
global and local business and economic conditions, operating costs, inflation, competition, consumer and demographic
trends,and the Issuer’s restructuringactivities. If the Issuer’s estimates or underlying a ssumptions change in the future, it may
be required to record impaiment charges. If the Issuer experiences any such changes, they could have a significant adverse
effect onthe Issuer’s reported results for theaffected periods.

Ifthe Issuer fails to comply with privacy and data collection laws, it could be subject to legal proceedings and penalfies,
which could negatively affectits financial results or brand perceptions.

The Issuer is subject to legal and compliance risks and associated liability related to privacy and data collection,
protection and management, as it relates to information associated with its technology-related services and platforms made
availble to business partners, customers, employees, franchisees or other third parties. For example, Regulation (EU)
2016/679 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 April, 2016 on the protection of naturalpersons with regard to
the processing of personal data and on the freemovementof such data (the “GDPR’) requires entities processing the personal
data of individuals in the European Union to meet certain requirements regarding the handling of that data. The Issuer isalso
subject to U.S. federal and state and foreign laws and regulations in this area such as the California Consumer Privacy Act
(the “CCPA”). These regultions have been subject to frequent change, and there may be markets or jurisdictions that
propose or enact new or emerging data privacy requirements in the future. Failure to comply with the GDPR, the CCPA or
other privacy and data collection laws could result in legal proceedings and substantial penalties, and materially adversely
impactthe Issuer’s financial results or brand perceptions.

Unfavorable general economic conditions could adversely affect the Issuer’s business and financial results.

The Issuer’s results of operations are substantially affected by economic conditions, including inflationary
pressures, which can vary significantly by market and can impact consumer disposable income levels and spending habits.
Economic conditions can also be impacted by a variety of factors including hostilities, epidemics, pandemics and actions
taken by governments to mana ge nationaland intemational economic matters, whether through austerity, stimulus measures
or trade measures, and initiatives intended to control wa ges, unemployment, credit availability, inflation, taxation and other
economic drivers. Sustained adverse economic conditions or periodic adverse changes in economic conditions in the Issuer’s
markets could pressure its operating performance and its business continuity disruption planning, and its business and
financial results may suffer.

The Issuer’s results of operations are also affected by fluctuations in currency exchange rates and unfavorable
currency fluctuations could adversely affectreported earnings.

Changes in commodity and other operating costs could adversely affectthe Issuer’s results of operations.

The profitability of Issuer-operated restaurants depends in patt on the Issuer’s ability to anticipate and react to
changes in commodity costs, including food, paper, supplies, fuel, utilities and distribution, and other operating costs,
including labor. Any volatility in certain commodity prices or fluctuation in labor costs could adversely affect the Issuer’s
operating results by impacting restaurant profitability. The commodity markets for some of the mngredients the Issuer uses,
such as beef and chicken, are patticularly voltile due to factors such as seasonalshifts, climate conditions, industry demand,
intemational commodity markets, food safety concerns, product recalls and government regulation, all of which are beyond
the Issuer’s control and, in many instances, unpredictable. The System can only partially address future price risk through
hedging and other activities, and therefore increases in commodity costs could have an adverse impact on the Issuer’s
profitability.

A decrease inthe Issuer’s credit ratings or an increase in the Issuer’s funding costs could adversely affect its profitability.

The Issuer’s credit ratings may be negatively affected by the Issuer’s results of operations or changes n its debt
levels. Asa result, its interest expense, the availability of acceptable counterparties, its ability to obtain funding on favorable
tems, collateral requirements and its operating or financial flexbility could all be negatively affected, especially if lenders
impose new operating or financial covenants.

The Issuer’s operations may also be impacted by regulations affecting capital flows, financial markets or financial
institutions, which can limit the Issuer’s ability to manageand deploy its liquidity or increase its funding costs. Ifany of these
events were to occur, they could have a material adverse effecton the Issuer’s business and financial condition.

Trading volatility and the price of the Issuer’s common stock maybe adversely affected by many factors.

Many factors affect the volatility and price of the Issuer’s common stock in addition to its operating results and
prospects. The mostimportantof these factors, some of which are outside the Issuer’s control, are the following:

e theunpredictable nature of global economic and market conditions;
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e governmentalaction orinactionin light of key indicators of economic activity or events that can significantly
influence financial markets, particularly in the United States, which is the principal trading market for the
Issuer’s common stock, and media reports and commentary about economic, trade or other matters, even when
the matterin question does not directly relate to the Issuer’s business;

e tradingactivity in the Issuer’s commonstock or trading activity in derivative instruments with respect to the
Issuer’s common stock ordebt securities, which can be affected by matket commentary (including commentary
that may beunreliable orincomplete), unauthorized disclosures about the Issuer’s performance, plans or
expectations aboutits business, the Issuer’s actual performance and creditworthiness, investor confidence,
driven in part by expectations about the Issuer’s performance, actions by shareholders and others seeking to
influence the Issuer’s business strategies, portfolio transactions in the Issuer’s stock by significant shareholders
or trading activity that results from the ordinaty course rebalancing of stock indices in which the Issuer may be
included, suchas the S&P 500 Index and the Dow Jones Industrial Average;

e theimpact ofthelssuer’s stockrepurchaseprogramordividendrate;and

e theimpact on the Issuer’s results of corporateactionsand marketand thirdparty perceptionsand assessmentsof
such actions, such as those the Issuer may take from time totime as it implements its strategies, including
through acquisitions, in light of changing business, legal and tax considerations and evolves its corporate
structure.

Events such as severe weather conditions, natural disasters, hostilities and social unrest, among others, can adversely
affect the Issuer’s results and prospects.

Severe weather conditions, natural disasters, hostilities and social unrest, climate change or terrorist activities (or
expectations about them) can adversely affect consumer spendingand confidence levels and supply availbility and costs, as
wellas the local operations in impa cted markets,all of which can affect the Issuer’s resultsand prospects. The Issuer’s receipt
of proceeds under any insurance it maintains with respect to some of these risks may be delayed or the proceeds may be
insufficient to cover the Issuer’s losses fully.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Offering Circular (including the mformation incorporated by reference n this Offering Circular) includes
forward-looking statements about future events and circumstances and their effects upon revenues, expenses and business
opportunities. Generally speaking, any statement contained or incorporated by reference in this Offering Circularnot based
upon historical fact is a forward-looking statement. Forward-looking statements can also be identified by the use of
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forward-looking or conditional words, such as “could,” “should,” “can,” “continue,” “estimate,” “forecast,” “intend,” “look,”
“may,” “will,” “expect,” “believe,” “anticipate,” “plan,” “remain,” “confident” and “commit” or similar expressions. In
patticular, statements regarding the Issuer’s plans, strategies, prospects and expectations regarding its business and industry
are forward-looking statements. They reflect the [ssuer’s expectations,are not guarantees of performanceand speak only as of
the date the statement is made. Except as required by law, the Issuer does not undertake to update such forward-looking
statements. The Issuer’s business results are subject to a variety of risks, including those that are reflected in the section “Risk
Factors” of this Offering Circular and as otherwise incorporated by reference herein. The considerations and risks in the
section “Risk Factors” of this Offering Circularare organized within relevant headings but may be relevant to other headings
as well. If any of these considerations or risks materialize, the Issuer’s expectations (or the underlying assumptions) may
change and its performance may beadversely a ffected. Investors should notrely unduly on forward-looking statements.

99 ¢¢
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GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAM

McDonald’s Comporation is the Issuer of the Notes under the Program. The Issuer’s legal entity identifier (LEI) is
UE2136097NLB5BYP9H04. The arranger for the Program is Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc. The dealers for the
progamare Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited (ABN 11 005 357 522), Barclays Bank PLC, BMO Capital
Markets Corp., BNP Paribas, Citigroup Global Markets Limited, Commerzbank Aktiengesellschaft, Codperatieve Rabobank
U.A,, Crédit Agricole Cormporate and Investment Bank, Credit Suisse Intemational, Goldman Sachs International, HSBC
Bank plc, ING Bank N.V., J.P. Morgan Securities plc, Merrill Lynch Intemational, Mizuho Internationalplc, Morgan Stanley
& Co. Intemationalplc, MUFG Securities EMEA plc, RBC Europe Limited, SMBC Nikko Capital Markets Limited, Société
Génénale, Standard Chartered Bank, The Toronto-Dominion Bank, UniCredit Bank AG, Wells Fargo Securities Intemational
Limited and Westpac Banking Corporation, as well as any other dealer appointed from time to time by the Issuer either
generally in respect of the Program orin relation to a particular Tranche.

The Issuer may issue Notes up to a maximum of U.S.$20,000,000,000 in aggregate principal amountor the equivalent
thereof in one or more foreign currencies under the Program. The Issuer may reauthorize the issuance of Notes, and the
maximum a ggregate principal amount of Notes that may be issued may be increased (any such increase subject to compliance
with the relevant tenms of the Dealership Agreement (as defined below)), from time to time. Notesmay have a maturity between
onemonth and 60 years, subject, in relation to specific currencies, to compliance with allapplicable legal, regulatory and central
bankrequirements.

Each Series may be admitted to trading on the Euro MTF Market and listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange and/orany other stock exchange, as may be agreed upon by and between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s)
and specified in therelevant Pricing Supplement, or may be unlisted.

A Pricing Supplement willbe prepared in respectof each Tranche of Notes, and in the case of Notes to be traded on the
Euro MTF Market, a copy of such Pricing Supplement will be delivered to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, on or before the
closing date forthe sale of such Notes.
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

The following are the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, which, as completed in relation to any Notes by the
relevant Pricing Supplement, and as otherwise provided below, will be applicableto each Series:

The Notes are issued pursuant to and in accordance with the Third Amendedand Restated Fiscaland Paying Agency
Agreement (as amended, supplemented or replaced, the “Fiscal Agency Agreement”), dated May 11, 2017, as amended
from time to time, by and among McDonald’s Comporation (the “Issuer”), BNP Parbas Securities Services, Luxembourg
Branch, in its capacity as fiscalagent (such fiscalagent or such other person acting in a similar capacity as specified in the
relevant Pricing Supplement, the “Fiscal Agent,” which expression shall include any successor to such agent in such
capacity), principal paying a gent (such principal paying agent or such other person acting in a similar capacity as specified in
the relevant Pricing Supplement, the “Principal Paying Agent,” which expression shall include any successor to such
principal payingagent in such capacity), registrar (such registrar or such other personacting in a similar capacity as specified
in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the “Registrar,” which expression shall include any successor to such registrar in such
capacity)and transferagent (such transfer agent or such other person acting in a similar capacity as specified in the relevant
Pricing Supplement, the “Transfer Agent,” which expression shall include any successor to such transfer agent in such
capacity), and the paying agents named therein (the “Paying Agents,” which expression shall include the Fiscal Agent,
Principal Paying Agent and any substitute or additional paying agents appointed in accordance with the Fiscal Agency
Agreement). Copies of the Fiscal Agency Agreement are available for inspection during nomal business hours at the
specified office of each of the Paying Agents and the Registrar. All persons from time to time entitled to the benefit of
obligations under any Notes shall be deemed to have notice of, and shall be bound by, all of the provisions of the Fiscal
Agency Agreement insofar as they relate tothe relevantNotes.

The Notes are issued in series (each,a “Series”),and each Series may comprise one or more tranches (“Tranches”
and each,a “Tranche”) of Notes. Each Tranche will be the subject of a pricing supplement (each, a “Pricing Supplement”),
a copy of which will be available for inspection (and a copy of which may be obtained) duringnomal business hours at the
specified office of the Fiscal Agent. In the case of a Tranche in relation to which application has not been made for listing on
any stock exchange, copies of the Pricing Supplement will only be available for inspection by a Holder (as defined in
Conditions 2.01 and 2.07) in respect of such Notes. The Notes of each Series will all be subject to identical terms, except that
(i) the issue date and the amount of the first payment of nterest may be different in respect of different Tranches; and (ii) a Series
may comprise Notes in more than one denomination. The Notes of each Tranche will all be subject to identical terms in all
respects except that a Tranche may comprise Notes of different denomnations. Notes may be issued atany price, as specified in
the relevant Pricing Supplement.

References in these Terms and Conditions to Notes are to Notes of the relevant Series.

References in these Terms and Conditions to the Pricing Supplement are to the Pricing Supplement prepared in
relation to the Notes ofthe relevant Tranche or Series.

In respect of any Notes, references herein to these Terms and Conditions are to these Temms and Conditions, as
completed by the relevant Pricing Supplement. Each Pricing Supplement prepared in relation to the Notes of such issuance
may, forthe avoidance of doubt, supplement, modify or replace these Terms and Conditions.

Capitalized temms used in these Temrms and Conditions and not otherwise defined herein or in the relevant Pricing
Supplement shall havethe meanings given to them in Condition 21.

1. Form and Denomination

1.01  Notes may be issued in registered form (“Registered Notes”) or bearer form (“Bearer Notes’), as
specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement. Bearer Notes may not be issued unless such Notes are treated as issued in
registered fom for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Registered Notes will not be exchangeable for Bearer Notes and vice
versa, except in the case of the exchange of Global Bearer Notes (as defined herein) for Defmitive Notes (as defined herem) in
certain limited circumstances, as described below.

Registered Notes

1.02  Each Tranche of Registered Notes will be represented upon issue by a global Note in registered form (a
“Global Registered Note”). GlobalRegistered Notes will be registered in the name of a nomiee fora common depositary (a
“Common Depositary”) for Euroclear Bank S.A/N.V. (“Euroclear”) and/or Clearstream Banking S.A. (“Clearstream,
Luxembourg”) and/or any other relevant clearing system. Under certain limited circumstances, interests in a Global
Registered Note may be exchanged for definitive Notes in registered form, which will be serially numbered (“Definitive
Notes”).
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Bearer Notes

1.03  Each Tranche of Bearer Notes will be represented upon issue by a global Note in bearer form (a “Global
Bearer Note”). Global Bearer Notes will be delivered to a Common Depositary (or a nominee thereof) for Euroclear and/or
Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system, in any case as patt of an arrangement that results in the
issuance of a debt obligation in registered form for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Under certain limited circumstances,
interests in a Global Bearer Notemay be exchanged for Definitive Notes.

Definitive Notes

1.04  Interests in a GlobalRegistered Note ora Global Bearer Note will be exchanged by the Issuer in whole, but
not in patt only,at the option of the Holder of such Global Registered Note or Global Bearer Note, as the case may be, for
Defmitive Notes, (a) if an Event of Default (as described in Condition 7.01) occurs in respect of any Note of the relevant
Series or (b) if either Furoclear; Clearstream, Luxembourg; or any other relevant clearing system is closed for business fora
continuous period of fourteen days (other than by reason of public holidays) or announces an intention to cease business
pemanently or in fact does so without a successor. Interests in a Global Registered Note or a Global Bearer Note will be
exchanged by the Issuer in whole, but not in part only, at the option of the Issuer upon a change i tax law that would be
adverse to the Issuer but for the issuance of Definitive Notes, completed in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
Fiscal Agency Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, no Holder shall be pemitted to remove or repossess a Global
Registered Note ora GlobalBearer Note from Euroclear; Clearstream, Luxembourg; or any other relevant clearing system,
except in exchange for Definitive Notes in the circumstances pemitted by this Condition 1.04, and such Holder will be
required to provide any information necessary for the exchange of such interest for Definitive Notes. Any exchange of Notes
pursuantto this Condition 1.04 shallbe at the cost and expense of theIssuer.

Denominations

1.05  Notes will have a minimum denomination of €100,000 (or if the Notes are denommated ina currency other
than euro, as specified in the Pricing Supplement, at least the equivalent thereof in such currency using the spot rate as of the
date of issue) oras specified in the Pricing Supplement. Notes (including Notes denominated in pounds sterling) in respect of
which the issue proceeds are to be accepted in the United Kingdom or which issue otherwise constitutes a contravention of
Section 19 of the Fnancial Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended (the “FSMA”) and which have a maturity of less than
one year shallhave a minimum denommationand redemption value of £100,000 (or if the Notes are denominated in a currency
other than pounds sterling, as specified in the Pricing Supplement,at lea st the equiva lent thereof in such currency using the spot
rate as of the date of issue). Notes having an original term to maturity of 183 days or less shallhavea minimum denomination
of $500,000 (or if the Notes are denominated in a currency other than U.S. dollars, as specified in the Pricing Supplement, at
least the equivalent thereof in such currency). Notes of one denomination may not be exchanged for Notes of any other
denomination.

Currency of Notes

1.06  The Notes are denominated in such currency as may be specified n the Pricing Supplement. Any currency
may be so specified subject to compliance with all applicable legal, regulatory and central bank requirements. If the Notes
will be paid in a currency other than the currency in which they are denommated, such currency will be specified in the
Pricing Supplement.

2. Title and Transfer
Registered Notes

2.01  The Registrar will maintain the register (the “Register”) in accordance with the provisions of the Fiscal
Agency Agreement. A Registered Note will be issued to each Holder (as defined below) in respect of its registered holding. If
issued, each Definitive Note will be numbered serially and recorded in the Register. References herein to the “Holders” or
“holders” of Registered Notesare to the persons in whose name such Registered Notesare for the time beingregistered in the
Register (or, in the case of a joint holding, the first named thereof), unless otherwise specified in the relevant Pricing
Supplement. So long as a Common Depositary (or a nominee thereof) is the person in whose name any Global Registered
Note is registered in the Register, such Common Depositary (ora nominee thereof) will be considered the sole Holder of the
Notes represented by such Global Registered Note forall purposes under these Terms and Conditions.

2.02  The Holder of any Registered Note will (except as otherwise required by applicable law or regulatory
requirement) be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes (whether or not it is overdue and regardless of any notice of
ownership, trust or any interest thereof or therein, any writing thereon, orany theft or loss thereof), and no person shall be
liable forso treating such Holder.
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2.03  Subject to Conditions 2.05 and 2.06 below, a Registered Note may be transferred upon surrender of the
relevant Global Registered Note or Definitive Note (as the case may be), with the endorsed fomm of transfer duly completed,
at the specified office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent, together with such evidence as the Registrar or such Transfer
Agent (as the case may be) may reasonably require to prove the title of the transferor and the authority of the individuals who
have executed the fomm of transfer; provided, however, that a Registered Note may not be transferred unless the principal
amount of Registered Notes transferred and (where not all of the Registered Notes held by a Holder are being transferred) the
principal amount of the balance of Registered Notes not transferred are Specified Denominations. Where not all the
Registered Notes represented by the surrendered Global Registered Note or Definitive Note are the subject of the transfer, a
new Global Registered Note or Definitive Note in respect of the balnce of the Registered Notes will be issued to the
transferor.

2.04  Within five business days of the surrender of a GlobalRegistered Note ora Definitive Note in accordance
with Condition 2.03 above, the Registrar will register the transfer in question and shallassist the Fiscal Agent in deliveringa
new Global Registered Note or a Definitive Note (as the case may be) of a like principal amount to the Registered Notes
transferred to each relevant Holder at its specified office or (as the case may be) the specified office of any Transfer Agent or
(at the request and risk of any such relevant Holder) by uninsured first class mail (aimmail if overseas) to the address specified
for the purpose of such relevant Holder. In this paragraph, “business day” means a day on which commercial banks are open
for general business (including dealings in foreign currencies) in the city where the Registrar or the relevant Transfer Agent
(asthe case maybe)has its specified office).

2.05 The transfer of a Registered Note will be effected without charge by or on behalf of the Issuer or the
Registrarorany Transfer Agent but against such indemnity as the Registrar or such Transfer Agent (as the case may be) may
require in respect of any tax or other duty of whatsoever nature which may be levied or imposed in connection with such
transfer.

2.06 Holders may not require transfers to be registered during the period of 15 days ending on the due date for
any paymentof principal or interest in respectof the Registered Notes.

Bearer Notes

2.07 Titleto GlobalBearer Notes passes by delivery. References herein to the “Holders” or “holders” of Global
Bearer Notes are to the bearers of such Notes, unless otherwise specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement. For the
avoidance of doubt, so longasa Common Depositary (or a nominee thereof) is the bearer of any Global Bearer Note, such
Common Depositaty (ornominee thereof) will be considered the sole Holder of the Notes represented by such Global Bearer
Note forall purposes under these Terms and Conditions.

2.08  The Holder of any Global Bearer Note will (unless otherwise specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement
and exceptas otherwise required by applicable law orregulatory requirement) be treated as its absolute ownerforall purposes
(whether or not it is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust orany interest thereof or therein, any writing
thereon, oranytheftorloss thereof) andno person shall be liable forso treating such Holder.

3. Status of the Notes

The Notes are unsecured obligations of the Issuer, ranking equally with all other unsecured and unsubordinated
indebtedness for borrowed money of the Issuer. Certain unsecured obligations of the Issuer may, however, under certain
circumstances, become secured by mortga ges pursuant to negative pledge covenants applicable to such obligations while the
Notes remain unsecured (see Condition4 below).

4. Certain Covenant

The Issuer hereby a grees that if it shall create, incuror assumeany Real Property Mortga geas security forany Public
Indebtedness incurred after the date hereof, and as a result thereof is required by any agreement or instrument to secure any
other Public Indebtedness then outstanding by such Real Property Mortga ge, then the Issuer will secure the Notes equally and
ratably with all such Public Indebtedness.

The term “Real Property” means land, leases, the buildings or inprovements on owned or leased land or leased
premises, either owned in fee simple or leased by the Issuer orone of its subsidiaries. The tem “Real Property Mortgage”
means a mortgage upon or affecting Real Property. The temm “Public Indebtedness” means any obligation for money
borrowed or incurred in connection with the acquisition of stock or assets of any other corporation or entity (whether by
purchase, merger or otherwise) and whichis evidenced by securities publicly distributed by oron behalfof theIssuer.
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5. Interest
Interest
5.01 Notesmaybe interest-bearing or non-interest-bearing, as specified in the Pricing Supplement.
Interest-bearing Notes

5.02  Notes which are specified in the Pricing Supplement as being interest-bearing shall bear interest from their
Interest Commencement Dateat the Interest Rate payable in arrears on each Interest Payment Date.

If specified i the Pricing Supplement, the Interest Rate payable may be converted, at the option of the Issuer, from
a fixed rateto a floatingrate, or froma floatingrateto a fixed rate, at any time, including between Interest Payment Dates.

If a Fixed Coupon Amount or a Broken Amount is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the amount of
interest payable on the relevant Interest Payment Date will amount to the Fixed Coupon Amount or, if applicable, the Broken
Amount so specified, and in the case of the Broken Amount will be payable on the particular Interest Payment Date(s)
specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Floating Rate Notes

5.03  If the relevant Pricing Supplement specifies the Interest Rate applicable to the Notes as being “Floating
Rate,” it shallalso specify which page (the “Relevant Screen Page”) on the Reuters Screen, orany other information service,
shall be applicable. If such a page is so specified, the Interest Rate applicable to the relevant Notes for each Interest Accrual
Period shallbe determined by the Calculation Agenton the followingbasis:

(1) the Calculation Agent will detemine the Reference Rate (or, as the case may require, the arithmetic mean
(rounded, if necessary, to the nearest ten thousandth of a percenta ge point, 0.00005 being rounded upwards) of
the Reference Rates) in the Relevant Currency for a period of the duration of the relevant Interest Accrual
Period on the Relevant Screen Page as of theRelevant Time on therelevant Interest Determination Date;

(i)) if, on any Interest Detenmination Date, no such rate so appears (or, as the case may be, if fewer than two such
rates so appear) or if the Relevant Screen Page is unavailable, the Calculation Agent will request appropriate
quotations and will detemine the arithmetic mean (rounded as aforesaid) of the Reference Rates by four
Reference Banks at approximately the Relevant Time on the Interest Detenmination Date to prime banks in the
London intetbank market fora period of the duration of the relevant Interest Accrual Period and in an amount
that is representative fora single transactionin the relevantmarketatthe Relevant Time;

(iii) if, on any Interest Determination Date, only two or three rates are so quoted, the Calculation Agent will
determine thearithmetic mean (rounded as aforesaid) of therates so quoted; or

(iv) if fewer than two rates are so quoted, the Calculation Agent will detemmine the arithmetic mean (rounded as
aforesaid) of the rates quoted by four major banks i the Relevant Financial Center (or, in the case of Notes
denominated in euro, in such financial center or centers as the Calculation Agent may select) selected by the
Calculation Agent, at approximately 11:00 am. (Relevant Financial Center time (or local time at such other
financial center or centers as aforesaid)) on the first day of the relevant Interest Accrual Period for loans in the
Relevant Currency to leading European banks fora period for the duration of the relevant Interest Accral
Period and in an amount that is representative for a single transaction in the relevant market at the Relevant
Time,

and the Interest Rate applicable to such Notes during each Interest Accrual Period will be the sum of the relevant margin (the
“Relevant Margin”) specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement and the rate (or, as the case may be, the arithmetic mean
(rounded as aforesaid) of the rates) so determined; provided, however, that if the Calculation Agent is unable to detemine a
rate (or, as the case may be, an arithmetic mean of rates) in accordance with the above provisions in relation to any Interest
Accrual Period, the Interest Rate applicable to such Notes during such Interest Accrual Period will be the sum of the Relevant
Margin and the rate (or, as the case may be, the arithmetic mean (rounded as aforesaid) of the rates) determined in relation to
such Notes in respect ofthe lastpreceding Interest Accrual Period.

Maximum or Minimum Interest Rate

5.04 If any Maximum or Mmnimum Interest Rate is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, then the
Interest Rate shallin no event be greater than the maximum or be less than the minimum so specified.
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Accrual of Interest

5.05 Interest shallaccrue on the Outstanding Principal Amount of each Note during each Interest Accrual Period
from the Interest Commencement Date. Interest will cease to accrue on the due date for redemption thereforunless upon due
presentation or surrender thereof (if required), payment in full of the Redemption Amount (as defined in Condition 6.10) is
improperly withheld or refused or default is otherwise made in the payment thereof in which case interest shall continue to
accrueon the principalamount in respect of which payment has been improperly withheld orrefused or default has been made
(aswellafter as before any demand orjudgment) at the Interest Rate then applicable or such otherrate as may be specified for
this pupose in the relevant Pricing Supplement (“Default Interest Rate”) until the date on which, upon due presentation or
surrender of the relevant Note (if required), the relevant payment is made or, if earlier (except where presentation or surrender
of the relevant Note is not required as a precondition of payment), the seventh day after the date on which, the Fiscal Agent
having received the funds required to make such payment, notice is given to the Holders of the Notes in accordance with
Condition 16 that the Fiscal Agent has received the required funds (except to the extent that there is failure in the subsequent
paymentthereof to the relevant Holder).

Interest Amount(s), Calculation Agent and Reference Banks

5.06 IfaCalulation Agentis specified in the Pricing Supplement, the Calculation Agent,as soon as practicable
afterthe Relevant Time on each Interest Determination Date (or such other time on such dateas the Calculation Agent maybe
required to calculateany Redemption Amount (as defined in Condition 6.10), obtain any quote or make any determination or
calculation) will determine the Interest Rate and calculate the amount(s) of interest payable (the “Interest Amount(s)”),
which may be the Fixed Coupon Amount orthe Broken Amount, as the case may be, in respect of each denomination of the
Notes forthe relevant Interest Accrual Period, calculate the Redemption Amount (as defined in Condition 6.10), obtain such
quote or make such determination or calculation, as the case may be, and cause the Interest Rate and the Interest Amounts for
each Interest Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date or the Redemption Amount (as defined in Condition 6.10) to be
notified to the Fiscal Agent, the Issuer, the Holders in accordance with Condition 16 and, if the Notes are listed on a stock
exchange and the rules of such exchange so require, such exchange as soonas possble after their determination or calculation
but in no event later than the fourth London Banking Day (or, if the Calculation Agent is located in Luxembourg, the fourth
Luxembourg Banking Day) thereafter or, if earlier in the case of notification to the stock exchange, the time required by the
rules of the relevant stock exchange. The Interest Amounts and the Interest Payment Date so notified may subsequently be
amended (orappropriatealtemative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without notice i the event of an extension or
shortening of an Interest Accrual Period orthe Interest Period. If the Notes become due and payable pursuant to Condition 7,
the Interest Rate and the accrued interest payable in respect of the Notes shall nevertheless continue to be calculated as
previously in accordance with this Condition 5 but no publication of the Interest Rate or the Interest Amount so calculated
need be made. The detemrmination of each Interest Rate, Interest Amount, Redemption Amount, the obtaining of each quote
and the making of each detemmination or calculation by the Calulation Agent shall (in theabsence of manifest error) be final
and binding upon the Issuer and the Holders and neither the Calculation Agent nor any Reference Bank shall have any
liability to the Holders in respectof any determination, calculation, quote orrate madeorprovided by it.

The Issuer will ensure that there shall at all times be such Reference Banks as may be required for the purpose of
detemining the Interest Rate applicable to the Notes and a Calculation Agent, if provision is made for one in the Pricing
Supplement.

If the Calculation Agent is incapable orunwillingto actas such, orif the Calculation Agent fails duly to establish the
Interest Rate forany Interest Accrual Period or to calculate the Interest Amounts orany other requirements, the Issuer will
appoint the London office of a leading bank engaged in the London intetbank market to act as such in its place. The
Calculation Agentmay notresign its duties without a successorhavingbeen appointedas aforesaid.

Calculations and Adjustments

5.07  The amount of interest payable in respect of any Note forany period shall be calculated by multiplying the
product of the Interest Rate and the Outstanding Principal Amount by the Day Count Fraction, except that if the Pricing
Supplement specifies a specific amount in respect of such period, the amount of interest payable in respect of such Note for
such period will be equal to such specified amount. Where any Interest Period comprises two or more Interest Accrual
Periods, the amount of interest payable in respect of such Interest Period will be the sum of the amounts of interest payable in
respect of each of those Interest Accrual Periods.

For the puiposes of any calculations referred to in these Temrms and Conditions (unless otherwise specified in the
Pricing Supplement), (a)all percentages resulting from such calkulations will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one
hundred-thousandth of a percentage point (with 0.000005 percent being rounded up to 0.00001 percent), (b)all U.S. dollar
amounts used in or resulting from such calculations will be ounded to the nearest cent (with one half cent being rounded up),
(c) all Japanese Yenamounts used in or resulting from such calculations will be rounded downwards to the next lower whole
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Japanese Yen amount and (d) allamounts denominated in any other currency used in or resulting from such calculations will
beroundedto thenearest two decimal places in such currency, with 0.005 being rounded upwards.

Non-interest-bearing Notes

5.08 If any Maturity Redemption Amount (as defined in Condition 6.01) in respect of any Note which is
non-interest-bearing is not paid when due, interest shall accrue on the overdue amount at a rate perannum (expressed asa
percentage per annum) equal to the Amortization Yield as specified in, or detetmined in accordance with the provisions of,
the Pricing Supplement orat such other rate as may be specified for this purpose in the Pricing Supplement until the date on
which,upon due presentation or surrender of the relevant Note (if required), the relevant payment is made or, if earlier (except
where presentation or surrender of the relevant Note is not required as a precondition of payment), the seventh day after the
date on which, the Fiscal Agent having received the funds required to make such payment, notice is given to the Holders of
the Notes in accordance with Condition 16 that the Fiscal Agent has received the required funds (except to the extent that
there is failure in the subsequent payment thereof to the relevant Holder). The amount of any such interest shall be calculated
in accordance with the provisions of Condition 5.07 as if the Interest Rate was the Amottization Yield, the Outstanding
Principal Amount was the overdue sum and the Day Count Fraction was as specified for this purpose in the Pricing
Supplement or, if not so specified, 30E/360 (as defined in Condition 21).

6. Redemption and Purchase
Redemption at Maturity

6.01  Unless previously redeemed, or purchased and cancelled, each Note shall be redeemed at its maturity
redemption amount (the “Maturity Redemption Amount”) (which shallbe its Outstanding Principal Amount) on the date or
dates (or, in the case of Notes which bear interest at a floating rate of interest, on the date or dates upon which interest is
payable) specified in the Pricing Supplement.

Early Redemption for Taxation Reasons
6.02  If,inrelation to any Series:

(i) asa result of any change i, or amendment to, the laws, regulations or rulings of the United States or of any
political subdivision thereof or any authority or agency therein or thereof having power to tax or in the
application, interpretation oradministration of any such laws, regulations or rulings which becomes effective on
orafterthe date of issue of such Notes orany other date specified in the Pricing Supplement, the Issuer would be
required to pay additional amounts as provided in Condition §;

(ii) such obligation cannotbe avoided by the Issuertaking reasonable measures available to it; and

(iii) such circumstances are evidenced by the delivery by the Issuer to the Fiscal Agent of a certificate signed by the
Issuer stating that the said circumstances prevail and describing the facts leading thereto and an opinion of legal
counselreasonably satisfactory to the Fiscal Agent to theeffect that such circumstances prevail;

then the Issuer may, at its option, having given not less than 30 normore than 60 days’ notice (ending, in the case of Notes
which bear interest at a floating rate, on a day upon which interest is payable) to the Holders of the Notes in accordance with
Condition 16 (which notice shall be irrevocable), redeem all (but not part) of the outstanding Notes comprising the relevant
Series at their early tax redemption amount (the “Early Redemption Amount (Tax)”) (which shall be their Outstanding
Principal Amount or, in the case of Notes which are non-interest-bearing, their Amortized Face Amount (as defined in
Condition 6.11) or such other redemption amount as may be specified in the Pricing Supplement), together with accrued
interest (if any) thereon; provided, however, that no such notice of redemption may be given earlier than 90 days (or, in the
case of Notes which bear interest ata floating rate a number of days which is equal to the aggregate of the number of days
falling within the then current interest period applicable to the Notes plus 60 days) prior to the earliest date on which the
Issuer would be obliged to pay suchadditionalamounts were a payment in respectof the Notes thendue.

The Issuer may not exercise such option in respect of any Note which is the subject of the prior exercise by the
Holderthereof of its option to require the redemption of such Note under Condition 6.06.
Optional Early Redemption (Call)

6.03  If this Condition 6.03 is specified in the Pricing Supplement as being applicable, the Issuer may, having
given theappropriate noticeand subject to such conditionsasmay be specified in the Pricing Supplement, redeem all (but not,
unless and to the extent that the Pricing Supplement specifies otherwise, in part only) of the Notes of the relevant Series at
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their call early redemption amount (the “Early Redemption Amount (Call)”) (which shall be their Outstanding Principal
Amount or, in the case of Notes which are non-interest-bearing, their Amortized Face Amount or such other redemption
amount (in any case, not less than the Minimum Redemption Amount nor more than the Maximum Redemption Amount if so
specified in the Pricing Supplement) as may be specified in the Pricing Supplement), together with accrued interest (if any)
thereon onthe date specified in such notice.

The Issuer may not exercise such option in respect of any Note that is the subject of the prior exercise by the Holder
thereof ofits optionto require the redemption of such Note under Condition 6.06.

6.04  The appropriate notice referred to in Condition 6.03 is a notice given by the Issuer to the Holders of the
Notes of the relevant Series in accordance with Condition 16, which notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify:

(i) the Series subject toredemption;

(i) whether such Series is to be redeemed in whole or in patt only and, if in part only, the aggregate principal
amount ofandthe serialnumbers (if applicable) of the Notes ofthe relevant Series which are to be redeemed;

(iii) the due date(s) for such redemption, which shall be not less than thirty days normore than sixty days after the
date on which such notice is given (the “Call Option Date(s)’) ora day falling within such period (the “Call
Option Period”), as may be specified in the Pricing Supplement and which is, in the case of Notes which bear
interest at a floatingrate, a dateupon which interest is payable; and

(iv) the Early Redemption Amount (Call) at which such Notes are to beredeemed.
Partial Redemption
6.05  Ifthe Notesofa Seriesare to be redeemed in partonly onanydatein accordance with Condition6.03:

(i) in the case of Definitive Notes, the Definitive Notes to be redeemed shall be drawn by lot in such European city
as the Fiscal Agent may specify, or identified in such manner or in such other phce as the Fiscal Agent may
approveand deem appropriate and fair; and

(i) in the case of a Global Registered Note or Global Bearer Note, the Notes to be redeemed shall be selected in
accordance with the mles of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing
system (as the case maybe),

subject always to compliance with all applicable laws and the requirements of any stock exchange on which the relevant
Notes may be listed; provided that any such redemption in part only must be of an amount not less than the Minimum
Redemption Amount nor more than the Maximum Redemption Amount if so specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement
and in any case shallnot result in any redemption that would cause outstanding Notes to be in a denomination less than any
specified minimum denomination set forthin the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Optional Early Redemption (Put)

6.06  If this Condition 6.06 is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable and subject to
further qualification therein, the Issuer shall, upon the exercise of the relevant option by the Holder of any Note of the
relevant Series, redeem such Note on the date specified in the relevant Put Notice (as defined below) at its put early
redemption amount (the “Early Redemption Amount (Put)”) (which shallbe its Outstanding Principal Amount or, if such
Note is non-interest-bearing, its Amortized Face Amount or such other redemption amount as may be specified in the
relevant Pricing Supplement), together with accrued interest (if any) thereon. To exercise such option, the Holder must, not
less than forty-five days before the date on which such redemption is required to be made as specified in the Put Notice (the
“Put Date(s)”) (or a day falling within such period (the “Put Period’) as may be specified in the relevant Pricing
Supplement), deposit the relevant Note during nommalbusiness hours at the specified office of any Paying Agent together
witha duly completed early redemption notice (“Put Notice”) specifying the a ggregate principalamount in respect of which
such option is exercised (which must be the minimum denomination specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement or an
integralmultiple thereof). Each relevant Put Notice shall be in such form as may be agreed to by the Issuer and the Fiscal
Agent and shall be made available at the specified office of any of the Paying Agents. No Note so deposited and option
exercised may be withdrawn (exceptas provided in the Fiscal Agency Agreement).

The Holdermay not exercise such option in respect of any Note that is the subject of an exercise by the Issuer of its
option to redeem such Noteunder either Condition 6.02 or6.03.

PurchaseofNotes

6.07  Thelssuerorany of is subsidiaries may atany time purchase Notes in the open market or otherwise and at
any price.
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Cancellation of Redeemed and Purchased Notes

6.08  Allunmatured Notes redeemed or purchased in accordance with this Condition 6, oras otherwise specified
in the relevant Pricing Supplement, will be cancelled forthwithand maynotbe reissued orresold.

Further Provisions applicable to Redemption Amount

6.09  The provisions of Condition 5.06 and the last paragraph of Condition 5.07 shallapply to any determination
or calculation of the Redemption Amount required by the relevant Pricing Supplement to be made by the Calculation Agent.

6.10  References herein to “Redemption Amount’ shall mean, as appropriate, the Maturity Redemption
Amount, Early Redemption Amount (Tax), Early Redemption Amount (Call), Early Redemption Amount (Put) and Early
Temination Amount or such other amount in the nature of a redemption amount as may be specified in the Pricing
Supplement. If any Minimum Redemption Amount or Maximum Redemption Amount is specified in the relevant Pricing
Supplement, then the Redemption Amount shall in no event be greater than the maximum or less than the minimum so
specified.

6.11  In the case of any Note which is non-interest-bearing, the “Amortized Face Amount” shall be an amount
equalto thesumof:

(i) thelssue Price specifiedin the relevant Pricing Supplement; and

(ii) the product of the Amottization Yield (compounded annually) being applied to the Issue Price from (and
including) the [ssue Date specified in the Pricing Supplement to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption or
(asthe case maybe)the date upon which such Note becomes due and repayable.

Where such calculation is to be made fora period which is not a whole number of years, the calculation in respect of
the period of less than a full year shall be made on the basis of the Day Count Fraction specified in the relevant Pricing
Supplement forthe purposes ofthis Condition 6.11.

6.12  In the case of any Note that is non-interest-bearing, if any Redemption Amount (other than the Maturity
Redemption Amount) is improperly withheld or refused or defaul is otherwise made in the payment thereof, the Amortized
Face Amount shall be calculated as provided in Condition 6.11 but as if references in subparagraph (ii) to the date fixed for
redemption orthe date upon which such Notebecomes dueand repayable were replaced by references to theearlier of:

(i) the date on which, upon due presentation or surrender of the relevant Note (if required), the relevant payment is
made; and

(i) (except where presentation or surrender of the relevant Note is not required as a precondition of payment), the
seventh day after the date on which, the Fiscal Agent having received the funds required to make such payment,
notice is given to the Holders of the Notes in accordance with Condition 16 of that circumstance (except to the
extent that there is a failure in the subsequent payment thereofto therelevant Holder).

7. Events of Default

7.01  The followingevents or circumstances (each an “Event of Default”) shallbeacceleration events in relation
to the Notes of any Series, namely:

() failure on the patt of the Issuer to pay all or any part of any instaliment of interest on any of the Notes of a
patticular Series (whether at maturity or on redemption or otherwise) for 30 days after such payment shall
become due and payable;

(ii) failure on the patt of the Issuer to pay all orany patt of the principal of the Notes ofa particular Series (whether
at maturity or on redemption or otherwise) for 15 days after such payment shallbecome due and payable;

(iii) failure on the part of the Issuer to perform or observe any other temm, covenant oragreement on the patt of the
Issuercontained in the Notes of a patticular Series fora period of 60 days (120 days with respect to the Issuer’s
compliance with the Issuer’s Certain Covenant described in Condition 4) after there has been given, by
registered or cettified mail, to the Issuer and the Fiscal Agent by the Holders of 25% or more in aggregate
principal amount of the Notes of the relevant Series at the time outstanding a written notice specifying such
failure andstatingthatsuchisa “Notice of Default” hereunder;

(iv) the entrybya court havingjurisdiction in the premisesofa decree or order for relief in respect of the Issuerinan
involuntary case under any applicable bankmuptcy, insolvency or other similar hwnow or hereafter in effect, or
appointing a receiver, liquidator, assignee, custodian, trustee, sequestrator (or similar official) of the Issuer or
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forany substantial pait of its property, or ordering the windingup or liquidation of its affairs, if such decree or
ordershallremain unstayed and in effectfora period of 60 consecutive days; or

(v) the commencement by the Issuer of a voluntary case under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other
similar hwnow or hereafter in effect, or the Issuer’s consent to the entry of an order for relief in any involuntary
case under any such law, or its consent to the appointment of or taking possession by a receiver, liquidator,
assignee, twstee, custodian, sequestrator (or similar official) of the Issuer or for any substantial part of its
property, or the making by the Issuer of any general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or its failure
genemally to pay its debtsas they become due or the taking by theIssuer ofany corporateaction in furtherance of
any of the foregoing.

7.02  If such an Event of Default shall occur and be continuing, in relation to any Series, the Holder of the
relevant Series may, at such Holder’s option, declare the Outstanding Principal Amount of such Note (or, if such Note is
non-interest-bearing, its Amortized Face Amount) or such other early tenmination amount (the “Early Termination
Amount’) as may be specified in the provisions of the relevant Pricing Supplement) and the accrued, but unpaid, stated
interest thereon, if any, to be due and payable immediately by written notice to the Issuerand the Fiscal Agent,and unlessall
such defaults shall have been cured by the Issuer prior to receipt of such written notice, the Outstanding Principal Amount of
such Note and the accrued, butunpaid, stated interest thereon, if any, shallbecomeand be immediately due and payable.

8. Taxation

8.01  Allamounts payable (whether in respect of principal, interest or otherwise) in respect of the Notes will be
made free and clear of and without withholding or deduction for or on account of any present or future taxes, assessments or
governmental charges of whatever nature imposed or levied by oron behalf of the United States orany political subdivision
thereof orany authority oragency therein or thereof having power to tax, unless the withholding or deduction of such taxes,
assessments or govemmental charges is required by law. In that event, the Issuer ora payingagent (on behalf of the Issuer)
will make all required withholdings and deductions, will remit the full amount withheld or deducted to the relevant taxing
authority as required by law, and will pay such additional amounts as may be necessary in order that the net amounts
receivable by a Holder who isa U.S. Alien, after such withholding or deduction, shall equal the amounts that would have been
receivable by such Holder in the absence of such withholding or deduction, except that the obligation to pay such additional
amounts shallnot apply to:

(1) any tax,assessment or other govemmentalcharge that would not have been imposed but for (a) the existence of
any present or former connection between such Holder (or between a fiduciary, settlor or beneficiary of, ora
person holdinga power over, such Holder, if such Holder is an estate ora trust, ora member or shareholder of
such Holder, if such Holder is a partnership or a cowporation) and the United States, including, without
limitation, such Holder (or such fiduciary, settlor, beneficiaty, person holdinga power, member or shareholder)
beingorhavingbeena citizen or resident thereof orbeing orhaving been enga ged in trade or business or present
therein orhavingor havinghad a permanent establishment therein or (b) such Holder’s past or present status as
a personal holding company or private foundation or other tax-exempt organization with respect to the United
States oras a corporation thataccumulates earnings to avoid U.S. federal income tax;

(i) any estate, inheritance, gift, sales, transfer or personal property tax or any similar tax, assessment or other
governmental charge;

(iii) any tax, assessment or other govemmental charge that would not have been imposed but for the presentation by
the Holder for payment more than 30 days after the date on which such payment became due and payable oron
which payment thereof was duly provided for, whichever occurs later;

(iv) any tax, assessment or other govemmental charge that is payable otherwise than by deduction or withholding
from a paymenton a Note;

(v) any tax, assessment or other govemmental charge required to be deducted or withheld by any Paying Agent
from a payment on a Note, if such payment can be made without such deduction or withholding by any other
Paying Agent;

(vi) any tax, assessment or other govemmental charge that would not have been imposed but fora failure to comply
with any applicable certification, documentation, information or other reporting requirement concerning the
nationa lity, residence, identity or connection with the United States of the Holder or beneficial owner of a Note
if, without regard to any tax treaty, such compliance is required by statute or regulation of the United States asa
precondition to relief or exemption from such tax, assessment or other governmental charge;

(vii) any tax, assessment or other governmental charge that would not have been imposed but for a failure by the
Holder orbeneficial owner (or any financial institution through which the Holder or beneficial owner holdsany
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Note or through which payment on the Note is made) to comply with any applicable certification,
documentation, information or other reporting requirement (including entering into and complying with an
agreement with the Intemal Revenue Service) imposed pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the U.S.
Internal Revenue Code as in effect on the date of issuance of the Notes, orany successor oramended version of
these provisions that are substantially similar, and any regultions or authoritative guidance promulgated
thereunder or an intergovernmental agreement (“IGA”) between the United States and another jurisdiction
facilitatingthe implementation thereof or any law or other official guidance implementing suchanIGA,;

(vii)  any tax, assessment or governmental charge imposed on a Holder that actually or constructively owns
10 percent or more of the combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Issuer or that is a controlled
foreign corporationrelatedto the Issuer through stock ownership;

(ix) in respect of any tax, assessment or other governmental charge imposed on a Holder by reason of its past or
present status as a bank that acquired any Notes in consideration foran extension of credit made pursuant toa
loan agreement entered into in the ordinary course ofits trade or business; or

(x) in respect of any combination ofitems (i), (ii), (iii), (iv), (v), (vi), (vii), (viii) and (ix)above,

nor shall such additional interest be paid with respect to a payment on a Note to a Holder that is a fiduciary or partnership or
otherthan the sole beneficial owner of such payment to the extent a beneficiary or settlor with respect to such fiduciary ora
member of such partnership ora beneficial owner would not have been entitled to theadditional interest had such beneficiary,
settlor, member or beneficial owner been the Holder of such Note.

The tem “U.S. Alien” means any person who, for U.S. federal income tax puiposes, is a foreign corporation, a
nonresident alien individual,a nonresident alien fiduciary of a foreign estate ortrust, ora foreign partnership one or more of
the members of which is, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, a foreign corporation, a nonresident alien individual or a
nonresidentalien fiduciary of a foreign estate or trust.

8.02  Any reference in these Tenms and Conditions to “principal” or “interest” in respect of the Notes shall be
deemed also to refer to any additional amounts which may be payable under this Condition 8. Unless the context otherwise
requires, any reference in these Terms and Conditions to “principal” shall include any premuum payable in respect ofa Note,
any Redemption Amount and any other amounts in the nature of principal payable pursuant to these Terms and Conditions
and “interest” shall include all amounts payable pursuant to Condition 5 and any other amounts in the nature of interest
payable pursuantto these Terms and Conditions.

9A. Payments — Registered Notes
This Condition 9 A is only applicable to Registered Notes.

9A.01 Payments of principal in respect of each Registered Note (whether or not in global form) shall be made
agamst presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment ofany sum due, endorsement) of the Registered Note at the
specified office of any of the Paying Agents. Such payments shallbemade in themanner provided in Condition 9A.02 below.

9A.02 Payments of interest or principal, as the case may be, in respect of each Registered Note (whether or not in
global form) will (other than to the extent provided below) be made by a check in the Relevant Currency drawn on a
Designated Bank (as defined below) and mailed by uninsured mail on the Business Day immediately preceding the relevant
due date to theHolder (i) in the case ofany GlobalRegistered Note,at the close ofbusiness on the last Business Day on which
Euroclearand/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system specified in the Pricing Supplement are
open for business (such date, the “Global Registered Note Record Date”) that shall inmediately precede the relevant due
date, and (ii) in the case ofany Definitive Note, at the close of business on the fifteenth day (whether ornot such fifteenth day
is a Business Day) that shall precede the relevant due date (the “Definitive Note Record Date”) at such Holder’s address
shown in the Register on the Definitive Note Record Date. The delivery of such payment by mail shall be at the Holder’s risk.
Upon application of the Holder to the specified office of any Paying Agent before the Global Registered Note Record Date or
the Defnitive Note Record Date, as applicable, such payment of interest or principal, as the case may be, may be made on the
relevant due date by wire transfer to the Designated Account (as defined below) of the Holder (i) in the case of any Global
Registered Note, at the close of business on the Global Registered Note Record Date, and (ii) in the case of any Definitive
Note, at the close of business on the Definitive Note Record Date. Notwithstanding the previous sentence, if: (a)a Holder has
not provided a Designated Account; or (b) the nominal amount of the Registered Notes held by a Holder is less than
U.S.$1,000,000 (or its approximate equivalent in any other Relevant Currency), payment may, at the Issuer’s option, instead
be made by a check in the Relevant Currency drawn on a Designated Bank. For these purposes, “Designated Account”
means the account maintained by a Holder with a Designated Bank and identified as such in the Registerand “Designated
Bank” means (in the case of payment in a Relevant Currency other than euro) a bank in the principal financial center of the
country of such Relevant Currency or (in the case of a payment in euro) any bank that processes payments in euro. Any such
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wire transfer application shall be deemed to relate to all future payments of interest and principal (other than interest due on
redemption) in respectof the Registered Notes which become payable to the Holder who hasmade the initialapplication until
the Paying Agent is notified in writing to the contrary by such Holder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, payment of any interest
due in respect of each Registered Note on redemption shall be made in the same manner as, and together with, payment of the
principalamountof such Registered Note.

Holders of Registered Notes shall not be entitled to any interest or other payment for any delay i receiving any
amount due in respect of any Registered Notes as a result of a check mailed ora wire transfer made in accordance with this
Condition 9A.02 arriving after the due date for payment, being lost in the mail or failing to transmit, as the case may be. No
commissions or expenses shall be charged to such Holders by any Paying Agent in respect of any payments of principal or
interest in respect of the Registered Notes.

9A.03 If the Holder is to receive payment of any amount due in respect of any Registered Note by wire transfer to
a Designated Accountand the due date is not a Business Day and a Banking Day, then the Holder thereof shallnot be entitled
to payment thereof until the next day which is such a day, oras otherwise specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, and
from such day and thereafter shall be entitled to receive payment by check on any Banking Day, and shall be entitled to
payment by wire transfer to a Designated Account on any day which is a Banking Day, a Business Day and a day on which
commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in the Relevant Currency n the place where the rlevant
Designated Account is located and no further paymenton account of interest or otherwise shallbe due in respect of such dely
or adjustment unless there is a subsequent failure to pay in accordance with these Temms and Conditions in which event
interest shall continue to accrueas provided in Condition 5.05 or, if appropriate, Condition 5.08.

9B. Payments — Bearer Notes
This Condition 9B is only applicable to Bearer Notes.

9B.01 Payment of amounts (other than interest) due in respect of Bearer Notes shall be made against presentation
and surrender of the relevant Bearer Notes at the specified office of any of the Paying Agents. Payment of amounts in respect
of interest will be made against presentation ofthe relevant Bearer Note atthe specified office of any ofthe Paying Agents.

9B.02 If the due date for payment of any amount due in respect of any Bearer Note is not a Business Day, then the
Holder thereof shall not be entitled to payment thereof until the next Business Day, at the place of payment, with the same
forceand effectas if made on the date fixed for payment,andno interest shallaccrue for the period after such dateunless there
is a subsequent failure to pay in accordance with these Terms and Conditions in which event interest shall continue to accrue
asprovidedin Condition 5.05 or, if appropriate, Condition 5.08.

9C. Payments— General Provisions

9C.01 Paymentsof amounts due (whether principal, interest or otherwise) in respect of Notes shall bemade in the
Relevant Currency in which such amount is due as provided above. Payments will, without prejudice to the provisions of
Condition 8, be subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or other laws and regulations. No commissions or expenses shall
be charged tothe Holders of Notes in respect of such payments.

9C.02 Except as otherwise specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, any monies paid by the Issuer to any
Paying Agent (or such other person specified by the relevant Pricing Supplement) for the payment of principal of or interest
on any Notes which remain unclaimed at the end of the applicable proscription period, as described in Condition 10, shallbe
repaid to the Issuerand all liability of such Paying Agent with respect thereto shall cease and the Holder shall thereafter look
only to the Issuer for any payment to which such Holder is entitled.

Redenomination

9C.03 Where “Redenomination” is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as beingapplicable, the I[ssuer
may, without the consent of the Holders of the Notes, on givingat least 30 days’ prior notice to the Holders of the Notes in
accordance with Condition 16, elect that, with effect from the Redenomination Date specified in the notice, the Notes shallbe
redenominated in euro.

The election will have effectas follows:

(i) each denomination will be deemed to be denominated in such amount of euro as is equivalent to its
denomination or the amount of interest so specified in the Relevant Currency at the Established Rate, rounded
down to the nearest euro 0.01;

(i) after the Redenomination Date, all payments in respect of the Notes, other than payments of interest in respect
of periods commencing before the Redenomination Date, will be made solely in euro as though references in the
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Notes to the Relevant Currency were to euro. Payments will be made in the manner provided in Condition 9 A or
Condition 9B, as applicable;

(iii) if the Notes are Notes which bear interest at a fixed rate and interest for any period ending on or after the
Redenomination Date is required to be calculated fora period of less than one year, it will be calculated on the
basis of the applicable Day CountFraction specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement;

(iv) if the Notes are Notes which bear interest at a floating rate the relevant Pricing Supplement will specify any
relevantchanges to the provisions relating to interest; and

(v) such other changes shall be made to these Temms and Conditions as the Issuer may decide, after consultation
with the Fiscal Agent, and as may be specified in the notice, to conform them to conventions then applicable to
Notes denominated in euro orto enable the Notes to be consolidated with other Notes whether ornot origina lly
denominated in the Relevant Currency or euro. Any such other changes will not take effect until a fter they have
been notified to the Holders ofthe Notes in a ccordance with Condition 16.

Exchangeability

9C.04 When “Exchangeability” is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable, the Issuer
may, without the consent of the Holders on givingat least 30 days’ prior notice to the Holders in accordance with Condition
16, elect that, with effect from the Redemption Date or such later date for payment of interest under the Notes as it may
specify in the notice, the Notes shall be exchangeable for Notes expressed to be denominated in euro in accordance with such
arrangements as theIssuer may decide, with the approval of the Fiscal Agent andas will be specified in the notice.

10. Proscription

Claims against the Issuer for payment of principal and interest in respect of Notes will be proscribed and become
void unless made, in the case of principal, within ten years or, in the case of interest, five years after the Relevant Date for
paymentthereof.

11. The Paying Agents, the Calculation Agent and the Registrar

11.01 The Calculation Agent in respect of any Notes shall be specified in the Pricing Supplement. The Issuer
reserves the rightatany time (subject to the notice periods set forth in the Fiscal Agency Agreement)to vary orterminate the
appointment of any Paying Agent (including the Fiscal Agent), the Calculation Agent, or the Registrar and to appoint
additional or other Paying Agents, another Calculation Agent, or another Registrar; provided that, except as otherwise
specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, it willatalltimesmaintain (i) a Fiscal Agent (which may be the Registrar); (i) a
Paying Agent (which maybe the Fiscal Agent) witha specified office ina continental European city; (iii) such otheragentsas
may be required by the rules of any stock exchange on which the Notesmay be listed; (iv) a Calculation Agent where required
by the relevant Pricing Supplement applicable to any Notes; and (v) a Registrar (which may be the Fiscal Agent) (in the case
of (i), (ii), (iv) and (v) with a specified office located in such place (if any) as may be required by these Temms and
Conditions). The Paying Agents, the Calculation Agent, and the Registrar reserve the right at any time to change their
respective specified offices to some other specified office in the same city. Notice of all changes in the identities or specified
offices of any Paying Agentor the Registrar will be given promptly by the Issuer to the Holders m accordance with Condition
16.

11.02 The Paying Agents, the Calculation Agent,and theRegistraract solely as agents of theIssuerand, exceptas
provided in the Fiscal Agency Agreement or any other agreement entered into with respect to itsappointment, do not assume
any obligations towards or reltionship of agency or tust for any Holder of any Note and each of them shall only be
responsible for the performance of the duties and obligations expressly imposed upon it in the Fiscal Agency Agreement or
otheragreement entered into with respectto its appointment or incidental thereto.

12. Replacement of Notes

If any Note is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced at the specified office of the Fiscal
Agent or such Paying Agent or Paying Agents or other persons as may be specified for such purpose in the Pricing
Supplement (“Replacement Agent”), subject to allapplicable laws and the requirements of any stock exchange on which the
Notes are listed, upon payment by the claimant of all expenses incurred in connection with such replacement and upon such
temms as to evidence, security, indemnity and otherwise as the Issuerand the Replacement Agent may require. Mutilated or
defaced Notes must be surrendered before replacements will be delivered therefor.

13. Meetings of Holders and Modification

The Fiscal Agency Agreement contains provisions (which shall have effect as if incorporated herein) for convening
meetings of the Holders of Notes ofany Series to consider any matter a ffecting their interest.
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Amendment Without Consent of Holders of Notes

13.01 The Fiscal Agency Agreementand these Terms and Conditions may be modified or amended by the Issuer
and the Fiscal Agent, without the consent of any Holders of Notes, for the purpose of (i) curing any ambiguity, or curing,
correcting or supplementingany defective provisions contained therein or herein; (i) adding to the covenants of the Issuer for
the benefit of the Holders of Notes; (iii) surrendering any right or power conferred upon the Issuer; (iv) effecting any
assumption by any direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Issuer of the [ssuer’s obligations herein or in the Fiscal
Agency Agreement; or (v) in any other manner which the Issuerand the Fiscal Agent may deem necessaty or desirable and
which will not be inconsistent with the Notes and which will not adversely affect the interests of the Holders of the Notes in
any materialrespect, to allof which each Holder of any Note shall, by acceptance thereof, consent.

Amendment WithConsent of Holders of Notes

13.02 The Fiscal Agency Agreement and these Terms and Conditions may also be modified or amended by the
Issuer and the Fiscal Agent, and past defaults thereunder or hereunder or future compliance therewith or herewith by the
Issuermay be waived, either with the written consent of the Holders of not less than 25% in a ggregate principal amount of the
affected Series at the time outstanding, or by the adoption, at a meeting duly convened and held in accordance with the
provisions of the Fiscal Agency Agreement, of a resolution by the Holders ofnot less than 25% in a ggregate principal amount
of the affected Series at the time outstanding; provided, however, that no such modification, amendment or waiver may,
without the consent or a ffirmative vote ofthe Holder of each Note affected thereby:

() waivea default in the payment of the principal of or interest on any Note, or change the stated maturity of the
principal of or payment date of iterest on any Note, or reduce the principal amount of or interest thereon, or
change the obligation of the Issuerto pay additional amounts pursuant to Condition 8 hereof, or change the con
or currency in which the principal of any Note or the interest thereon is payable (other than for payments to be
made in euro), or inpair the right to institute suit for the enforcement of any such payment on or after the stated
maturity thereof (or, in the case of redemption, on orafterthe applicable redemption date);

(i) modifythe obligationofthelssuerto maintain anofficeoragencyin Europe; or

(iii) reduce the percentage in principal amount of Notes at the time outstanding, the consent of whose Holders is
required for any modification oramendment to the Fiscal Agency Agreement or these Tetmsand Conditions or
to waive future compliance therewith orpast default thereunder, or reduce the percentage of votes required for
the adoption of a resolution orthe quorum required at any meeting of Holders of Notes at which a resolution is
to be adopted.

It shallnot be necessary for the Holders of Notes to approve the patticular form of any proposed modification, amendment or
waiverbut it shall be sufficient if they approve the substance thereof. Any mstrument given by oron behalf of any Holder in
connection with any consent to any such modification, amendment or waiver will be irrevocable once given and will be
conclusive and binding on all subsequent Holders of'such Note.

Effect of Amendments

13.03 Any modifications, amendments or waivers to the Fiscal Agency Agreement or to these Temrms and
Conditions in accordance with the foregoing provisions will be conclusive and binding on all Holders of the affected Notes,
whether or not they have given such consent or were present at such meeting, and on all future Holders of the affected Notes,
whether ornot notation of such modifications, amendments or waivers is made upon such Notes.

14. Consolidation, Merger, Etc.

14.01 The Issuer may, without consent of the Holders of any Notes, consolidate with or merge into any other
corporation or sellor convey its properties and assets substantially as an entirety to any person, providedthat:

(i) the comporation formed by such consolidation orinto which the Issuer is merged or the person which acquires by
conveyance or transfer, or which leases, the properties and assets of the I[ssuer substantially as an entirety shall
be a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the United States, any State thereof orthe District of
Columbia (the “Successor Corporation”)and shall, by amendment to the Fiscal Agency Agreement signed by
the Issuer and such Successor Corporation and delivered to the Fiscal Agent, assume the due and punctual
payment of the principalofand interest on all the Notesand the performance of every covenant hereofand of the
Fiscal Agency Agreement onthe part of the Issuerto be performed orobserved; and

(i) immediately after giving effect to such transaction, no Event of Default (as described in Condition 7), and no
event that, with notice or lapse of time or both, would become such an Event of Default, shall have happened
and be continuing.

35

ACTIVE 271092691v.11



14.02 Upon any consolidation or merger, or any conveyance, transfer or lease of the properties and assets of the
Issuer substantially as an entirety, or any assumption, the Successor Corporation shall succeed to, and be substituted for, and
may exercise every right and power of, the Issuerunder the Fiscal Agency Agreementand the Notes with the same effectas if
the Successor Coporation had been named as the Issuer therein and herein and the Issuer, except in the case of a lease of the
Issuer’s propertiesand assets, shall be released from its liability on any of the Notes and under the Fiscal Agency Agreement.

15. Assumption

15.01 Any wholly-owned subsidiaty may assume the obligations and covenants of the Issuer herein and under the
Fiscal Agency Agreement, provided that:

(1) such subsidiary shall expressly assume, by amendment to the Fiscal Agency Agreement signed by the Issuer
and such subsidiaty and delivered to the Fiscal Agent, the due and punctual payment of the principal of and
interest on all the Notes and the performance of every covenant hereof and of the Fiscal Agency Agreement on
the part ofthe Issuerto be performed or observed;

(i) immediately after giving effect to such transaction, no Event of Default (as described in Condition 7), and no
event which, with notice or lapse of time or both, would become such an Event of Default, shall have happened
and be continuing;

(iii) such subsidiary has satisfied or arranged to be paid in full all taxes payable by such subsidiaty upon such
assumption and if such subsidiary is not organized under the lhws of the United States, orany State thereof or
the District of Columbia orany political subdivision thereof, it shallagree to indemnify and hold hammless the
Holder of each Note against (1)any tax, assessment or governmental charge imposed on such Holder by a
jurisdiction other than the United States orany political subdivision or taxingauthority thereof or therein with
respect to, and withheld on the making of, any payment of principal of or interest (including any additional
amounts pursuant to Condition 8) on such Note and which would not have been so imposed and withheld had
such assumption not been made and (2) any tax, assessment or govemmental charge imposed on or relating to,
and any costs or expenses involvedin, such assumption;

(iv) the Issuer irrevocably and unconditionally guarantees the performance of all obligations and covenants of such
subsidiary undertheFiscal Agency Agreementand under this Note; and

(v) the Issuer has delivered to the Fiscal Agent an officer’s cettificate and an opinion of counsel, each stating that
such assumption and the amendment to the Fiscal Agency Agreement required pursuant to clause (i) above
comply with this Condition 15 and the Fiscal Agency Agreement and that all conditions precedent herein and
therein provided forrelating to such transaction have been complied with.

15.02 Upon any assumption by a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Issuer, such subsidiary shall succeed to,and be
substituted for,and may exercise every right and power of, the Issuerunder the Fiscal Agency Agreement and the Notes with
the same effect as if such subsidiary had been named as the Issuer therein and heremn and the Issuer shallbe released from its
liability as obligor on any of the Notes and under the Fiscal Agency Agreement. Any other wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Issuermay subsequently assume the obligations and covenants herein and under the Fiscal Agency Agreement on the same
terms and conditions as provided herein.

15.03 For the purposes of this Condition 15, “wholly-owned subsidiary” means any cormporation of which there
is owned, directly or indirectly, by or for the Issuer, voting shares that in the a ggregate entitle the holders thereof to cast 100%
of the votes that may be cast by the holders of all the outstanding voting shares of such first mentioned corporation for the
election of its directors and includes any corporation in like relationship to a wholly-owned subsidiary; and for this purpose
“voting shares” means shares of the capital stock of any class of a corporation having under ordinary circumstances the right
to elect at least a majority ofthe directors of such corporation.

16. Notices

Notices to Holders will be deemed to be validly given if (i) in the case ofany Notes whichareadmitted to trading on
the Euro MTF Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (the “Euro MTF Market’) and listed on the Official List of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange (so long as such Notes are admitted to trading on the Euro MTF Market and listed on the
Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and the mles of that exchange so require), published on the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange’s website, www.bourse.lu, or, (ii) in the case of any Notes that are not admitted to trading or listed on any
market, published in a leading English language daily newspaperhaving general circulation in Europe, in the case of Bearer
Notes, or sent to them by first class mail (or its equivalent) or (if posted to an overseas address) by aimail at their respective
addresses on the Register, in the case of Registered Notes. If the Notes are in globalfomm, then notice may alternatively be
given in the manner provided under “Provisions Relating to the Notes While in Global Form.” The Issuer shallalso ensure
that notices are duly published in compliance with the requirements of each stock exchange on which the Notes are listed.
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Any notice so given will be deemed to have been validly given on the date of first such publication (or, if required to be
published in more than one newspaper, then on the first date on which publication shall have been made in all the required
newspapers).

17. Further Issues

The Issuer may from time to time, without the consent of the Holders of any Notes, create and issue further
instruments, notes, bonds or debentures having the same terms and conditions as such Notes in all respects (or in all respects
except for the first payment of interest, if any, on them and the denomination thereof) so as to form a single series with the
Notes of any particular Series.

18. Waiver and Remedies

No failure to exercise, and no delay in exercising, on the patt of the Holder, any right hereunder shall operate as a
waiver thereof nor shallany single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or future exercise thereof orthe exercise of
any other right. Rights hereunder shall be in addition to all other rights provided by lhw. No notice or demand given in any
case shall constitute a waiver of rights to take other action in the same, similar or other instances without such notice or
demand.

19. Lawand Jurisdiction

19.01 The Notes shall be govemed by, and construed in accordance with, the intemal laws of the State of New
York, United States. The Issuer submits to the jurisdiction of the courts in the State of New York and the federalcourts in the
United States havingjurisdictionin the State of New York.

19.02 The Issueragrees that the process by which any proceedings in New York are begun may be served on it by
beingdelivered to The Prentice-Hall Comporation System, Inc.at 80 State Street, Albany, New York 12207, United States. If
the appointment of the person mentioned in this Condition 19.02 ceases to be effective, the Issuer shall forthwith appoint a
further person in New York to accept service of process on its behalf in New York and notify the name and address of such
person to the Fiscal Agent and, failing such appointment within fifteen days, any Holder shall be entitled to appoint such a
person by written notice addressed to the Issuer and delivered to the Issuer or to the specified office of the Fiscal Agent.
Nothing contained herein shall affectthe right of any Holder to serveprocess in any other manner permitted by law.

20. Definitions

“Applicable Business Day Convention” means the “Business Day Convention” which may be specified in the
Pricing Supplement as applicable to any date in respect of the Notes unless the Pricing Supplement specifies “No
Adjustment” in relation to any date in which case such date shall not be adjusted in accordance with any Business Day
Convention. Where the Pricing Supplement fails to specify either an applicable Business Day Convention or “No
Adjustment” for the purposes of an Interest Payment Date oran Interest Period End Date, then in the case of Notes which bear
interest at a fixed mte, “No Adjustment” shall be deemed to have been so specified; and in the case of Notes which bear
interest at a floating rate, the Modified Following Business Day Convention shall be deemed to have been so specified.
Different Business Day Conventions may apply, orbe specified in relation to, the Interest Payment Dates, Interest Period End
Dates and any other date ordates in respectof any Notes.

“Banking Day” means, unless otherwise specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, in respect of any city, any
day on which commercial banks are open forbusiness (including dealings in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits)
in that city.

“Business Day” means a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, that is neithera legal holiday nor a day on which
banking institutions are authorized or required by law, regulation or executive order to close in the Relevant Financial Center
and, in relation to Notes payable in euro, a day on which the TARGET?2 System is operatingor inany otherplace or any other
daysasmaybe specified in the Pricing Supplement.

“Business Day Convention” means a convention for adjusting any date if it would otherwise fall on a day that isnot
a Business Day and the following Business Day Conventions, where specified in the Pricing Supplement in relation to any
date applicable to any Notes, shallhavethe following meanings:

“Following Business Day Convention” means that such date shall be postponed to the first following day
thatis a Business Dayj;

“Modified Following Business Day Convention” means that such date shall be postponed to the first
following day that is a Business Day unless that day falls in the next calendar month in which case
that date will be the first preceding day thatis a Business Dayj;
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“Preceding Business Day Convention” means that such date shall be brought forward to the first
preceding day thatisa Business Day; and

“FRN Convention” or “Eurodollar Convention” means that each such date shall be the date which
numerically corresponds to the preceding such date in the calendarmonth which is the number of
months specified in the Pricing Supplement after the calendar month in which the preceding such
date occurred providedthat:

(i) 1if there is no such numerically corresponding day i the calendar month in which any
such date should occur, then such date will be the lastday which isa Business Day in that
calendarmonth;

(i) if any such date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, then such
date will be the first following day which is a Business Day unless that day falls in the
next calendarmonth, in which case it will be the first preceding day which isa Business
Day;and

(iii) if the preceding such date occurred on the last day in a calendar month which was a
Business Day, then all subsequent such dates will be the last day which is a Business Day
in the calendarmonth which is the specified number of months after the calendar month
in which the preceding suchdateoccurred.

“Calculation Agent” means suchagentas may bespecified in the Pricing Supplement as the Calculation Agent.

“Day Count Fraction” means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest for any period of time
(“Calculation Period”), such day count fractionas may be specified in the Pricing Supplement and:

if “Actual/365” or “Actual/Actual (ISDA)” is so specified, means the actual number of days in the
Calculation Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of the Calculation Period falls in a leap year,
the sum of (a) the actual number of days in that pottion of the Calculation Period falling in a leap
yeardivided by 366; and (b) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period
fallingin a non-leap year divided by 365);

if “Actual/Actual ICMA)” is so specified, means:

(1) if the Calculation Period is equal to or shorter than the Determination Period during
which it falls, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by the product of
(x) the number of days in such Detemmination Period; and (y)the number of
Determination Periods normally endingin any year; and

(i) if the Calculation Period is longerthan one Detemmination Period, the sum of:

a. the number of days in such Caleulation Period falling in the Determination
Period n which it begins divided by the product of (1) the number of days in
such Determination Period and (2)the number of Detemmination Periods
normally ending in any year; and

b. the number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the next Determination
Period divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such Detemrmination
Period and (2)the number of Determination Periods nomally ending in any
year

where

“Determination Period” means the period from and including an Interest Determination Date in
any year to but excluding the next Interest Determination Date.

if “Actual/365 (Fixed)” is so specified, means the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided
by 365;

if “Actual/360” is so specified, means the actualnumber of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360;

if“30/360,” “360/360” or “Bond Basis” is so specified, means thenumber of days in the Calculation Period
divided by 360 (the number of days to be calculated on the basis of a year of 360 days with 12
30-day months (unless (i) the last day of the Calculation Period is the 31* day of a month but the
first day of the Calulation Period is a day other than the 30™ or 315 day of a month, in which case
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the month that includes the last day shall not be considered to be shottened to a 30-day month, or
(ii) the lastday of the Calculation Period is the last day of the month of February, in which case the
monthof February shallnot be considered to be lengthened toa 30-day month)); and

if “30E/360” or “Eurobond Basis” is so specified means, the number of days in the Calculation Period
divided by 360 (the number of days to be calculated on the basis of a year of 360 days with 12
30-day months, without regard to the date of the first day or last day of the Calculation Period
unless, in the case of the final Calculation Period, the date of final maturity is the last day of the
month of February, in which case the month of February shall not be considered to be lengthened
to a 30-day month).

“Established Rate” means the rate for the conversion of the Relevant Currency (including compliance with mles
relating to roundings in accordance with applicable European Union regulations) into euro established by the Council of the
European Union pursuant to Article 140 of the Treaty.

“euro” means the currency of participating member states of the European Union adopted in accordance with the
Treaty.

“Interest Accrual Period” means, in respect of an Interest Period, each successive period beginning on and
includingan Interest Period End Date and ending on but excluding the next succeeding Interest Period End Date during that
Interest Period provided always that the first Interest Accrual Period shall commence on and include the Interest
Commencement Date andthe final Interest Accrual Period shallend on but exclude the date of final maturity.

“Interest Commencement Date” means the date of issue of the Notes (as specified in the Pricing Supplement) or
such other date as may be specified as such in the Pricing Supplement.

“Interest Determination Date” means, in respect of any Interest Accrual Period, the date which is such number (if
any) of Banking Days in such city(ies) as may be specified in the Pricing Supplement prior to the first day of such Interest
Accrual Period, or if none is specified, the date which is two London Banking Days prior to the first day of such Interest
Accrual Period.

“Interest Payment Date” means the date or dates specified as such in, or determined i accordance with the
provisions of, the Pricing Supplement and, if an Applicable Business Day Convention is specified i the Pricing Supplement,
as the same may be adjusted in accordance with the Applicable Business Day Convention or if the Applicable Business Day
Convention is the FRN Convention and an interval of a number of calendar months is specified in the Pricing Supplement as
beingthe Interest Period, each of such dates asmay occur in accordance with the FRN Convention at such specified period of
calendar monthsfollowing the date of issue of the Notes (in the case of the first Interest Payment Date) or the previous Interest
Payment Date (in any other case).

“Interest Period” means each successive period beginning on and including an Interest Payment Date and ending
on but excluding the next succeeding Interest Payment Date provided always that the first Interest Period shall commence on
and include the Interest Commencement Dateand the final Interest Period shall end on but exclude the date of final maturity.

“Interest Period End Date” means the date or dates specified as such in, or determined in accordance with the
provisions of, the Pricing Supplement and, if an Applicable Business Day Convention is specified in the Pricing Supplement,
as the same may beadjusted in accordance with the Applicable Business Day Convention or, if the Applicable Business Day
Convention is the FRN Convention and an interval of a number of calendar months is specified in the Pricing Supplement as
the Interest Accrual Period, such dates as may occur in accordance with the FRN Convention at such specified period of
calendar months following the Interest Commencement Date (in the case of the first Interest Period End Date) or the previous
Interest Period End Date (in any other case) or, if none of the foregoing is specified in the Pricing Supplement, means the date
or each ofthedates which correspond with the Interest Payment Date(s) in respect of the Notes.

“Interest Rate” means the rate or rates (expressed as a percentage perannum ) or amount or amounts (expressed as
a price perunit of Relevant Currency) of interest payable in respect of the Notes specified in, or calculated or determmined in
accordance with the provisions of, the Pricing Supplement.

“QOutstanding Principal Amount” means, in respect ofa Note, its principal amount currently outstanding.

“Redenomination Date” means any date for payment of interest under the Notes specified by the Issuer which
occurs on or after the start of the third stage of European Economic and Monetary Union pursuant to the Treaty or, if the
country of the Relevant Currency is not one of the countries then participating in such third stage, which occurs on or after
such laterdateas it does so participate.

“Reference Banks” means such banks as may be specified in the Pricing Supplement as the Reference Banks or, if
fewer than four such banks are specified, then such banks and up to four additional major banks in the London interbank
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market as selected by the Calculation Agent, such that the total number of banks is four (unless more than four banks are
specified in the Pricing Supplement).

“Reference Rate” means the rate specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement and shall be either LIBOR,
EURIBOR oranother interbank offered rate.

“Relevant Currency” means the currency of denomination of the Notes shown on such Notes and which is
specified in the Pricing Supplement.

“Relevant Date” means, in respect of any payment, the date on which such payment first becomes due and payable,
but if the fullamount of the monies payable has not been received by the Fiscal Agent on orprior to such due date, it means
the first date on which, the full amount of such monies having been so received and beingavailable for payment to Holders,

notice to that effect shall have been duly given to the Holders of the Notes of the relevant Series in accordance with
Condition 16.

“Relevant Financial Center” means the principal financial center of the country of the Relevant Currency or such
othercity as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

“Relevant Time” means the time as of which any rate is to be determined as specified in the Pricing Supplement or,
if none is specified, atwhich it is customary to determine such rate.

“Reuters Screen” means, when used in connection with a designated page and any designated information, the
display page so designated on the Reuters Monitor Money Rates Service (or such other page as may replace that page on that
service forthe purpose of displaying such information).

“TARGET2 System” means the Trans-European Automated Real Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer
(TARGET2) System.

“Treaty” means the Treaty onthe Functioning of the European Union, as amended.

“U.S. Internal Revenue Code”’ means the U.S. Internal Revenue Codeof 1986, as amended.
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PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE NOTES WHILE IN GLOBALFORM

Unless otherwise specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the following provisions are applicable to Global
Registered Notes and Global Bearer Notes.

(A) Relationship with Clearing Systems

So long as any of the Notes remain in global form, payments will be made by the Holder to each of the persons
shown i the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system as having a
beneficial interest represented by a Global Registered Note or Global Bearer Note in accordance with customary operating
procedures of the relevant clearing system. Such persons must look solely to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg
and/or such other clearing system (as the case may be) for such person’s share of each payment made by the Issuer to the
Holder of such Global Registered Note or Global Bearer Note (as the case may be)and in relation to all other rights arising
under the Global Registered Note or Global Bearer Note, subject to and in accordance with the respective rules and
procedures of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or such other clearing system (as the case may be). Such
persons shall have no claim directly against the Issuer in respect of payments due on the Notes for so longas the Notes are
represented by such GlobalRegistered Note or Global Bearer Note (as the case may be), and such obligations of the Issuer
will be discharged by payment to the Holder of such Global Registered Note or GlobalBearer Note (as the case may be) in
respect of eachamount so paid.

B) Form and Exchange

(1) Form of Global Registered Notes or Global Bearer Notes: Unless otherwise specified in the relevant Pricing
Supplement:

() Global Registered Notes will be registered in the name of a Common Depositary (or a nominee thereof) for
Euroclearand/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system;and

(i) Global Bearer Notes will be delivered to a Common Depositary (or a nominee thereof) for Euroclear and/or
Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system.

(2) Exchange for Definitive Notes: Interests in a Global Registered Note or Global Bearer Note will be exchanged
by the Issuer in whole, but not in part only, at the option of the Holder of such Note, for Definitive Notes, (a) if an Event of
Default (as described in Condition 7.01 in “Temms and Conditions of the Notes”) occurs in respect of any Note of the relevant
Series or (b) if either Euroclear; Clearstream, Luxembourg; orany other relevant clearing system is closed for business fora
continuous period of fourteen days (other than by reason of public holidays) or announces an intention to cease business
pemanently or in fact does so without a successor. Interests in a Global Registered Note or Global Bearer Note will be
exchanged by the Issuer n whole, but not i part only, at the option of the Issuer upon a change in tax lhw that would be
adverse to the Issuer but for the issuance of Defmitive Notes, completed in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
Fiscal Agency Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, no Holder shall be pemnitted to remove or repossess a Global
Registered Note or Global Bearer Note from Euroclear; Clearstream, Luxembourg; or any other relevant clearing system,
except in exchange for Definitive Notes in registered fom in the circumstances pemitted by Condition 1.04 in “Temms and
Conditions of the Notes,” and such Holder will be required to provide any information necessary for the exchange of such
interest for Defmitive Notes. Any exchange of Notes pursuant to Condition 1.04 shallbe at the cost and expense of the Issuer.

© Amendment to Conditions

The GlobalRegistered Notes and Global Bearer Notes contain provisions thatapply to the Notes that they represent,
some of which modify the effect of the Temms and Conditions of the Notes set out in this Offering Circular. The following is
a summary of certain of those provisions:

(1) Meetings: The Holder of a Global Registered Note or Global Bearer Note, respectively, shall (unless such
GlobalRegistered Note or Global Bearer Note represents only one Note) be treated as being two persons for the purposes of
any quorum requirements of a meeting of Holders and, at any such meeting, as having one vote in respect of each minimum
denomination of Notes for which such Global Registered Note or Global Bearer Note may be exchanged.

(2) Cancellation: Cancellation of any Note represented by a Global Registered Note or Global Bearer Note that is
required by the Teims and Conditions to be cancelled (other than upon its redemption) will be effected by reduction in the
principalamountof the relevant Global Registered Note or Global Bearer Note.

(3) Purchase: Notes represented by a Global Registered Note or Global Bearer Note may only be purchased by the
Issuerorany of its subsidiaries if they are purchased together with the rights to receive all future payments of interest thereon.
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(4) Issuer’s Option: Any option of the Issuer provided for in the Temns and Conditions of the Notes while such
Notes are represented by a Global Registered Note ora Global Bearer Note shall be exercised by the Issuer giving notice to
the Holders within the time limits set out in and containing the information required by the Temmsand Conditions, except that
the notice shall not be required to contain the serial numbers of Notes drawn in the case of a partial exercise of an option and
accordingly no drawing of Notes shall be required. In the event thatany option of the Issueris exercised in respectof some but
notallof the Notes of any Series, the rights of the persons shown in the records of Euroclearand/or Clearstream, Luxembourg
and/or any other relevant clearing system as havinga beneficial interest represented by such Global Registered Note or
Global Bearer Note will be governed by the standard procedures of Euroclearand/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any
otherclearing system (as the case maybe).

(5) Holders’ Options: Any option of the Holders provided for in the Termsand Conditions of any Notes while such
Notes are represented by a Global Registered Note ora Global Bearer Note may be exercised by the Holder of such Global
Registered Note or Global Bearer Note, respectively, by givingnotice to the Fiscal Agent within the time limits relating to the
deposit of Notes with a Paying Agent, except that the notice shallnot be required to contain the serial numbers of the Notes in
respect of which the option has been exercised. The Notice shall state the principalamount of Notes in respect of which the
option is exercised, and the Holder shall present for notation such Global Registered Note or Global Bearer Note,
respectively, to the Fiscal Agent, orto a Paying Agent actingon behalf ofthe Fiscal Agent.

(6) Notices: So long as any Notes are represented by a Global Registered Note or Global Bearer Note, and such
Global Registered Note or Global Bearer Note is registered or held on behalf of a clearing system, notices to the persons
shown in the records of such clearing system as havinga beneficialinterest represented by a GlobalRegistered Note or Global
Bearer Note may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to the clearing system for communication by it to such persons in
substitution for publication, as required by the Tetmms and Conditions or by delivery of the relevant notice to the Holder of
such GlobalRegistered Note or Global Bearer Note, respectively, except that so longas the Notes are admitted to trading on
the Euro MTF Market and listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and the rules of that exchange so
require, notice shall also be published on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s website, www.bourse.lu. Any notice so given
will be deemed to havebeen validly given on the date of first such publication (or, if required to be published inmore than one
newspaper, then on the first date on which publication shall have been made in all the required newspapers) or,as the case
may be, on the fourth weekday a fier the date of such delivery to Euroclearand/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or such other
clearingsystem.

(7) Payments: So long as any of the Notes remains in global form, payments will be made by the Holder to the
persons shown i the records of Euroclearand/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system (as the

case may be)as havinga beneficial interest represented by a Global Registered Note ora Global Bearer Note in accordance
with customary operating procedures ofthe relevantclearing system.
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FORM OF PRICING SUPPLEMENT

NO PROSPECTUS IS REQUIRED IN ACCORDANCE WITHREGULATION (EU) 2017/1129, INCLUDING AS IT FORMS
PART OF DOMESTIC LAW IN THE UNITED KINGDOM BY VIRTUE OF THE EUROPEAN UNION (WITHDRAWAL)
ACT2018, AS AMENDED BY THE EUROPEAN UNION (WITHDRAWAL AGREEMENT) ACT 2020 (THE “EUWA”), FOR
THE ISSUE OF NOTES DESCRIBED BELOW.

[MIiFIDII productgovernance / target market— [appropriate target marketlegendto be included)|

[UK MiFIR productgovernance / target market— [appropriate target market legendto be included]]

PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS - The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or
otherwisemade available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European
Economic Area (the “EEA”). For these purposes, a retail investor meansa person who is one (ormore)of: (i) a retail client as
defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU, as amended (‘MiFID II”’); or (ii) a customer within the
meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97, as amended (the “Insurance Distribution Directive”), where that customer would not
qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFIDII[; or (iii) not a qualified investoras defined
in Regulation (EU)2017/1129]". Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No. 1286/2014,as
amended (the “PRIIPs Regulation”) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors
in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail
investorin the EEA may be unlawfulunder the PRIIPs Regulation.

PROHIBITION OF SALES TO UNITED KINGDOM RETAIL INVESTORS — The Notes are not intended to be
offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available toany retail investor
in the United Kingdom. For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as
defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law in the United Kingdom by
virtue of the EUWA; or (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the United Kingdom’s Financial Services and
Martkets Act 2000, as amended (the “FSMA”) and any mles or regulations made underthe FSM A to implement the Insurance
Distribution Directive, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client asdefined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of
Reguhtion (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic lhw in the United Kingdom by virtue of the EUWAJ; or (iii) not a
qualified investor as defined in Article 2 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law in the United
Kingdom by virtue of the EUWAF. Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014
as it forms part of domestic law in the United Kingdom by virtue of the EUWA (the “UK PRIIPs Regulation”) for offering
or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the United Kingdom has been prepared and
therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom may
beunlawfulunderthe UK PRIIPs Regulation.

[NOTIFICATION UNDER SECTION 309B(1)(C) OF THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES ACT (CHAPTER 289)
OF SINGAPORE - In connection with Section 309B of the Securities and Futures Act (Chapter 289) of Singapore, as
modified oramended from time to time (the “SFA”)and the Securities and Futures (Capital Matkets Products) Regulations
2018 of Singapore (the “CMP Regulations 2018”), the Issuer has determined the classification of the Notes to be
[“prescribed capital matkets products” / “capital markets products other than prescribed capital matkets products’} (as
defined in the CMP Regulations 2018)and [Excluded Investment Products / Specified Investment Products]* (as defined in
the Monetary Authority of Singapore (the “MAS”) Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS
Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products). ]

Do not include when the minimum denomination ofthe Notesis €100,000 ormore.

Do not include when the minimum denomination ofthe Notes is €100,000 or more.

Classification to be determined by the Issuer.

Classification to be determined by the Issuer. If the Notes are “prescribed capital markets products”, they will be
“Excluded Investment Products” for the purposes of MAS Notice SFA 04-N12 and MAS Notice FAA-N16. On the other
hand, if the Notes are “capital markets products other than prescribed capital markets products”, then they will be
“Specified Investment Products” for the purposes of MAS Notice SFA 04-N12and MAS Notice FAA-N16.

P TCEE
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PRICING SUPPLEMENT
dated [date]

McDonald’s Corporation
(the “Issuer”)

Legal Entity Identifier (LEI): UE2136097NLB5BYP9H (04
Issue of [Aggregate Principal Amount of Tranche] [Titleof Notes]
under the U.S.$20,000,000,000
Program for the Issuance of Global Medium-Term Notes
PART A — CONTRACTUAL TERMS
(The following language applies unless the immediately following paragraph applies.)

[Temsused herein shallbe deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions set forth in the Offering Circular
dated 9 September, 2021 [as supplemented by the Supplement[s] dated [*]]. This document constitutes the Pricing
Supplement of the Notes described herein and must be read in conjunction with such Offering Circular [as so supplemented].
Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of this Pricing
Supplement and the Offering Circular [as so supplemented]. The Offering Circular [and the Supplement[s] is/are] available
for viewing at BNP Paribas Securties Services, Luxembourg Branch, 60, avenue J.F. Kennedy, Luxembourg, L-2085
Luxembourg, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg or at the Issuer’s registered office, c/o The Prentice-Hall Corporation System,
Inc., 2711 Centerville Road, Suite 400, Wilmington, Delaware 19808, United States, and copies may be obtained from BNP
Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch, or from the Issuer, at their samerespectiveaddresses. ]

(The following alternative language applies if the first tranche of an issue of Notes which is being increased was issued under
an Offering Circular with an earlier date.)

[Terms used herein shallbe deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions set forth in the Offering Circular
dated [original date] which are incorporated by reference in the Offering Circular dated 9 September, 2021. This document
constitutes the Pricing Supplement of the Notes described herein and must be read in conjunction with the Offering Circular
dated 9 September, 2021 [as supplemented by the Supplement[s] dated [*]]. Full information on theIssuer and the offer of the
Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of this Pricing Supplement and the Offering Circular [as so
supplemented]. The Offering Circular [and the Supplement[s]is/are] available for viewingat BNP Paribas Securities Services,
Luxembourg Branch, 60, avenue J.F. Kennedy, Luxembourg, L2085 Luxembourg, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg or at the
Issuer’s registered office, c/o The Prentice-Hall Corporation System, Inc., 2711 Centerville Road, Suite 400, Wilmington,
Delaware 19808, United States, and copies may be obtained from BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch, or
from the Issuer, at their same respective addresses. |

1. [@)] Series Number: [Specify]

[i) Tranche Number: [Specify]]
[(il) Fungibility; Date on which Notes [Not Applicable/The Notes constitute a further issuance of [insert
become fungible: description of the Series] and shall be consolidated and form a

single series. The newly issued Notes and the outstanding Notes
shall be interchangeable for trading purposes with [insert
description of the Series] on [Issue Date] [date on which any
transfer restrictions expire]. Upon completion of this offering, the
aggregate principalamount of outstanding Notes of this Series will
be [insert amount].]
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10.

11.

12.

13.

Relevant Currency or Currencies:

—of Denomination

—of Payment
(Condition 1.06)

Aggregate Principal Amount of Notes:

()]

Series [(including Aggregate
Principal Amountof previously
issued tranches of the same Series)]:

[(i)) Tranche:

Issue Price:

Specified Denomination(s):
(Condition 1.05)

(1) IssueDate:

(i) Interest Commencement Date:
(Condition21)

Maturity Date:
(Condition6.01)

Interest:
(Condition5)

—Interest Basis:

—Default Interest Rate:
(Condition 5.05)

Maturity Redemption/Payment Basis:

(Condition 6.01)

Change of Interest Basis:

Optional Early Redemption Options:

Method of distribution:

Relevant corporate authorization(s) required

forissuance of Notes:

[Specify]

[Specify]

[Specifyl]

[*] percent of the Aggregate Principal Amount [plus accrued
interest from [insertdate] (if applicable)]

[Specify] [plus integralmultiples of[*]]

[Specify]

[Specify/Issue Date/Not Applicable]

[Specify date or (if FRN Convention applies) Interest Payment
Date occurring in or nearest to the specified month andyear|

[[*]percent per annum Fixed Rate]
[[Specify Reference Rate] Plus/Minus [Jpercent per annum
FloatingRate]

[Zero Coupon] [Other [specify]] (further particulars specified
below) [Specify, if different fromthe Interest Rate]

[Redemptionat par] [Specify other]

[Specify details of any provision for convertibility of Notes into
anotherinterest basis|

[Optional Early Redemption (Put)] [Optional Early Redemption
(Cal)][(furtherparticulars specified below)]

[Syndicated/Non-syndicated]

[Specify]

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE

14.

Fixed Rate Note Provisions

ACTIVE 271092691v.11

[Applicable/Not Applicable] (f not applicable, delete the
remaining sub-paragraphs ofthis paragraph)
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)

(if)

(iii)
(iv)

V)

(vi)

(vii)

Rate[(s)] of Interest:
(Condition 5)

Interest Payment Date(s):

Fixed Coupon Amount[(s)]:
Broken Amount(s):

Day Count Fraction:
(Condition 21)

Interest Determination Dates:
(Condition 21)

Other tems relating to the method of
calculating interest for Fixed Rate
Notes:

15. FloatingRate Note Provisions

@
(ii)
(iii)

(iv)

V)

Interest Period(s):

Specified Interest Payment Dates:
Interest Payment Dates or (if the
Applicable Business Day Convention

is the FRN Convention) Interest
Period:

Interest Period End Dates or (if the
Applicable Business Day Convention
is the FRN Convention) Interest
Accrual Period:

(a) Business Day Convention:

—for Interest Payment Dates:
—forInterest Period End Dates:
—for Maturity Date:

—any other date:

ACTIVE 271092691v.11

[*] percent per annum [payable [annually/semi-annually/
quarterly/monthly/other (specify)] in arrears]

[Specify dates] in each year, commencing on [specify date], [up to
and including/excluding the Maturity Date], [adjusted in
accordance with [specify applicable Business Day Convention
and any applicable Business Center(s) for the definition of
“Business Day ) No Adjustment] (If nothing is specified, there
will be no adjustment)

[*]per[*] in Principal Amount

[Specify particulars of any initial or final broken interest amounts
which do not corespond with the Fixed Coupon Amount/(s)]]

[Actual/365] [Actual/Actual (ISDA)] [ActualActual (ICMA)]
[Actual/365 (Fixed)] [Actual/360] [30/360] [360/360] [Bond

Basis] [30E/360] [Eurobond Basis] [Specify]

[specify date(s)]in each year

[Specify number of Banking Days in which city(ies), if different
from Condition 21]

[Not Applicable/givedetails)

[Applicable/Not Applicable] (@f not applicable, delete the
remaining sub-paragraphs ofthis paragraph)

[Specify]

[Specify]

[Specify dates or (if the Applicable Business Day Convention is the
FRN Convention) number of months]

[Specify. If nothing is specified, Interest Period End Dates will
correspondwith Interest Payment Dates|

[Specify, unless no adjustment is required, in which case specify
“No Adjustment.” If nothing is specified, Modified Following
Business Day Convention shall be deemed so specified]

[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
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(b) Definition of Business Day:

(Condition21)

(vi)  Relevant Financial Center:

(Condition 21)

(vi) Manner in which the Rate(s) of
Interest is/are to be determined:

(viii) Interest Determination Dates:

(Condition 21)

(ix) Calculation Agent:
(Condition 21)

(x)  Screen Rate Determination:

(Condition 5.03)

—Reference Rate:

—Interest Detemrmination Date(s):

(Condition 21)

—Relevant Time:
(Condition 21)

—Relevant Screen Pa ge:

(Condition 5.03)

(xi)  Reference Banks:
(Condition21)

(xi) Relevant Margin(s):
(Condition 5.03)

(xiii) Minimum Interest Rate:

(Condition 5.04)

(xiv) Maximum Interest Rate:

(Condition 5.04)

(xv) Day Count Fraction:
(Condition 21)

(xvi) Fall backprovisions, rounding
provisions, denominator and any
othertermsrelating to themethod of
calculatinginterest on Floating Rate
Notes, if different from those set out

in the Conditions:

16. Zero Coupon Note Provisions
(Condition 5.08)

1) Amortization Yield:

ACTIVE 271092691v.11

[Specify any additional places or days for the purpose of adjusting ai
date inaccordance with a Business Day Convention)

[Specify]

[Screen Rate Determination unless unavailable, in which case,
using Reference Bank quotations, as described in Condition 5.03]

[*]in each year
[Specify number of Banking Days in which city(ies), if different
from Condition 2 1]

[Specifyname and office]

[LIBOR] [EURIBOR][Specifyother]

[*] in each year. [Specify number of Banking Days in which
city(ies), if different from Condition 21|

[*1[a.m./p.m.] [Specify city] time

[[Reuters Screen/Other] page [*]]

[Specify]

Plus/Minus [*] percent per annum

[*] percent per annum

[*] percent per annum

[Actual/365] [Actual/Actual (ISDA)] [Actual/Actual (ICMA)]
[Actual/365 (Fixed)] [Actual/360] [30/360] [360/360] [Bond
Basis] [30E/360] [Eurobond Basis] [Specify]

[Specify]

[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the
remaining sub-paragraphs ofthis paragraph.)

[*] percent perannum
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(i)  Any other formula/basis of
determining amountpayable:

(i) Rate of interest on overdue amounts:

(iv) Day Count Fraction:

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION

17. Optional Early Redemption (Call):
(Condition 6.03)

@) CallOption Date(s)/Call Option
Period:

(i)  Early Redemption Amount (Call) of
each Noteand method, if any, of
calculation of such amount(s):

(i) Redeemablein part:

(a) Minimum Redemption
Amount:

(b) Maximum Redemption
Amount:

(iv)  Notice period:

18. Optional Early Redemption (Put):
(Condition 6.06)

@) Put Date(s)/Put Period:

(i)  Early Redemption Amount (Put) of
each Noteand method, if any, of
calculation of such amount(s):

(i)  Notice period:

19. Early Redemption Amount (Tax):

@) Early Redemption Amount(s) of each
Note payable on redemption for
taxationreasons:

(Condition 6.02)

(i)  Date after which changes in law, etc.
entitle theIssuerto redeem:

ACTIVE 271092691v.11

[Specify]

[Specify, if not the Amortization Yield)

[Actual365] [Actual/Actual (ISDA)] [ActualActual (ICMA)]
[Actual/365 (Fixed)] [Actual360] [30/360] [360/360] [Bond

Basis] [30E/360] [Eurobond Basis] [Specify]

[Applicable/Not  Applicable](if not applicable, delete the
remaining sub-paragraphs ofthis paragraph)

[Specify]
[[*] per Note of [*] [specified denomination]] [Specify amount, if

not the Outstanding Principal Amount or, in the case of any Notes
which are non-interest-bearing, the Amortized Face Amount]

[Applicable/Not Applicable] [Specify, otherwise redemption will
only be permitted of entire Series|

[Specify]

[Specify]

[Specify]

[Applicable/Not Applicable] (f not applicable, delete the
remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)

[Specify]
[[] per Note of [*] [specified denomination]] [Specify amount, if

not the Qutstanding Principal Amount or, in the case of any Notes
which are non-interest-bearing, the Amortized Face Amount]

[Specify]

[Specify amount, if not the Outstanding Principal Amount or, in the
case of any Notes which are non-interest-bearing, the Amortized
Face Amount]

[Specify, if not the Issue Date)
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GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THENOTES

20. Form of Notes:

21. Applicable Business Day Convention:
(Condition21)

22. Events of Default:
(Condition7.01)

(1) Early Termination Amount:

(if) Any additional (or modifications to) Events

of Default:

23. Redenomination, renominalization and
reconventioning provisions:
(Condition9C.03)

24. Consolidation provisions:

25. Exchangeability:
(Condition9C.04)

26. ReplacementofNotes:
(Condition 12)

27. Notices:
(Condition 16)

28. Additional U.S. Tax Considerations:

29. Selling restrictions:

—United States of America:

—Other:

30. Governing Law (if different than in Terms

and Conditions):

31. Otherfinalterms:

ACTIVE 271092691v.11

[GlobalRegistered Notes]

[GlobalBearer Notes]

[Definitive Note]

[Followng Business Day Convention] [Modified Following

Business Day Convention] [Preceding Business Day Convention]
[FRN Convention] [Eurodollar Convention] [No Adjustment]

[Specify]

[Specify, if not the Outstanding Principal Amount or, in the case
of any Notes which are non-interest-bearing, the Amortized Face
Amount]

[Specify]

[Applicable/Not Applicable] The provisions in Condition 9C.03
apply. [Specifyany changes]
The provisions in Condition 14 apply.

[Applicable/Not Applicable] The provisions in Condition 9C.04
apply.

[Specify Replacement Agent, if other than (or in addition to) the
Fiscal Agent]

[Specifyany other means of effective communication|

[Specifydetails]/[Not Applicable]

Regulation S: [Category 2 restrictions apply unless otherwise
specified]

As specified in the Offering Circular. [Specify changes to selling

restrictions, or any modifications of or additions to selling
restrictions contained in Dealership Agreement. ]

[Specify])/[Not Applicable]

[Not Applicable/givedetails]
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RESPONSIBILITY

To the best of the knowledge and belief of the Issuer (having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the
information contained in this Pricing Supplement is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect
the import of suchinfommation.

The Issuer confirms that such information as may be contained herein has been accurately reproduced and that, so faras the
Issueris aware, and is able to ascertain from information published by the Issuer, no facts have been omitted which would
render the reproduced informationinaccurate or misleading,.

Signed on behalf ofthe Issuer:

By:

Name:
Title:
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PART B - OTHERINFORMATION

[if Yes, specify which Stock Exchange(s)]

[Application has been made for the Notes to be admitted to trading
on [*] with effectfrom [*].] [Not Applicable]

[f fungible issue, indicate that original securities are already
admitted to trading|

1. LISTING AND ADMISSION TO TRADING
Listing: [Yes/No]
Admission to trading:

Estimate of the total expenses [Specify]
related to the admission to
trading:

2. RATINGS

Ratings:

[The Notes to be issued [have been]/[are expected to be] rated
[insert details] by [insert the legal name of the relevant credit rating
agency entity(ies)).]

(The above disclosure should reflect the rating allocated to Notes of
the type being issued under the Program generally or, where the
issue has beenspecificallyrated, that rating.)

(Depending on the identity of the relevant credit rating agency and
its status, includethe appropriate paragraph(s) below:)

[As at the date of this Pricing Supplement, [Insert the legal name of
the relevant credit rating agency entity] is included in the register of
credit rating agencies maintained by the European Securities and
Markets Authority pursuant to Regulation (EC)No. 1060/2009.]

and/or:

[As at the date of this Pricing Supplement, [Insert the legal name of
the relevant credit rating agency entity] is included in the register of
credit rating agencies maimtained by the Financial Conduct
Authority pursuant to Regultion (EC) No. 1060/2009 as it forms
patt of domestic law in the United Kingdom by virtue of the
European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018, as amended by the
European Union (Withdrawal Agreement) Act 2020.]

and/or:

[As far as the Issuer is aware, as at the date of this Pricing
Supplement, [Insert the legal name of the relevant credit rating
agency entity] is not established in the European Union and is not
registered under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009. However, its
ratings are endorsed i the European Union by [name of credit
rating agency], which is included in the register of credit rating
agencies maintained by the European Securities and Markets
Authority pursuant to such Regulation.]
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and/or:

[As far as the Issuer is aware, as at the date of this Pricing
Supplement, [Insert the legal name of the relevant credit rating
agency entity] is not established n the United Kingdom and is not
registered under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 as it forms partt of
domestic law in the United Kingdom by virtue of the European
Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018, as amended by the European Union
(Withdrawal Agreement) Act 2020. However, its ratings are
endorsed in the United Kingdom by [name of credit rating agency],
which is included in the register of credit rating a gencies maintained
by the Financial Conduct Authority pursuant to such Regulation.]

and/or:

[Include appropriate alternative statement in respect of any credit
rating agencyrelying on equivalence and certification)

3. INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE [ISSUE/OFFER]
[Save as discussed in “Subscription and Sale,” so far as the Issuer isaware, no person involved in the offer of the
Notes has an interest material to the offer. The [Mana gers/Dealers] and their affiliates have engaged, and may in the
future engage, in investment banking and/or commercial banking transactions with, and may perform other services
for, the Issuer and its affiliates in the ordinary course of business.]/[Include a description of any interest in the
issue/offer, including conflicts of interest, that is material to the issue/offer, detailing the persons involved and the
nature of such interest.]
4. REASONS FOR THE OFFER,ESTIMATED NET PROCEEDS AND TOTAL EXPENSES
Reasons forthe offer: [The Issuer intends to use the net proceeds from the sale of the
Notes for general corporate puposes, which may include
refinancing of debt, capital expenditures, payment of dividends,and
the purchase ofiits common stock.] [If different, specify.]
[Estimatednet proceeds: [*]
Estimatedtotal expenses: [*] [Include breakdown of expenses. If Definitive Notes available,
specify that the Issuer must bear the costs of producing Definitive
Notes.]
5. [FIXED RATE NOTES ONLY - YIELD]
Indication ofyield: [*]
The yield is calulated on the basis of the Issue Price using the
process set forth in the Offering Circular. It is not an indication of
future yield.
6. OPERATIONAL INFORMATION
ISIN Code: [Specify]
Common Code: [Specify]
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CFI:

FISN:

Other Relevant Security Code:
Any Clearing System(s) other than
Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourgand the relevant
identification number(s):

Delivery:

Registrar:

Transfer Agent:

Names and addresses of initial
Paying Agent(s):

Names andaddresses of
additional Paying Agent(s):

7. DISTRIBUTION
Method of Distribution:
If syndicated, names and

addresses of Dealers/Mana gers
and commitments:

Date of Terms Agreement:

Stabilizing Manager(s) (if any):

If non-syndicated, name and
address of Dealer:

ACTIVE 271092691v.11

[See the website of the Association of National Numbering
Agencies (ANNA) or alternatively sourced from the responsible
National Numbering Agency that assigned the ISIN / Not
Applicable / Not Available]

[See the website of the Association of National Numbering
Agencies (ANNA) or alternatively sourced from the responsible
National Numbering Agency that assigned the ISIN / Not
Applicable / Not Available]

(If the CFI and/or FISN is not required or requested, it/they should
be specifiedto be “NotApplicable”)

[Specify])/[Not Applicable]

[Specify]/[Not Applicable]

[Delivery [agamst/free of]| payment] [Specify whether customary
medium-term note/ eurobond/other settlement and payment
procedures apply|

[Specify]
[Specify]

[Specify]

[Specify]|/[Not Applicable]

[Syndicated]/[Non-syndicated ]

[Not Applicable)[give names, addresses and underwriting
commitments below; include names and addresses of entities
agreeing to underwrite the issue on a firm commitment basis and
names and addresses of the entities agreeing to place the issue
without a firm commitment oron a “best efforts ”basis if such entities
arenot the same as the Managers|

[*]
[Specify name and address of the entities which have indicated they
will act as intermediaries in secondary trading and description of the

main terms of their commitment]/[Not Applicable]

[Specifyname and address)/[Not Applicable]
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McDONALD’S CORPORATION

The Issuer franchises and operates McDonald’s restaurants. Of the 39,396 restaurants in 119 countries at 30 June,
2021,36,717 were licensed to franchisees.

Under the Issuer’s conventional franchise arrangement, franchisees provide a portion of the capital required by
nitially investing in the equipment, signs, seatingand décor of their restaurant business, and by reinvesting in the business
over time. The Issuer generally owns the land and building or secures longtem leases for both Issuer-operated and
conventional franchised restaurant sites. This maintains long-term occupancy rights, helps control related costs and assists in
alignment with franchisees enabling restaurant performance levels that are among the highest n the industry. In certain
circumstances, the Issuer participates in the reinvestment for conventional franchised restaurants in an effort to accelerate
implementation of certain initiatives.

Under the Issuer’s developmental license arrangement, licensees provide capital for the entire business, including
the real estate interest, and the Issuer generally has no capital invested. In addition, the Issuer hasan equity investment in a
limited number ofaffiliates thatinvest in real estateand operate or franchise restaurants within a market.

The Issuer’s restaurants offer a substantially uniform menu, although there are geographic variations to suit local
consumer preferences and tastes. The Issuer’s relationship with franchisees is designed to assure consistency and high quality
atevery restaurant.

McDonald’s Corporation is a parent company and conducts worldwide operations through its subsidiaries. The
Issuer is a corporation that was organized under the laws of the State of Delaware, United States, on March 1, 1965, as the
successor to an [1linois coporation formed in 1956. Its principal executive offices areat 110 N. Carpenter Street, Chicago,
Illinois 60607, United States,and its telephone number is +1.630.623.3000. The Issuer’s registered office in Delaware is c/o
The Prentice-Hall Comoration System, Inc. at 2711 Centerville Road, Suite 400, Wilmington, Delaware 19808, United
States. Delaware does notissue registration numbers.

Management

The followingare the executive officers and directors of theIssueras of 1 September,2021.

Executive Officers
Name Age  Function
Borden, IanF. 53 President, International
Capozz, Heidi 51 Corporate Executive Vice President — Chief People Officer
DeBiase, Francesca 55 Corporate Executive Vice President — Global Chief Supply Chain Officer
Erlinger, Joseph 48 President, McDonald’s USA
Fallon, Katherine Beirne 45 Corporate Executive Vice President — Chief Global Impact Officer
Henry, Daniel 51 Corporate Executive Vice President — Chief Information Officer
Hoovel, Catherine 50 Corporate Senior Vice President— Corporate Controller
Kempczinski, Christopher 52 President and Chief Executive Officer
Ozan,Kevin M. 58 Corporate Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Ralls-Mortrison, Desiree 55 Corporate Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
Steijaert, Manu 50 Corporate Executive Vice President — Chief Customer Officer
Directors
Name Age  Primary Occupation Independent
Dean,Lloyd H. 71 Chief Executive Officer, Yes
Common Spirit Health
Eckert, Robert A. 67 Operating Partner, Yes
FFL Partners, LLC
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Engelbert, Catherine M. 56 Commissioner, Yes
Women’s National Basketball Association

Georgiadis, Margaret H. 57 Endurance Partner-in-Residence (XIR), Yes
General Catalyst

Hemandez, Jr., Enrique 65 Executive Chairman, Yes
Inter-Con Security Systems, Inc.

Kempczinski, ChristopherJ. 52 President and Chief Executive Officer, No
McDonald’s Corporation

Lenny, Richard H. 69 Non-Executive Chairman, Yes
Conagra Brands, Inc.

Mulligan, John J. 55 Executive Vice Presidentand Chief Operating Officer, Yes
Target Corporation

Penrose, Sheila A. 76 Former Non-Executive Chairman, Yes
Jones Lang LaSalle Incorporated

Rogers, Jr., John W. 63 Founder, Chairman, Co-Chief Executive Officer and Chief Yes
Investment Officer,
Ariel Investments, LLC

Walsh, PaulS. 66 Executive Chairman, Yes
McLaren Group Limited

White, Miles D. 66 Executive Chairman, Yes
Abbott Laboratories

The business address of each executive officer and director of the Issuer in his or her capacity as such is 110 N.
Carpenter Street, Chicago, Illinois 60607, United States.

Conflicts of Interest
Policies and Procedures for Related Person Transactions

The System has over 39,000 restaurants worldwide, most of which are independently owned and operated. Within
this extensive System, it is not unusual for the Issuer’s business to touch many companies in many industries, including
suppliers of food and other products and services. The Board reviews and approves (or ratifies), as appropriate, transactions,
relationships orarrangements in which the Issuer is a participant and that involve directors, nominees for directors, executive
officers, beneficial owners of more than 5% of the Issuer’s common stock, their immediate family members, including
domestic partners, and companies in which they havea materialinterest.

The Board has a written policy that sets out procedures for the reporting, review and ratification of related person
transactions. The policy operates in conjunction with other aspects of the Issuer’s compliance program, including a
requirement that directorsand employees reportany circumstances thatmay create orappear to createa conflict, regardless of
the amount involved. Directors and executive officers must also confirm information about related person transactions, and
management reviews its books and records and makes other inquiries as appropriate.

Under the policy, the Board evaluates related person transactions for purposes of recommending to the disinterested
members of the Board whether or not the transactions are fair, reasonable and within the Issuer’s policies and should be
approved orratified. Related person transactions involving directors arereviewed by the Board atleastannually.

The Board has considered certain types of potential related person transactions and pre-approved them as not
presenting material conflicts of interest. Those transactions include: (i) compensation paid to directors and executive officers
that has been approved by the Board or the Compensation Committee; (ii) the Issuer’s contributions to Ronald McDonald
House Charities, Inc. and certtain other contributions made in limited amounts to other charitable or not-forprofit
organizations; and (iii) transactions in which the related person’s interest arises solely from ownership of the Issuer’s
common stock and all holders of the common stock receive the same benefit on a pro rata basis. The Board considers the
appropriateness of any related person transaction not within the pre-approved classes in light ofallrelevant factors, including:

e theterms ofthetransactionand whether they are arm’s-length and in the ordinary course of theIssuer’s
business;

e thedirect orindirect nature of the related person’s interest in the transaction;

e thesize and expected duration of thetransaction; and
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e otherfacts and circumstances that bear on the materiality of the related person transaction underapplicable law
and listing standards.

Related person transactions involving directors are also subject to approval or ratification by the disinterested
directors when so required under Delaware law.
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CREDIT RATINGS

The Issuer currently hasa credit rating for senior unsecured notes and debentures of Baal from Moody’s Investors
Service, Inc. and BBB+from S&P GlobalRatings, acting through Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC. Notes maybe
rated or unrated by any one or both of the ratingagencies referred to above. Where a Tranche is rated, such rating will not
necessarily be the same as the rating assigned to the Issuer by the relevant rating agency. A security rating is not a
recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawalat any time by the
assigningratingagency.

As farasthe Issueris aware,as at the date of this Offering Circular, neither of the credit rating a gencies referred to in
the preceding paragraph is established in the European Union or the United Kingdom and neither is registered under the CRA
Regulationorthe UK CRA Regulation. However:

e such rating by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. has been endorsed (i) in the European Union, by Moody’s
Deutschland GmbH, which is included in the register of credit rating agencies maintained by ESM A pursuant
to the CRA Regulation, and (ii) in the United Kingdom, by Moody’s Investors Service Limited, which is
included in the register of credit rating a gencies maintained by the FCA pursuant to the UK CRA Reguhation;
and

e such mting by S&P Global Ratings, acting through Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC has been
endorsed (i) in the European Union, by S&P GlobalRatings Europe Limited, which is included in the register
of credit mating agencies maintained by ESMA pursuant to the CRA Regulation, and (ii) in the United
Kingdom, by S&P Global Ratings UK Limited, which is included in the register of credit rating agencies
maintained by the FCA pursuantto the UK CRA Regulation.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

Unless otherwise specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the Issuer intends to use the net proceeds from the
sale of the Notes for general corporate purposes, including, but not limited to, refinancing of debt, capital expenditures,
payment of dividends, the purchase of its common stock, investments in or extensions of credit to its subsidiaries, or business
expansion.
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UNITED STATES TAXATION

The Information provided below does not purport to be a complete summary of U.S. tax law and practice
currently applicable. This section assumes that income with respect to Notes is not effectively connected with a trade
or business within the United States in which a relevant U.S. Alienis engaged.

The following summary contains a description of certain U.S. federal income and estate tax consequences of the
ownership and disposition of Notes by holders who are U.S. Aliens (as defined in Condition 8.01 in the section “Tems and
Conditions of the Notes” of this Offering Circular) and are beneficial owners of a Note for U.S. federal income tax putposes.
Both Registered Notes and Bearer Notes (as defined in Condition 1 in the section “Temmsand Conditions of the Notes” of this
Offering Circular) will be treated as issued in registered form for U.S. federal income tax puposes. The Issuer generally
intends to treat the Notesas debt. Certain Notes, however, suchas Notes with extremely long maturities, may not be treatedas
debt for U.S. federal ncome tax purposes. The tax treatment of Notes to which a treatment other than debt may apply will be
discussed i the relevant Pricing Supplement. To the extent the U.S. tax consequences differ from the treatment described
below, such tax consequences will be set forth in a supplementto this Offering Circular or the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Ifan entity treated as a partnership for U.S. federalincome tax puiposes holds Notes, the tax treatmentofa partnerin
the partnership will depend on the status of the partner, theactivities of the partnership and certain determinationsmade at the
parttner level. Accordingly, partnerships holding Notes and the parttners in such partnerships should consult their tax advisors
regardingthe U.S. federal income tax consequences to them ofthe ownership and disposition of Notes.

Under U.S. federal income and estate tax law as now in effect, and subject to the discussion below conceming
informationreporting and backup withholding:

(a) payment of principal or interest (including any original issue discount) on a Note by the Issuer or any
Paying Agent (acting i its capacity as such)to a holderthat isa U.S. Alien will not be subject to withholding of U.S. federal
income tax, provided that, with respect to payments of interest on a Note, (X) the holder does not actually or constructively
own 10 percent or more of the combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Issuer, is not a contwlled foreign
comporation related to the Issuer through stock ownership, and is not considered a bank that receives such interest in a
transaction constituting an extension of credit made pursuant to a loan agreement entered into in the ordinary course of its
trade or business; and (y) (A) the beneficial owner provides a statement signed under penalties of perjury (typically, on the
U.S. Intemal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) Form W-8BEN or W-8BEN-E) that includes its name and address and cettifies
that it isa United States Alien holder in compliance with applicable requirements (or satisfies certain documentatry evidence
requirements for establishing that it isa United States Alien holder), and that provides the nformation required by cluse (vii)
of Condition 8.01 of the Tems and Conditions of the Notes, including in the case of a holder that is an entity information
about its direct and indirect U.S. owners, and (B) any foreign financial institution through which the U.S. Alien orbeneficial
owner holdsany Note or through which paymenton the Note is made has provided the information required under clause (vii)
of Condition 8.01 ofthe Terms and Conditions ofthe Notes.

(b) a holder that is a U.S. Alien will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on gain realized on the sale,
exchange or redemption of the Note, provided that, (i) such holder does not have a connection with or status with respect to
the United States described in clause (i) of Condition 8.01 of the Temms and Conditions of the Notes; and (ii) such holder has
provided the informationrequired under clause (vi) of Condition 8.01 ofthe Terms and Conditions ofthe Notes.

(© a Note will not be subject to U.S. federal estate tax as a result of the death of a holder who is not a citizen or
resident of the United States at the time of death, provided (i) with respect to a Note having an original tem to maturity of
184 daysormore, that such holder did notat the time of death actually or constructively own 10 percentor more of the combined
voting power of all classes of stock of the Issuer; and (ii) at the time of such holder’s death, payments of mterest on such Note
would nothavebeen effectively connected with the conductby suchholder ofa trade or business within the United States.

If U.S. tax is imposedas a result of a failure to comply with the documentation requirements described in clauses (a)
or (b)above, the beneficial owner may be entitled to a refund if the required informationis provided to the IRS.

For the purposes of the discussion i paragraph (a)above, a “foreign financial nstitution” generally is a non-U.S.
entity that (i) accepts deposits in the ordinary course of a banking or similar business; (ii) as a substantial portion of its
business, holds financialassets for the account of others; (iii) is engaged (or holds itself outas being enga ged) primarily in the
business of investing, reinvesting, or trading in securities, partnership interests or commodities, or interests in securities,
partnership interests or commodities; or (iv) is enga ged in certain life insurance activities.

U.S. information reporting requirements and backup withholdingtax will not apply to payments on a Note made by
the Issuer or any Paying Agent to a holder that is a U.S. Alien if the statement described in paragraph (a)(y) above is duly

provided.

59

ACTIVE 271092691v.11



Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Amounts withheld as backup withholding may be credited against a
holder’s U.S. federal income tax liability. A holdermay obtain a refund of any excess amounts withheld under the backup
withholding rules by filing the appropriate claim for a refund with the U.S. Intemal Revenue Service and furnishing the
required information.

In accordance with the foregoing, a 30% withholding tax will be imposed on certain payments that are made to
certain foreign financialinstitutions, investment fundsand other non-U.S. persons thatfail to comply with certain information
reporting requirements described in cluse (vi)) of Condition 801 (‘“FATCA withholding”). Such payments include
U.S.-source nterest but do not include grossproceedsfrom the sale or other disposition of notes that canproduce U.S.-source
interest, pursuant to proposed Treasury regulations that may be relied upon pending their finalization. Amounts thata U.S.
Alien receives on the Notes could be affected by this withholding if such U.S. Alien fails to provide the information required
by clause (vii) of Condition 8.01 or if such U.S. Alien holds the Notes through another person (e.g., a foreign bank or broker)
that is subject to withholdingbecause it fails to comply with such requirements (even if the holder would not otherwise have
been subject to withholding). Holders are urged to consult their tax advisors regarding the relevant U.S. law and other official
guidanceon FATCA withholding.

As described in clhuse (vii) of Condition 8.01, the Issuer will not pay any additional amounts in respect of FATCA
withholding, so, if this withholding applies with respect to any holder, such holder will receive significantly less than the
amount it would have otherwise received with respect to the Notes. Depending on the circumstances of the specific holder, a
holdermay be entitled to a refund orcredit in respect of some orall of this withholding. However, even if a holder is entitled
to have any such withholding refunded, therequired procedures could be cumbersome.

THE TAX DISCUSSION SET FORTH ABOVE IS INCLUDED FOR GENERAL INFORMATION ONLY
AND MAY NOT BE APPLICABLE DEPENDING UPON A HOLDER’S PARTICULAR SITUATION. HOLDERS
ARE URGED TO CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS WITH RESPECT TO THE PARTICULAR
CONSEQUENCES TO THEM OF PURCHASING, HOLDING AND DISPOSING OF NOTES IN LIGHT OF
THEIR OWN PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES, INCLUDING THE TAX CONSEQUENCES UNDER LOCAL,
STATE, FOREIGN AND OTHER TAX LAWS AND POSSIBLE EFFECTS OF CHANGES IN U.S. FEDERAL
INCOME OR OTHERTAX LAWS.
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PROPOSED FINANCIAL TRANSACTIONS TAX

On February 14, 2013, the European Commission published a proposal (the “Commission’s Proposal”) for a
Directive for a common Fmancial Transactions Tax (“FTT”’) n Belgium, Gemany, Estonia, Greece, Spain, France, Italy,
Austria, Portugal, Slovenia and Slovakia (the “participating Member States”); however, Estonia has since stated that it will
not participate.

The Commission’s Proposal has very broad scope and could, if introduced, apply to certain dealings in the Notes
(including secondaty market transactions) in certain circumstances. Primary market transactions referred to in Article 5(c) of
the Regulation (EC)No. 1287/2006 are expected to be exempt.

Under the Commission’s Proposal, the FTT could apply in certain circumstances to persons both within and outside
of the participating Member States. Generally, it would apply to certain dealings in the Notes where at least one partty is a
financial institution, and at least one patty is established ina partticipating Member State. A financial institution may be, orbe
deemed to be, “established” in a patticipating Member State in a broad range of circumstances, including (a) by transacting
with a person established in a patticipating Member State or (b) where the financial instrument which is subject to the
dealingsisissued in a participating Member State.

However, the FTT remains subject to negotiation by and among the participating Member States. [t may, therefore,
be altered prior to any implementation, the timing of which remains unclear. Additional Member States of the Furopean

Union maydecide to participate.

Prospectiveholders of the Notes are advised to seek their own professional advice in relationto the FTT.
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SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE

Notes may be sold from time to time by the Issuer to any one or more of Australia and New Zealand Banking Group
Limited (ABN 11 005 357 522), Barclays Bank PLC, BMO Capital Matkets Corp., BNP Paribas, Citigroup Global Markets
Limited, Commerzbank Aktiengesellschaft, Codperatieve Rabobank U.A., Crédit Agricole Comporate and Investment Bank,
Credit Suisse International, Goldman Sachs Intemational, HSBC Bank plc, ING Bank N.V., J.P. Morgan Securities plc,
Merrill Lynch Intemational, Mizuho Intemationalplc, Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc, MUFG Securities EMEA plc,
RBC Eumpe Limited, SMBC Nikko Capital Matkets Limited, Sociét¢é Générale, Standard Chartered Bank, The
Toronto-Dommion Bank, UniCredit Bank AG, Wells Fargo Securities International Limited and Westpac Banking
Corporation (the “Dealers”). Notes may also be sold by the Issuer directly to institutions who are not Dealers.

The arrangements under which Notes may from time to time be agreed to be sold by the Issuer to, and purchased by,
Dealers are set out in the Second Amended and Restated Dealership Agreement,dated May 11,2017, as amended from time
to time (the “Dealership Agreement’), by and among the Issuerand the Dealers. Any such agreement will, inter alia, make
provision for the form and terms and conditions of the relevant Notes, the priceat which such Notes will be purchased by the
Dealers, the commissions or otheragreed deductibles (if any) payable orallowable by the Issuer in respect of such purchase,
and the amounts allotted to each of the Dealers. The Dealership Agreement also makes provision for the resignation or
temmination of appointment of existing Dealers and for the appointment of additional or other Dealers either generally in
respect of the Program or in relation to a particular Tranche; any such additional Dealer or Dealers in respect of a particular
Tranche will be disclosed in the relevant Pricing Supplement. The Issuer has agreed to indemnify the Dealers against certain
liabilities in connection with the offerand sale of the Notes. Settlement arrangements will be agreed between the Issuer, the
relevant Dealer(s) and the Fiscal Agent in relation to each Tranche. The price and amount of Notes will be determined by the
Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) at the time of issue in accordance with prevailing matket conditions. Notes that have a
maturity of less than one yearand that qua lify asmoney market instraments will be subject to allapplicable legal, regulatory and
central bank requirements relating to money market instruments as well as any other requirements goveming notes that have a
maturity of less than one year.

United States of America: Regulation S Category2

Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered or sold within the
United States or to or for the account or benefit of U.S. persons except in certain transactions exempt from, or not subject to,
the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Each Dealer has agreed that, except as pemmitted by the Dealership
Agreement, it will not offer, sell or deliver Notes, (a)as part of their distribution at any time or (b) otherwise until 40 days
after the completion of the distribution of the Notes comprising the relevant Tranche within the United States orto or forthe
account or benefit of U.S. persons, and such Dealer will have sent to each dealerto which it sells Notes during the restricted
period relating thereto a confirmation or other notice setting forth the restrictions on offers and sales of the Notes within the
United States or to or for the account or benefit of U.S. persons. In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the
offering of Notes comprising any Tranche, any offer or sale of Notes within the United States by any Dealer (whether ornot
patticipating in the offering) may violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Terms used in this paragraph
have the meanings given to them by Regulation Sunderthe Securities Act.

Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Program will be required to
represent and agree, that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available and will not offer, sell or otherwise make
available any Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Offering Circularas completed by the Pricing
Supplement in relation thereto to any retail investor in the EEA. For the purposes of this provision:

(a) the expression “retail investor” means a person who is one (ormore) of the following:

(i) aretailclientasdefined in point(11)of Article 4(1) of MiFIDII; or

(i) a customer within the meaning of the Insurance Distribution Directive, where that customer would not
qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFIDII; or

(iii) nota qualifiedinvestoras defined in the Prospectus Regulation; and
(b) the expression “offer” ncludes the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information

on the tems of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe for the
Notes.
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Canada

The Notes have not been and will not be qualified for sale under the securities laws of any province or territory of
Canada. Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Program will be required to
represent and agree, that: (a) it hasnot offered, sold or distributed and will not offer, sell or distribute any Notes, directly or
indirectly, in Canada or to or for the benefit of any resident of Canada, other than in compliance with applicable securities
laws and (b) it has not and will not distribute or deliver this Offering Circular, orany other offeringmaterial in connection
with any offering of Notes in Canada, other than in compliance with applicable securities laws.

If the Notes may be offered, sold or distributed in Canada, the issue of the Notes will be subject to such additional
selling restrictions as the Issuerand the relevant Dealer(s) may agree. Each Dealer will be required to agree that it will offer,
sell and distribute such Notes only in compliance with such additional Canadian selling restrictions.

Commonwealth of Australia

No prospectus or other disclosure document (as defined in the Corporations Act 2001 of Australia (the “Australian
Corporations Act”)) in relation to the Program orany Notes has been or will be lodged with the Australian Securities and
Investments Commission (“ASIC”). Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the
Program will be required to represent and agree, that it (a) has not (directly or mdirectly) offered or invited applications, and
will not offer or invite applications, for the issue, sale or purchase of the Notes in Australia (includingan offer or invitation
which is received by a person in Australia) and (b) has not distributed or published, and will not distribute or publish, any
draft, prelimiary or definitive prospectus orany other offering material oradvertisement relating to the Notes in Australia,
unless (i) the minimum aggregate consideration payable by each offeree or invitee is at least A$500,000 (or its equivalent in
other currencies but disregarding monies lent by the offeror or its associates (as defined in the Australian Comporations Act))
or the offer or invitation otherwise does not require disclosure to investors in accordance with Paits 6D2 or 7.9 of the
Australian Corpomations Act, (ii) such offer or invitation is not made to a person who is a “retail client” within the meaning
given in section 761 G of the Australian Comporations Act, (iii) such action complies with allapplicable laws, regulations and
directives,and (iv) such action does not require any documentto be lodged with ASIC.

Hong Kong

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Program will be required to
represent and agree, that:

(a) it has not offered or sold and will not offeror sell in the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the
People’s Republic of China (“Hong Kong”), by means of any document, any Notes (except for Notes whichare a “structured
product” as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) other than:

@) to “professional investors”as defined in the SFO and any rules made thereunder; or

(i) in other circumstances which do not result in such documentbeinga “prospectus”as defined in the
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the
“Companies Ordinance”) or which do not constitute an offer to the public within the meaning of the Companies
Ordinance; and

(b) it has not issued, or had in its possession for the puiposes of issue, and will not issue, or have n its
possession for the puiposes of issue (in each case whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere), any advertisement, invitation or
document relating to the Notes which is directed at, or the contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the public of
Hong Kong (except if pemmitted to do so underthe securities laws of Hong Kong) other than with respect to Notes which are
orare intended to bedisposed of only to persons outside Hong Kongor only to “professional investors” within the meaning of
the SFO and any rules madethereunder.

Japan

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law of Japan

(Law No. 25 of 1948, as amended, the “FIEL”), and each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer

appointed under the Program will be required to represent and agree, that it will not offer or sell any Notes, directly or

indirectly, in Japanor to, or for the account or benefit of, any resident of Japan (which term asused herein means any person

resident in Japan, including any corporation or other entity organized under the laws of Japan), or to, or for the account or

benefit of, others for re-offering or resale, directly or indirectly, n Japan orto, or forthe account or benefit of,any resident of
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Japan, exceptpursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of,and otherwise in compliance with, the FIEL and
any otherapplicable laws, regulations and ministerial guidelines of Japan.

People’s Republic of China

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Program will be required to
represent and agree, that the Notes are not being offered, sold, distributed or delivered and may not be offered, sold,
distributed or delivered, directly or indirectly, in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) (for such puposes, not
including the Hong Kong and Macau Special Administrative Regions or Taiwan), and the Notes may not be offered, sold,
distributed or delivered, and will not be offered, sold, distributed or delivered to any person for re-offering, resale,
redistribution or redelivery, directly or indirectly, to any resident of the PRC, except as pemitted by the applicable laws and
regulations ofthe PRC.

Republic of Singapore

This Offering Circular has not been registered as a prospectus under the SFA by the Monetary Authority of
Singapore, and the offer of the Notes in Singapore is made primarily pursuant to the exemptions under Sections 274 and 275
of the SFA. Accordingly, each Dealer represents and agrees that this Offering Circular and any other document or material in
connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of Notesmay not be circulated or distributed, nor
may Notes be offered or sold, or be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, whether directly or
indirectly, to any person in Singapore other than (a)to an institutional investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA) (an
“Institutional Investor”) pursuant to Section 274 of the SFA; (b) to an accredited investor (as defined in Section 4A of the
SFA) (an “Accredited Investor”) or other relevant person (as defined in Section 275(2) of the SFA) (a “Relevant Person”)
and pursuant to Section 275(1)ofthe SFA, or to any person pursuant to an offer referred to in Section 275(1 A) of the SFA,
and in accordance with the conditions specified in Section 275 of the SFA and (where applicable) Regulation 3 of the
Securities and Futures (Clsses of Investors) Regulations 2018; or (c) otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with, the
conditions of any other applicable exemption or provision of the SFA.

It is a condition of the offer that where Notesare subscribed for oracquired pursuant to an offer made in reliance on
Section 275 of the SFA by a Relevant Person which is:

(1) a cotporation (which is not an Accredited Investor), the sole business of which is to hold investments and
the entire share capital of which is owned by one or more individuals, each of whom is an Accredited Investor; or

(i1) a tust (where the trustee is not an Accredited Investor), the sole purpose of which is to hold investments
and eachbeneficiary ofthetrust is an individual who is an Accredited Investor,

securities or securities-based derivatives contracts (each as defined in Section 2(1) of the SFA) of that corporation
and the beneficiaries’ rights and interest (howsoever described) in that trust, shall not be transferred within six months after
that corporation or that trusthas subscribed fororacquired the Notes except:

1) to an Institutional Investor, an Accredited Investor or other Relevant Person, or which arises from
an offer referred to in Section 275(1A) of the SFA (in the case of that cotporation) or Section 276(4)(1)(B) of the
SFA (in the case of that trust);

2) where no consideration is or will be given forthe transfer;
3) where the transferis by operation oflaw;
4) as specified in Section276(7) of the SFA; or

5) as specified in Regulation 37A of the Securities and Futures (Offers of Investments) (Securities
and Securities-based Derivatives Contracts) Regulations 201 8 of Singapore.

Notification under Section 309B(1)(c) of the SFA — With respect to each issuance of Notes, the [ssuermay make a
determmination about the classification of such Notes for the pumposes of Section 309B(1)(@) of the SFA. The Pricing
Supplement in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled “Notification under Section 309B(1)(c) of the Securities
and Futures Act (Chapter 289) of Singapore” that will state the product chssification of the applicable Notes pursuant to
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Section 309B(1) of the SFA; however, unless otherwise stated in the applicable Pricing Supplement and for the purposes of
Section 309B(1)(c) of the SFA, theIssuernotifies all relevant persons (asdefined in Section 309 A of the SFA), that the Notes
are “prescribed capital markets products” (as defined in the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations
2018) and “Excluded Investment Products” (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment
Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Noticeon Recommendations on Investment Products).

Taiwan

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Program will be required to
represent and agree, that the Notes have not been and will not be registered or filed with, or approved by, the Financial
Supervisory Commission of Taiwan and/or other regulatory authority or agency of Taiwan pursuant to relevant securities
laws and regulations of Taiwan and may not be issued, offered or sold within Taiwan through a public offering or in
circumstances which constitute an offer within the meaning of the Securities and Exchange Act of Taiwan or relevant laws
and regulations that requires a registration, filing or approval of the Financial Supervisory Commission of Taiwan and/or
otherregulatory authority oragency of Taiwan. No person or entity in Taiwan has been authorized to offer or sell the Notes in
Taiwan.

United Kingdom

Prohibition of Sales to United Kingdom Retail Investors

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Program will be required to
represent and agree, that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available and will not offer, sell or otherwise make
available any Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplted by this Offering Circularas completed by the Pricing
Supplement in relation thereto to any retail investor in the United Kingdom. For the purposes of this provision:

(a) the expression “retail investor” means a person who is one (ormore) of the following:

() a retail client,asdefined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of
domestic law in the United Kingdom by virtue of the EUWA; or

(i) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the FSM A and any rules or regulations made under
the FSMA to implement the Insurance Distribution Directive, where that customer would not qualify
as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it
forms part of domestic law in the United Kingdom by virtueof the EUWA,; or

(iii) not a qualified investoras defined in Article 2 of the UK Prospectus Regulation; and

(b) the expression “offer” ncludes the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information
on the tems of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe for the
Notes.

Other Regulatory Restrictions in the United Kingdom

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Program will be required to
represent andagree, that:

(a) in relation to any Notes that have a maturity of less than one year, (i) it is a person whose ordinary activities
involve it in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principaloragent) for the purposes of its business
and (ii) it hasnot offered or sold and will not offer or sell any Notes other than to persons whose ordinary activities involve
them in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or as agent) for the purposes of their
businesses or who it is reasonable to expect will acquire, hold,mana ge or dispose of investments (as principal oragent) for the
purposes of their businesses where the issue of the Notes would otherwise constitute a contravention of Section 19 of the

FSMA by the Issuer;

(b) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be
communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaningof Section 21 of the FSMA)
received by it in connection with the issue or sale of any Notes in circumstances in which Section 21(1) of the FSM A does not
apply to the Issuer; and
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(© it has complied and will comply with allapplicable provisions of the FSM A with respect to anything done
by it in relation to any Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

General

No action hasbeen or will be taken in any country or jurisdiction by the Issuer or the Dealers that would pemit a
public offering of Notes, or possession or distribution of any offering material in reltion thereto, in any country or
jurisdiction where action for that puipose is required. Persons who come into possession of this Offering Circular or any
Pricing Supplement are required by the Issuer and the Dealers to comply with all applicable laws and regulations in each
country or jurisdiction in or from which they purchase, offer, sell or deliver Notes or have in their possession or distribute
such offering material, in allcases at their own expense.

Subject to the provisions of the immediately preceding paragraph, the Dealership Agreement provides that the
Dealers shall not be bound by any of the restrictions relating to any specific jurisdiction (set out above) to the extent that such
restrictions shall, as a result of change(s) or change(s) in official interpretation, after the date hereof, in applicable laws and
regulations,nolongerbe applicable.

Selling restrictions may be supplemented or modified with the agreement of the Issuer. Any such modification will
beset outin a supplementto this Offering Circular or the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Other Agreements

From time to time, certain of the Dealers and their affiliates have provided, and/or may in the future provide,
investment banking, commercial banking, hedging, financial advisory and other services in the ordinary course of business to
the Issuer and its affiliates, for which they have received or may receive customary fees, commissions, reimbursement of
expensesand indemnification. Such Dealersmay have positions, deal ormakemarkets in the Notes issued under the Program,
related derivatives and reference obligations, including, but not limited to, entering into hedging strategies on behalf of the
Issuerand its affiliates, investor clients oras principal in order to manage their exposure, their general market risk or other
tradingactivities. They havereceived, or may in the futurereceive, customary fees and commissions for thesetransactions.

In addition, in the ordinary course of its business activities, the Dealers and their affiliates may make orhold a broad
array of investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or related derivative securities) and financial instruments
(including bank loans) for their own account and for the accounts of their customers. Such investments and securities
activities may involve securities and/or instruments of the Issuer or its affiliates. The Dealers and/or their affiliates may
receive allocations of the Notes (subject to customaty closing conditions), which could affect future trading of the Notes.
Certain of the Dealers or their affiliates that havea lendingrelationship with the Issuer routinely hedge their credit exposure to
the Issuer consistent with their customary risk mana gement policies. Typically, such Dealers and their affiliates would hedge
such exposure by entering into transactions which consist of either the purchase of credit default swaps orthe creation of short
positions in the Issuer’s securities, including potentially the Notes. Any such positions could adversely affect future trading
prices of the Notes. The Dealers and their affiliates may also make investment recommendations and/or publish or express
independent research views in respect of such securities or financial instruments and may hold, or recommend to clients that
they acquire, longand/or short positions in such securities and instruments.
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EXPERTS

Emst & Young LLP, independent public registered accounting firm, has audited the Issuer’s consolidated financial
statements as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020, in
accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”),as set forth
in their report, which is incomporated by reference in this Offering Circular. Ernst & Young LLP is an independent public
accounting firm registered with the PCAOB. The Issuer’s consolidated financial statements are incorporated by reference in
this Offering Circular in reliance on Emst & Young LLP’s report, given on their authority as experts in accounting and
auditing. The Issuer’s independent auditoris locatedat 155 N. Wacker Drive, Chicago, I1linois 60606, United States.
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The Issueris subject to the informationalrequirements of the U.S. Securities Exchange Actof1934,asamended (the
“Exchange Act’), and in accordance therewith files reports and other information with the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC”). Such repotts and other information can be inspected and copied at the public reference facilities
maintained by the SEC at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, DC 20549, United States, or through the SEC’s website,
http://www.sec.gov. This website is provided as an inactive textual reference only and is not intended to incorporate the
SEC’s website into this Offering Circular.

The following documents have been filed with the SEC, pursuant to the Exchange Act. These documents and the
information they contain are incorporated by reference in,and made a patt of, this Offering Circular (other than portions of
these documents that are furnished under applicable SEC mles rather than filed and exhibits furnished in connection with
such items, unless otherwise stated):

1) the Issuer’s Annual Reporton Form 10-K fortheyearended December31,2020;

) the Issuer’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q forthe quarterended March 31,2021; and

3) the Issuer’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q forthe quarter ended June 30,2021.

Copies of each of the documents incorporated by reference in this Offering Circular can be viewed at the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s website, http://www.bourse.lu. This website is provided as an inactive textual reference only
and isnot intended to incorporate the Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s website into this Offering Circular.

Cross-Reference Table

The Issuer’s Annual Reporton Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,2020

Business Pages3-7
Risk Factors and Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements Pages3,29-35
Unresolved Staff Comments Notapplicable
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk Pages22-24
Management’s Discussionand Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Pages 8-25
Selected Financial Data Page 26

Marketfor Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity

Securities Page28
Properties Page36
LegalProceedings Page35
Mine Safety Disclosures Notapplicable
Executive Officers of the Registrant Page 36
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data Pages37-63
Consolidated statementof income foreach of thethreeyears in the period ended December31,
2020 Page38
Consolidated statementof comprehensive income for each of the three years in the period ended
December31,2020 Page 39
Consolidated balancesheetatDecember31,2020 and 2019 Page 40
Consolidated statement of cash flowsfor each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2020 Page41
Consolidated statement of shareholders’ equity for each of the three years in the period ended
December31,2020 Page 42
Notes to consolidated financial statements Pages43-59
Management’s assessment of internal control over financial reporting Page 60
Report of independent registered public accounting firm Pages61-62
Report of independent registered public accounting firm on internal control over financial
reporting Page 63
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The Issuer’s Quarterly Reporton Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,2021

Financial Statements Pages3-12
Condensed consolidated balancesheet, March 31,2021 (unaudited) and December31,2020 Page3
Condensed consolidated statement of income (unaudited), quarters ended March31,2021 and

2020 Page4

Condensed consolidated statement of comprehensive income (unaudited), quarters ended March

31,2021 and2020 Page5

Condensed consolidated statement of cash flows (unaudited), quarters ended March 31,2021 and

2020 Page6

Condensed consolidated statement of shareholders’ equity (unaudited), quarters ended March 31,

2021 and2020 Page7

Notes to condensed consolidated financial statements (unaudited) Pages8—12
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Pages 13-25
Risk Factors Pages26-32
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk Page33
Controls and Procedures Page 33
LegalProceedings Page 34
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds Page 34
Exhibits Pages35-36
Signature Page37
The Issuer’s Quarterly Reporton Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,2021
Financial Statements Pages3-13

Condensed consolidated balancesheet, June30,2021 (unaudited) and December 31,2020 Page3

Condensed consolidated statement of income (unaudited), quarters and six months ended June 30,

2021 and2020 Page4

Condensed consolidated statement of comprehensive income (unaudited), quarters and six

months ended June 30,2021 and 2020 Page5

Condensed consolidated statement of cash flows (unaudited), quartersand six months ended June

30,2021 and2020 Page6

Condensed consolidated statement of shareholders’ equity (unaudited), quarters and six months

ended June 30,2021and 2020 Pages 7-8

Notes to condensed consolidated financial statements (unaudited) Pages9-13
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Pages 14-30
Risk Factors Pages31-38
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk Page38
Controls and Procedures Page38
LegalProceedings Page 39
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds Page 39
Exhibits Pages40-42
Signature Page43

Any statement contained n this Offering Circular or in any of the documents incorporated by reference into, and
formingpart of, this Offering Circular shall be deemed to bemodified or superseded for the purpose of this Offering Circular
to the extent that a statement contained in any document subsequently incorporated by reference modifies or supersedes such
statement.

As it relates to offerings made outside of the EEA (which, for these purposes, includes the United Kingdom), the
Issuer intends to comply with the relevant requirements of the applicable legislation and regulations for incorporating
documents by reference into the prospectus used for such offerings. Where pemitted, repotts filed by the Issuer pursuant to
Sections 13(a)or 15(d) of the Exchange Act after the date hereof and priorto temination of such offerings shall be deemed to
be mcorporated by reference into the relevant prospectus and to be a part thereof from the date of filing such documents. Any
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statement contained in the relevant prospectus or in any of the documents incorporated by reference into, and fooming part of,
the relevant prospectus shall be deemed to be modified or superseded forthe purpose of the relevant prospectus to the extent

that a statement contained in any document subsequently incorporated by reference modifies or supersedes such statement.
Publication

The Issuer undertakes to comply with the relevant provisions of such markets that the Notes may be admitted to, as
required. This Offering Circular, any Pricing Supplementand the documents ncorporated by reference herein and therein can
be viewed at the Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s website, http:/wwwbourse.lu. This website is provided as an inactive
textual reference only and is not intended to incorporate the Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s resource website into this
Offering Circular.

Requests for Copies of Documents

The Issuer will, at the specified offices of the Paying Agents, provide, free of charge, upon oral or written request, a
copy of this Offering Circular (orany document incoporated by reference herein, ncluding its Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the yearended December 31,2020). Written or oral requests for such documents should be directed to the specified office
of any Paying Agent or the specified office of the listing agent in Luxembourg. For so longas the Program remains in effect
orany Notes shall be outstanding, copies (in English) of the following documents may be inspected during nommal business
hours (i) at the specified office of the Paying Agent in Luxembourg, (ii) by writingto the specified office of the Paying Agent
in Luxembourg or (iii) through electronic means by sendinga facsimile to +352.2696.9757:

(a) the constitutional documents ofthe Issuer;

(b) allreports, letters,and other documents, historical financial information, valuationsand statements prepared
by any expert at the [ssuer’s request any part of which is included or referred to in this Offering Circular, if
any;

(©) the Third Amended and Restated Fiscal Agency Agreement, dated May 11,2017, and as may be further
modified oramended from time to time; and

(d) the audited historical financial information of the Issuer for each of the two financial years preceding the
publication of this Offering Circular.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

1. Application has been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for Notes to be admitted to trading on the
Euro MTF Matket and to be listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. However, Notes may be issued
pursuant to the Program which will not be admitted to trading on the Euro MTF Matket or any other stock exchange or which
will be listed on such stock exchange as the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) may agree. Further, Notes whichare initially listed
may subsequently be de-listed at the Issuer’s option if other statutory requirements become impracticable or unduly
burdensome.

2. The Program was authorized by the respective corporate authorities of the Issuer on 6 December, 2019. The
amount of Notes issuable under the Program may be increased, from time to time, upon authorization by such corporate
authorities. The Issuer has obtained or will obtain, from time to time, all necessary consents, approvals and authorizations in
connection withtheissue and performance ofthe Notes.

3. There has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer and its consolidated subsidiaries,
taken as a whole, since December 31, 2020, the kst day of the financial period in respect of which the most recent published

audited financial statements of the Issuer have been prepared.

Except as described in the section “Legal Proceedings” beginning on page 35 of the Issuer’s Annual Report on
Fom 10-Kforthe yearended December 31,2020, which is incorporated by reference herein, in the section “Legal Proceedings”
on page 34 of the Issuer’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2021, which is incorporated by
reference herein, and in the section “Legal Proceedings” on page 39 of the Issuer’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quatter ended June 30,2021, which is incorporated by reference herein,neither the Issuer norany of its consolidated subsidiaries
has been involved in any govemmental, legal or ambitration proceeding (including any such proceedings that are pending of
which the Issuer is aware as of the date of this Offering Circular) that have had or may have had a significant effect on the
financial position or profitability of the Issuer and its consolidated subsidiaries.

4. The Notes have been accepted for clearance through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. The address of
Euroclear is 1 Boulevard du Roi Albert I1, B-1210 Brussels, Belgium and the address of Clearstream, Luxembourgis 42 Avenue
JF Kennedy, L-1855, Luxembourg. The appropriate common code and the International Securities Identification Number in
relation to the Notes of each Series will be specified i the relevant Pricing Supplement. The relevant Pricing Supplement shall
specify any other clearing system as shall have accepted the relevant Notes for ckarance, together with any further appropriate
information.

5. The price and amount of Notes will be determined by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) at the time of issue
of each Seriesor Tranche in accordance with prevailing market conditions.

6. Indication of yield is the sum of (i) the relevant benchmark rate and (ii) the spread to a specified benchmark
rate determined in connection with each offering of Notes. The indication of yield estimates the rate of retum at the Issue Price
when held to maturity, taking into account the receipt and reinvestment of interest payments and any capital gain or loss on the
Notes. Accordingly, the indication of yield for any particular offering of Notes will be a function of the Issue Price, Issue Date,
Interest Rate(s), Fixed Coupon Amount(s), Interest Payment Date(s), date of final maturity, redemption price and potentially
other relevant tetrms relating to payment of interest and principal. It is not an indication of future yield oractual realized retum.
The indication of yield and any further specific details of its method of calculation will be reflected in the relevant Pricing
Supplement.
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